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NESTLE UK LTD.

STRATEGIC REPORT
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Introduction
The directors present the Strategic Report (or {he year ended 31 December 2019,
Business review
The performance achieved during the period is set out in the Prolitand Loss Account on page 8.

The results of the Company show a pre-tax profit of £108,625.000 (2018 - £97.716.0001 tor the year and wrasver increased
year on year by 2.7% to £1.675312,000 (2018 - £1.631 817,000},

The 2019 results include net costs arising from the movement in provisions relating to the reorganising and restructuring of
the business of £7.079.000 (2018 ~ eredit of £809.000).

‘the Company has net assets of £1.127.409.000 (2018 - £1.202,615.000).
Principal risks and uncertainties

The munagement of the business ol the Company and the exeeution ol its strategy are subject to a number ol rishs and
uncertainties. including a difficult cconomic environment. a strong competilise environment, currency Huctuations. finther
trade consolidation, product innovation, employee relention and volatility in input costs.

During this upprecedented time of the COVID-19 pandemic, our purpose of enhancing quality of life and contributing 1o a
healthicr future is now moere important than ever. From our supply chain. 1 our factories, and right through to vour homes.
we're working arcund the clock o ensure that we continue to meet the nutridenal needs of y our families during this difficuly
ime.



NESTLE UK LTD.

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINULED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Stakeholder reviewn

Under section 172 ol the UK Compunies Act 2006 (Scction 1727) directors must act in the way that they consider, in good
fuith, would be most likely 1o promote the success of their company. In deing so. our directors must have regard w
stakeholders und the other matters set out in Section 1720 The following section is our Section 172 statement. which
describes how the directors of this Cempany have had regard to these matters when pertorming their duty.

Nestle stands for Good Food. Good life. Quality ol food and quality of lile go together. What and how we cat and drink is
tundamental to our health and wellness, today and for the future. Our Nutrition. Health and Wellness journey is guided by
our {reating Shared Value approach to business, We tive by our purpose and responsibilities to our sharcholders, the
commainities in which we operate and the planet on which we live. We aim to be trusted and dependable. That nwcans
responsibly manufacturing our products and managing our supply chain. bringing meaningtut innovations o marker, and
building brands that delight and do good. We do this in a way that is true to the values that our company has been built on
for more than 150 y ears. Because Geod tood and Good lite are good business. Creating Shared Value is fundamental to how
we do business at Nestié. We believe that cur Company can only be successful i the fong term by creating value both tor
our sharcholders and for socicty. Qur activities and products should muke a pesitive difference to society while contributing
Lo Nestlé's ongoing success.

In order w achieve these ambitions, Nestlé as a group have formulated a series of public commitments thal we
operationalize across our business, Those commitments are central 1o this company s stralegy and Nestlé Group reports on
our progress every vear. Particular emphasis is on global initiatives to promote healthier lives for c¢hildren, help young
people aecess economic epporiunities and demonstrute our protection of waler resources. We also act decisively o tackle
the current plastic peliution challenge and are working to become carbon neutral.

The 2019 Nestlé SA Annual Review gives further details of how the Nestlé Group of companies enhances the quality of life
and contributes to a healthicr future in the tellowing areas:

* forindividuals and familics - enabling healthicr and happicr lives
+  {orour communities - helping develop thriving, resilient communitics
» for the planct - stewarding resources and the environment

Turther information can be found on the Nestle 8A website.
Iips:swww . nestic.conmy/

This report was approved by the board on 15 May 2020 and signed on its behall,

Digitaily signed
. by David Hix
Pt T Date 20200515

14 35:24 +01'00
D. 1lix

Director
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NESTLE UK LTD.

BIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

The directors present their report and the financial statements lor the year ended 31 Decerber 2019,
Principal activity

The Company is the principal tading company of the subsidiaries of Nestlé S A, that are located within the United
Kingdom. Nestdé 8.A. Is the world's leading nutrition. health and weliness company.

Results and dividends

The profit for the year. after taxation, amounted to £87.805.000 (2018 - £88.134.000).
The direetors have not reconimended the payment of a final dividend (2018 - £NTL).
An interim dividend of £85.490.000 (2015 - £435,000,00) was paid during 2019,
Impact of Brexit

10 2019 the main fovus of Nestléd UK & Treland's Dresit work was on preparing for @ potential "no deal” exit scenurio. This
included putting plans in place to build import and export stocks for a period arcund the expected exit dates nitially 29
March 2019 und then 12 April 2619, 31 October 2019 and finally 31 January 2020) as well as preparations for using
alternative supply routes inte the UK 1o avoid anticipated congestion at the port of Dover. This work has been coordinated
by a Nestlé UK & Ireland Bresit Steering Group, headed by the CLEO and involving all of the key functions and business
units,

The UK having lefi the EU with a deal on 31 January 2020, the focus of the steering groups work has now shifted o
preparations for the end of the transition period on 31 December 2020, Again., uncertainty remains about the scenario the
country will face at that point. so mitigation plans remain ready for activation should they be needed if the transition period
ends witheut & free trade agreement with the EU in place.

Impact of COVEID-19

Vhe COVID-19 {Coronavirus) public health emergeney continues 10 evolve. Nestlé UK & retund has a COVID-19
Commiltee in place, to coordinate local actions to safeguard cmployee heallh and initiate Business Continuily Plaps (see
note 2%). Despite this health emergency. at the signing date. the Company conlinues to maintain a strong position and
performance {inancially.

Directors
The divectors who served during the period until the signing of the Gnancial staiements were:

1. Tlix

M. MeKensie

N. Stephens (vesigned 6 October 2019
13 MeDanicd (resigned 1 Marech 2020}
5. Agosting

M. Weber (uppointed 1 Mavych 20260)

Envirenmental matters

The Compuny seeks o develop business practices and behaviour that mect the highest standards ol responsibilily towards
the cnvironmentl. The Company sees conservation and development as mutuaily relnforcing cach ather in puesuit of
sustainable growth. The Company seeks 1o go beyond mere compliance swith the faw, which it wiilingly cmbraces, to
achieve, in particular, savings of encrgy and resources, and the reduction of waste and ¢llluent in all its forms,

Future developments

The external environment is expected o remain competitive and challenging in 2020, Higher commodity prices and other

costs will continue to put significant pressure on the Company.

PPag
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NESTLE UK LTD.

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINLED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Emplovee involvement

Lraployees are recognised as key assets of the Company and their qualinn and motivation are essential for the Company w
compete sueeessiully in its markets. To help achicve corporate aims and vbjectives the Company maintains and develops
formal and informal svstems of communication with its employees (o discuss matiers of mutual interest. Information on
matters of concern o employ ees is given through bulletins, meetings, reports and newstetters, and includes information o
cnable them to gain awarcness ol Inancial and cconomic lactors alfecting the Company.

Business relationship engagement

The Company secks W develop business practices and behaviour that mect the highest standards of responsibility towards
all stakeholders.

Our global stakcholder nctwork includes investors. multlateral organizations. governments. NGOs. acadenda. locul
commaunities, supplicrs. consumers and customers, One way we engage with our stakeholders is through regular contyenings,
providing opportunitics to highlight issues that ar¢ important (o them. the outcomes ot these convenings are then
communicated to senior management so actions can be taken o address concerns. These actiens are cascaded 1o the Nestlé
companivs In the UK & Ircland,

Corporate governance

Corporate governance arrangements are in place at Group level which are adopted by the Company instead ol specific
compliznce with the Code in the Companics {MisceHancous Reportingj Regulations 2018, Nestlé S.A. bas a diverse Boeard
of Directors who oversee Corporate Governance across the Nestld Group. This includes a Nomination and Sustainability
Committee which assesses candidates tor nomination w the Beard. Impertantly. this Committee also reviews all aspects of
our envivonmental and social sustainability including our responses to climute change, Qur Compensation Commitlee sels
our remuneration principles. Qur Audil Committee oversees internal and external audit. Ginancial reporting. compliance and
risk management. W recognize that for our company o be successful over lime and create sustainable value for
sharcholders, we must also create value for socicty, We see governance as a framework to align the interests of alf our
stikeholders behind our purpose of enhancing quality of lite and contributing o a healthier future.

Matters covered in the strategic report

‘The business review, principal risks and uncertainties for the Compuny, Strategic Management and a S172 staternent are
included in the Strategic Report.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Lach of the persons who are directors al the time when this Direclors’ Report is approved has confirmed that:

. so far as the director is aware. there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and
. thie director has taken ali the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant
audit information und o establish that the Compamy's auditor is aware ol that information.

Auditor

As aresult ol a tender exercise completed in 2819 by the Company's parent company, Nestlé S AL KPMG LLP will resign
alter issuing the 2019 independent anditor's report and will be replaced by Y LLP. who will {3} the vacanoy.

This report was approved by the board on 13 May 2020 and signed on ity behalf
Digitally signed
by David Hix
~. Date; 2020,05.15
14:46:44 +01'00’

D, Fix
[Yrector



NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT QF
FUE STRATEGIC REPORT, THE DIRECTORS' REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report. the Directors” Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable Taw and regulations,

Compuny law requires the directors w prepare financial statements Tor cach financial year. Under that Taw they have elected
Lo prepare the financial statenents tn accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice). ingluding FRS 101 Reduced Bisclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisficd that they give a true and
lair view of the state ot alTairs ol the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company (or that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. seleet suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:
. make judgments and accounting estintates that arc reasonable and prudent:
. stare whetber applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed. subjeet to any material departures disclosed

and explained Inthe financial statenients;

. assess the Company’s ability te continue as @ going concern, disclosing, as applicable. inatters related to poing
congern: and

» use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or 1o ccase operations.
or have no realistic aliernative but 1o do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sulficient to show and explain the
Company s transactions and disclosc with reasonable accuracy at any time the tfinancial position of the Company and cnable
them te ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are respensible for sach internal
control as they determine is necessary o vnable the preparation of financial stalements that are free from material
misstatement. whether due o lraud or error. and have general responsibility Jor taking such steps as are regsonably open to
them to saleguard the assets of the Company and 1o prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company s website, Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
trom legislation in other jurisdictions.



NESTLE UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO TIIE MEMBERS OF NESTLE UK LTD.

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Nestlé UK Ltd. ("the Company™) for the year ended 3| December 2019 which
comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the

accounting poficies in note |,

In our opinion the financial statements:

* give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2619 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

. have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework; and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of apinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} ("18As (UK)") and applicable law.
Our responsibilities are described befow. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the
Company in accordance with UK. ethical requirements incleding the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not imend to liquidate the
Company or 1o cease ils operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s financial position means that this is
realistic, They have also concluded that there are no material uncertaintics that could have cast significant doubt over its
ability 1o continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going
concern period”).

We are required to report 1o you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate
or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the usc of that basis for a period of at
least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we
considered the inherent risks to the Company’s business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Company’s
financial resources or ability to continue operations over the poing concern period, We have nothing (o report in these
respects,

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in ouicomes that arc
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material
uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Company will continue in operation.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information, which comprises the Strategic Report and the Directors” Report.
Our opinion on the financial staterments does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or, except as explicitly stated befow, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements
audit work, the information thercin is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the other information;

. in our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements; and

. in our apinion, those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Page &



NESTLE UK LTD.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO TIIE MEMBERS OF NESTLE UK LTD.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adeyuate for our audit have not been received from
branches nol visited by us; or

- the financial statements are not in agrecment with the accounting records and retums; or

. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors' reponsibilities

As explained more fully in their stalement set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is
necessary 10 enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatment. whether due to fraud
or error; assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liguidate the Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditar’s reponsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from materiai
misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is 2 high
levet of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement whep it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered matenal if.
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www.fre.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been underiaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we arc
required to state (0 them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyonc other than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or {or the opinions we have formed.

Hugh Green (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of

KPMG LLP, Statetory Auditer
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London, Et4 5GL.

15 May 2020

iy M<7 020
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NESTLE UK LTD.

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DPECEMBER 2619

2019 2018
Note £000 £000
Turnover 2 1,675,312 1.631.817
Cust ol sules (1,359,402) (1.408.997)
Gross profit 315,910 222 820
Distribution costs (115,505) 1102.895)
Administrative expenscs (61,559) {(61,083)
Operating profit 3 138,846 38.842
Income from shares in group companies 51,183 196966
Income from participating interests 7,101 36
Net impairment of investment in subsidiary companics 15 (57.5008) (121,834)
[Interest receiy able and similar income 7 3,39 1,359
[nterest payable and similar charges & (34,396) (37.653)
Profit on ordinary activities before tuxation 108,625 97,716
Taxation on profit/fioss) en ordinary activities 9 (20,828) {9,582)
Profit for the vear 87,805 88.134

The notes on pages 14 to 45 tonn part of these financial statements.



NESTLE UK LTD,

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2919

2019 2018
£000 £000
Profit tor the financial year 87.805 88,134
Other comprehensive income:
ltens that witl not be reclassified to profit ar oss:
Actuarial (loss)gain on defined henetit schemes {88,954) 246,876
Movement of deferred tax relating to pension surplus:{deficit) 18,389 (48.221)
Movement in hedging reserve (8,591) 7.708
Movement of deferred fax relating w hedging reserve 1,632 {1463
(77,524} 204.898
‘Totat comprehensive income for the year 10.281 293.032

The notes on pages T4 Lo 43 form part of these financial statements,



REGISTERED NUMBER:51491

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Goodwaill
Invesiments

l'ungible Fined Asscts

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors: amounts fulling due within one year

Bank and eash balances

Creditors: amounts Balling duc within one year

Net current liabilities
Total assets fess current labilities

Creditors: amounts lalling due after more than
ane year

Provisions for liabilities
Dieterred taxation

Other provisions

Pension Jability
Net assets

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Other reserves

Profit and loss account

NESTLE UK LTD.

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note

16
17

19

2u
21

22

3

3

H

(e}

3

158,296
552,657
848

711801
(1,668.903)

(23,557)
(13,970)

2019
£000

473
1,146,814
938,773
540,068

2,652,128

(957,102)

1,695,026

(523,386)

1,171,640

{37.527)

(6,704)

1,127,409

130,000

211,446
(3,703)

789,666

1,127,309

2018
£0ul
301
146,814
873.031
573168
2593414
146,654
603,569
942
753,165
(768.349)
(15,184}

2,378,230

£1.324.927)

1.253.303

(25813
(12,377
(38.190)
(12.49%)
1.202,618

ps S

130,000
211,446

3.256
857916

1.202,618
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NESTLE UK LTD.
REGISTERED NUMBER:5149¢

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalt on {3 May

2020,
i ) Digitally signed
‘ .71 by David Hix
RSN I S ; ~
Y31 N Dates 2020.05.15
14:47:28 0100’
D. Hix
Director

The notes on pages 14 1o 43 lorm part of these {inancial stutements.

IPage it



NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Al T Januars 2019

Comprehensive income for the yvear

I’rofit tor the year

Actuarial losses on pension scheme

Paxation in respect of items of other
comprehensive income

Movement on bedging reserve

Other comprehensive income for the
vear

Total comprehensive income for the
year
Dividends paid

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2019

Share
Called up premiun Other Profit and

share capital account reserves loss account  Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
130,000 211,446 3.256 857,916 £.202,018

- - - 87,805 87,8058
- - - (70,565} (70,565}

- - 1,632 - 1,632
- - (8,591} - (8,591)
- - {6,959} (70,565} (77,524)

- - (6,939} 17,240 10,281
- - - (85,490} (B5.490)
- - - (85,490) (85,49¢4)
130,000 211,446 (3,703) 789,666 1,127,409

The notes on pages 14 1o 43 lorm part of these financisl statements.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2618
Share
Called up premium Other Profit and
share capital account reserves loss account  Total equity
£604 £000 £000 £000 £000

AU Januars 2018 (as previously
slated) 130,600 211,446 (2,987) 1,030,722 1,369,181
Prior year adjustment - - - {4,595) (4,595
AL January 2018 (as restated) 130,000 211,446 (2,987) 1,026,127 1,364,586
Comprebensive income for the year
Profic for the year as restated - - - 88,134 88,134
Actuarial gains on pension scheme - - - 198,655 198,655
Taxation in respect of items of other
comprehensive income B - {1,465) - (1,465)
Movement on hedging reserve - - 7,708 - 7,708
Other comprehensive income for the
year - - 6,243 198,655 24:4,898
Total comprehensive income for the
vear - - 6,243 286,789 293,032
Prividends paid - - - (455,104 (455,000)
Total transactions with owners - - - (455,000 (455,000
At 31 December 2818 130,600 211,446 3.256 857,916 1,202,618

The noles on pages 11 to 43 form part of these iinancial statements.

Page 13




NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies

1.1

1.2

1.3

Basis of preparation of financial statements
Neatlé UK Lid.. (the "Company ™) is @ company incorporated amd domiciled in the United Kingdom,

These financial stlements were prepared in decordance with Finuncial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework {("FRS 101" The amendments to FRS 101 (2013714 Cycele) issued in July 2013 and
clTective immediately have been applied.

In preparing these financial statements. the Company applics the recognition, measurement and disciosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the LU ("Adopled TFRSs"). but
makes amerdmenis where necessary in order w0 comply with Companies Act 2006 and has sel out below where
advantape ot the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

I'he Company is exempt from the obligation Lo prepare und deliver group accounts,

Financial reporting standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptioas

The Company's ultimuate parent undertaking, Nestlé S.AL includes the Company in ils consolidated tinancial
statements. The consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S AL are prepared in accordance with International
Finuncial Reporting $tundurds and are avalluble to the public and may be obtained [rom Nestl¢ Headqguariers.
CLL800. Vevey, Switzerland,

The company has taken advantage of the tollowing disclosure exemplions under I'RS $01:

. the requirements of paragraphs 43(b) and 46-52 o' I¥RS 2 Share based payment

. the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instrunients: Disclosures

. the requirements ol paragraphs 91-99 of II'RS 13 Fair Value Mceasurement

. the requirgment in paragraph 38 ol TAN 1 'Presentation ol Financial Staiements' o present comparative

intormation in respect of:
- paragraph 7ativy of IAS 1;
- paragraph 73(¢) ol TAS 16 Property, PPLayt and Equipment;

- paragraph 118i¢) of TAS 38 fntangible Asscls;
. the requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(0), 16, 38A, 3813, 38C. 38D, 404, 4013, 40C. 46D, 111 and
134-136 of 1AS | Presentation of Financial Statements
. the requirements ol TAS 7 Statement ol Cash Flows
. the requirements ot paragraphs 30 and 31 of [AS § Accounting Policies. Changes in Accounting

Istimates and Frrors

. the requirements of paragraph 17 und 18A of 1AS 24 Related Pargy Disclosures

. the requitements in TAS 24 Relatwed Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the
wransaction (s whelly owned by such o member

. the requirements of paragraphs 130(6)(iD. 130(H)¢ii). I34(d1340 and 135(¢)-135(c) of 1AS 36
Impairment ol Assels.

Assvciates and joint ventures

Associates and Joint s entures are valued using the equity method.

Page 14



NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20619

Accounting policies (continued)

.4

1.5

Geing coneern

The Company's business activities, together with factors fikely to affect its future development, performance
and position, are set oul in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report on pages [ 1o 5.

The Company is expected to generate positive cash flows on its own account for the foreseeable future. The
Company participates in the group's centralised treasury arrangements and so shares banking arrangements with
its parent and fellow subsidiaries.

‘The Company has net current liabilities of £957,102.000 including amounts payable to other Nestié S A, group
undertakings of £1.008.420.000. The loans with the Nestlé S.AL group undertakings are revigwed monthly with
the lender with autematic renewal tor further periods of three years. Historically such loans have always been
renewed when requested. From discusstons in 2019 and 2020 with Nestdé 8 AL there has been no indication that
current loans will be recalled and not renew ed.

Nestlé Holdings (UK PLC, the parent company of Nesud UK Lid.. has provided the Company with an
undertaking that lor at least twelve months rom the date of the approval of these financial statemoents, it will
continue Lo provide {inancial and other support te enable the Company (o contlinuc in operational existenee for
the foresceable future and that repavment of the above loans will not be sought 16 it would impede the
Company's ability to meet its obligations to third pardes and operate as 2 going concern.

The directors. having assessed the responses of the directors of the Company's parent, Nestle Holdings (UK
PLC o their epquires, have no reason to belicve that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt about the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern or its ability to continue with the current
banking arrangcments.

On the basis of their assessment of the Company's financial position and performance and ol enquiries made 1
Nestlé Holdings (UK. PLC. the Company's directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be
able 1o continue in uperational existence for the forescesble Luture.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when control is transferred 1o a customer. Factors that may indicate ihe point in time af
which contral is transicrred include, but are nol limited o

. the Company has a present right to paymeat for the asset;

. the customer has legal title to the asset:

. the Company has transterred phy sical possession of the asset:

. the customer has the signiflcant risks and rewards related to the ownership ot the asset; and
. the customet has accepted the asset,

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration which the Company expecis to receive. based on the list
price applicable 1o a given distibution channcl afler deduction of returns. sales taxes, pricing allowances, other
trade discounts and couponing and price promotions to consumers.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accaunting policies (continued)

1.6  Goodwili

i8

Goodwill represents (the excess of the cost of a business combination over the total acquisition date {fair value of
the identifiable assews. Habitities and contingent labilities acquired.

Cost comprises the fair value of assets given. labilities assumed and equity instruments issued.

Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset and s not amortised, Instead it is reviewed annually tor
impairment with any impuirment in carrying value being charged to profit or loss. The Compuanies Act 2006
requires acquired goodwill to be reduced by provisions tor depreciution calculated to write off the amount
svstematically over u period chosen by the directors. not exceeding its uselul econemic life. It has been
deemed. however. the non-amortisation of goodwill is a departure, tor the overriding purpose of giving a true
and fuir view. The effeet of this departure has not been quantificd because it is impracticable and. in the eplnion
oi'the dircctors, would be misteading.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cest less accumulated depreciadon and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost ineludes expenditure that is directdy attributable to bringing the
asset o the location and condition necessary for It to be capable ol operating in the manner intended by
management,

The Company adds 10 the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item
when that cost is incurred, it the replacement part is expected o provide incremental future benetlits to the
Company. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derccognised. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
protit or loss during the period in which they ure incurred.

Depreciation is charged so as o allocate the cost of assets less their residual vulue over their estimated uselul
lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the lollowing basis:

Freehold property - 2% - 4%
L/Term Leaschold property - 4%

Mant & machinery - 0.66% - 33.33%
System development costs - 20%

The assets' residual values. uscful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed. and adjusied prospectively il
appropriate, or if there is an indication ot a significant change since the last reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the procecds with the carrving amount and are
recognised in the Profit and oss Account.

Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

Assets that are subject 1o depreciation or amortisation are assessed at cuch balance sheet date 10 determine
whether there is any indication that the assets are impaired. Where there is any indication that an assel may be
impaired. the carrying value of the assel (or cash-generating unil 1o which the usset has been allocated) is tesled
lor impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the usset's carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recos erable amount is the higher of an asset's (or CGU's) fair value less costs o
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest fevels tor
which there are separately identiltable cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets that have been previously
impaired are reviewed at cach budance sheel date w assess whether there is any indicalion that the impairment
fosses recognised in prior periods may no longer exist or may have decreased.
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NESTLE UK LTD,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

1.9

110

Vaiuation of investinents

Invesuments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less aecumulated impuirment.

Stocks

Stocks are stated at the Jower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling price less costs w
complete and scil. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a first in. {irst out  basis. Work {n progress and
finished goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At cach balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impuirment. [ stock is impuired. the carrving amount is
reduced to its selling price less costs 1o complete and sell. The impairnient loss is recognised immediately in
prolit or loss.

Debtors

Short term debtops are measured at transaction price. less any impairment. Loans reccivable are measured
initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
ciicetive interest method, iess any impairment.

Creditors

Creditors are obligations to pay tor goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers.

Creditars are recognised intjally at fuir value and subsequently meusured at amortised cost using the effective
nterest method.,

Hedge accounting

The Company has entered inte currency lorward contracls to manage its exposure (o Huctuations in the value of
loreign currencies. In addition the Company utilises the futures markel 1 stabilise the long term price of major
raw materials,

These derivatives are measured at fair value al ¢uch balance sheet date. To the extent that the hedge ix effective.

movements in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in @ separate bedge
reserve. The results of inettective hedyes are recognised dn the Profitand [.oss Account,
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

1.14

1.15

f.16

Foreign currency translation

Functivnal and presentation currency

‘The Company's functional and presentational curreney is GBI,
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated inte the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.

At each peried end loreign currency monetary items are translaled using the clesing rate. Non-monetary items
measured at historical cost are transfated using the exchange rate at the daie of the trunsaction and non-
manetary tlems measured at faie value are measured using the exchunge rate when Iair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gaing and losses resufting from the settlement of trunsactions and from (he transtation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and Habilitics denominated in loreign currencies ure recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash Now
hedges,

Forcign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
I'vofit and Loss Account within “finance income or costs’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the Profit and Loss Account within 'other operating income'.

Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the Profit and Loss Account over the term of the debt using the effective interest
method so that the amount charged is at @ constant rate on the carnying amount. Issue costs are initially
recognised as a reduction in the proceeds of the associated capitad instrument,

Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable, Interim equity dividends are recognised
when paid. Tinal equity Jdividends are recognised when approved by the sharcholders al an annual general
meeting. There will be a disclosure in the notes o the financial statements of dividends proposed or declared
which were not recognised in the financial statements, if this happens prior to the financial statements being
authorised for issuc.

Equity compensation plans

The Company hus equity-settled share-based transactions. The share-based transactions are settied with shares
of with reference tw shares of Nestlé 8 A and not Nestlé LK Ltd.

Equitysettled share-based transactions are recognised in the Prolit and Loss Account over the vesting period.
They are lair valued at grant date and measured using generally accepted pricing models, The cost of equity~
setthed share-based transactions is adjusted annually by the expectalions of vesting. for the forfeitures of the
participants' rights that no longer satisfy the plan conditions as well as Tor early vesting.

At the end of each vear the Company caleulates the ligbility in respect cquity-settled share-bhased transacudons
with the movement in the liability being recognised as a charge or credil to the Profit and Loss Account.
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STLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2619

Accounting policies (continued)

118

1.19

Leases: the Company as a lessee

The Company assesses whether a contracl i~ or contains a lease at inception ol the contract. This assessment
invelves the exercise of judgemoent about whether it depends on a specified asset, whether the Company obtains
substantially all the cconemic benetits from the use of that asset. and whether the Company has the right 10
direct the use ol the asset.

The Company recognises a right-ot-use (ROU) asset and lease liability at the fease commencement date. exeept
for short term leases oi’ |2 months or less which are expensed in the Profit and Loss account on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that arc not paid at the
commencement date. discounted using the interest rote implicit in the leasce.

At inceplion. the ROU asset comprises the initial lease lability. initial indircet costs and the obligations w
refurbish the asset, less any incentives granted by the lessors. The RO asset is depreciated over the shorter of
the lease term or the usctul life of the underlying asset. The ROU asset is subject to testing for impairment if
there s an indicator for impairment. as fov owned assets.

ROU assets are included in the headings "Long werm leaschold property™ and "Long term leasehold plant and
machinery” and the lease lizhility is included in the headings "Current financial debt” and "Non-current
financia] debt”,

rensions
Defined benefit plan

The Company operates a defined benelit plan for certain employcees for the Nestlé group companies in the
United Kingdom. A defined benefit plan delines the pension benefit that the emplovee will receive un
retirement, usually dependent upon several {actors including but not fimited o age, length ol senvice and
remuneration. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan.

The lHatlity recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect ol the defined benefit plan is the present vulue ol the
defined benefit obligation at the end of the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets at the balance
sheet date (1 any ) out of which the obligations are w be settled. The defined benefit obligation is caleulated
using the projected unit credit method. Annually the Company engages independent actuaries o caleulate the
obligation. The present value is detenmined by discounting the estimated future paviments using market yviclds
on high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in sterling and that have terms approximating to the
estimated period of the tuture payments ('discount rate').

The fair value of plan assets s measured in accordance with the FRS 181 tair value hicrarchy and in
accordance with the Cotmpany®s policy for similarly held assets. This includes the usc of approprizte valuation
techniques. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or eredited (o other comprehensive income. Fhese amounts together with the return on
plan assets. less amounts included in net interest. are disclosed as 'Remeasurement of net defined henellt
lfabiliy,

The cost of the defined benefit plan. recognised in the Profit and Loss Account us "employ ee costs', except
where included in the cost of an assel, comprises:

a) the increase in net pension benefit liability arising {rom employee service during the period; and

b the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and setilements.

The net inwerest cost is caleulated by applving the discount rate 1o the net balance of the delined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in profitor loss as @ 'finance expense’.
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NESTLE UK LTD,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Accounting policies (continued)

£.20 Interest income

L2

£.23

Interest income is recognised in the Profit and T.oss Account using the etfective interest method.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account {n the year In which they are incured.
Pravisions for liabilitics

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Company a legal or constructive obiigation
that probably requires settlement by a transier of economic benefit. and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are charged as an expense o the Prolit and Loss Account in the year that the Company becones
awure of the obligation. and ave measured at the best estimate w the Balance Sheel date of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertaintics.

When payments are eventually made. they are charged w the provision carried in the Balance Sheel,

Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account, excepl that a change attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other comprehensive
income or to an item recognised directly in cquity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or direetly
1 cquity respectively.

The current income tax charge is caleulated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balunce sheet date in the countries where the Company operates und generales

income,

Deferred lax balances are recognised in respect of all iming Jifferences that have originated bul net reversed
by the Dalance Sheet date. except that

. The recognition of delerred tax assets is Hmited to the extent that it is probable that they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax Nabilities or other future taxable profits; and

. Ay Jeterred tax balances are reversed if and swhen all conditions for retaining associated tax
aliowances have been met,

Deferred tax is determined using twx rates and laws that have heen cnacted or substantively cnacted by the
balunce sheet date.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO FHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Turnover

Analysis ol turnover by countrs of deslination:

tUnited Kingdom
Rest ol Burope

Rest of the workd

Operating prefit

The operating profitis stated afler charging:

Depreciation of tangibie lixed assels

[mpairment of tangible {ixed asscts

Amortisation of intangible assets. including goodwill
Defined benelit pension cost (note 27}

LossAprofit) on sales of fixed assets

3usiness restructurmg and reorganisation (note 11)

Anditor's remuneration

Fees payable 1o the Company's auditor and its associates for the audit o' the

Company's annual Nnancial statements

Fees payable to the Company's anditor and its assoeciates in respect of:

All other services

2019 20108
£090 £000
1,300,949 1.262.629
156,527 245,837
117,836 123331
1,675,312 1.631.817
2019 2018
£000 £000
58,217 59,304
1,737 3,741
138 136
33,194 34,840
1,291 (1.15%)
7,079 (R4
201% 2018
£000 £000
194 205
241 190
241 190
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NESTLE UK LTD,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2¢19

Lmployees

Stall costs, including directors' remuneration. were as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £0H08)

Wages and salaries 218,738 218,155
socidl security costs 23,597 22,907
Costaf pension schemes (note 273 32,009 40,936
274,344 282018

The average moathly nuraber of emplovees, including the directors, during the year was as [ollows:

2019 2018
No. No.
Production 2,894 3.067
Administeation, distribation and sales 1,765 1.69%
4,659 1,763

Pirectors’ remuneration
2019 2008
£000 £600
Directors’ emoluments 2,392 3.031
2,392 3.031

| he highest paid director reeeived remuneration of £891.659 (2018 - £821.010).

The value of the company's contributions paid to a detined contribution pension scheme in respect of the highest
paid dircctor umounted to £43.705 (2018 - £42,024),

The value of the company's contributions paid to a defined benetit pension scheme in respeet of the highest paid
director amounted to £NIL {2018 - £NIL).

During the vear 5 directors received shares under the long term incentive schemes (2018 - 5).

The total accrued pension provision of the highest paid direcior at 31 December 2019 amounted o £NI1 (2018 -
NI

As ar 31 December 2019, 3 directors (2018 - 3) had acerued detined benefit pension obligations. OfF these. no
directors {2018 - no directors) accrued further amounts during the vear,

The highest paid director was granted 3,503 shares awarded by Westld S.A, (2018 - 4.008) under a long-term
incentive scheme.
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NESTLE UK LTD,

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Interest receivable

Interest on cash pooling mrangement
Interest due from associate undertakings

Qiber interest reccivable

Interest tecelvable on detined beneflt pension net asset (note 27)

Interest payable and similar expenses

Bank interest pavuble

Other loun interest payable

Interest pavable on cash pooling arrangement

Loans from group undertakings

I.eases and hire purchase contracts

Interest paid on defined benelit pension net Hability (note 27)
Inicrest paid on untunded pension Hability (note 27)

Interest payable on post retivement benefits (note 27)

Taxation

Corporation tax

Current tax on protits tor the year
Adjustments in respect of previous periods
Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences
Changes 1o 1ax rates

Dreferred tax relating to prior years

Teoral deferred tax

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

2019 2018
£000 £000
570 873
1.195 439
28 27
1,598 -
3,391 1,359
2019 20108
£000 £G00
- 3
3,190 3190
339 268
29,920 27410
534 666
- 5.7
339 303
74 71
34,396 37.653
2019 2018
£000 £000
9,103 {5.898;
(7,557 (1.262;
1.54¢6 (7.160)
17,842 16315
776 IRy
6546 34
19,274 16,742
20,820 9,582
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Taxation {continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2018 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of

19.00% (2018 - 19.00%). The differences are explained below:

Profit befure tax

Profit muitiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK ot 19.00% (2018 -
19.00%)
Effects of:

Ixpenses nol deductible for tax purposes
Adiustments Lo tax charge in respect ol prior perinds
Non-taxable income

Transfer to unrecognised tax assct

Change in tax rate

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year

2019 2018
£000 £000
108,625 97.716
20,639 18,566
15,882 28,458
(6,901) (1,223
(9,893) (37.423)
317 $16

176 388
20,820 9,582
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NESTLE UK LYD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Taxation {continued}

Factors that may affect future tax charges

T'he main rate of UK corporation tax for the vear is 19% ctlective since | April 2017 Legisfation, 1o further reduce
the main rate of corporation tax from 19% w 17% with cifect from 1 April 2020, was included in l'inance Act 2016,
and the deferred wx liability as at 31 Decermber 2019 hus been caleulated using this rate. [n the 1T March 2020
Budgel it was announced that the UK corporation tax rate will remain at 19% and not veduce W 17% from 1 April
20206, This will have a consequential effect on the Company’s fuiure tax churge.

The Company has an unrecognised wemporary dilference in respect of gross capital losses of £125.0 milkion (2018 -
£235.0 million}. The reduction in the these fosses since the prior vear is due to utilisation against chargeable gains
thal ervstadiised in 2019, These were delerred gaing attuched to debentures which matured during the vear. The
available Tosses have not been recognised as there s considered insullicient evidence of luture capital profits against
which the losses can be offset. These losses bave no expiry date.

Dividends
2019 2018
£000 £000
Paid w Nestlé Holdings (V.K) PLC 85,490 455,000
85,490 453,000

Restructuring and regrganisation costs
Provisions in respect of factory reorganisations lotalling £3,435,000 (2018 - 4.600.000) wore created in 2019 and
were allocated to Cost of Sales, An additional pros iston of £35,408.000 in respect of an onerous contract was created

duting 2019 and charged to distribution costs.

I adddition. « sueplus provision of £3.281,000 (2018 - £2,000.000) in respect of a factory restructuring project wits
refeased and credited e Cost of Sales.

Nel business restructuring vosts ol £1.513.000 (2018 = £1.930.000} were allocated 1o administralive expenses.
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Intangible assets

Cost

At 1 January 2019

Additions - external

AL 3] December 2019

Amortisation

At | January 2019

NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Charge lor the vear on owned assets

At 31 December 2019

Net book value

AL 31 December 2019

At 3 December 20008

Goodwitl

Cost

At ] January 2019 and 31 December 2019

Amortisation

At 1 anuary 2019 and 31 December 2019

Systems
Development
£o0u

56,175
210

473

4

2019
£000

1,146,814

1,146,814

1.146,814

The Goodwill relates mainly to the acquisition of The Nestle Company in 1992, This included soluble coffec brands
including Nescaté. Gold Blend and Blend 37 and the confectionery brands of Milky Bar. Dairy Crunch and Animal
Bar. There is also goodwill relating to the acquisition of PNutri.

Management has reviewed the value of these brands and perlormied impairment analyses bazed on expected tuture
cash flows. using discount rates derived by Nestié SA, forecasts approved by management and terminal growth rates
that have been detennined to rellect the long-term view of the nominal evolution of the business. Management
believes that no reasonubly possible change in these key assumptions would cause the vecoverable amount to latl

bejow the carrying value.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Tangible fixed assets

Cost or valuation
At 1 Jupuary 2019
Additions
Disposals

Translers between classes

AL 31 Drecember 2019

Depreciation

AL January 2019

Charge for the year on owned
assels

Churge for the year on right-of-
use isscls

Disposals

Impairment charge

At 31 December 2019

Net book value

AL 31 December 2019

AL 3] December 2018

Long term

Freehold Leaschold Plant &  Leascd plant
property Property machinery & machinery Total
£00¢ £064 £006 £000 £006
281,322 67,953 961,476 18,248 1,328,999
1,703 7,828 18,730 5,945 34.200
(229) (16,475} (21,084 (7,534} (45,319}
118 - (116} (2} -
282,914 59,306 959,009 16,6587 1.317.88¢6
117,156 31,268 595,029 12,378 735831
4,600 - 44,732 - 49,332
- 5,667 - 3,218 8,885
(112) (16,474} (260,050 (7.331) (43,967}
- - 1,737 - 1,737
121,644 20,461 621,448 8,265 771,818
161,270 38,845 337,561 8,392 546,068
164,166 36.683 366,447 5,870 573,168
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Fised asset investments

Investments in
subsidiary lnvestments in

companies associates Tatal
£600 £000 £000

Cost or valuation
At ] Junuary 2019 1,500,499 17,298 1.587,797
Additions 136,178 7,101 143,279
Dividends received - 37 37)
At 31 December 2019 1,636,677 24,362 1,661,029
Impairment
AU Junuary 2019 644,760 - 644,766
Chyarge for the period 2495060 - 249.50¢
Reversal of impairment Josses (192,000) - (192,000}
AL 3L December 2019 702,266 - 702,266
Net book value
AL31 December 2089 934,411 24,362 958,773
ALST December 2018 835.733 17.298 873.031

The Company acquired the share capital of Nestlé Puring UK Commiercial Operations Limited and Terraferti] UK

Limited during 2019 for £133.900,000 and £2,277,000 respectively.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2019

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

The foliowing were subsidiary undertakings of the Companty:

Name

Nespressa UR Limied

Nestié {refand Linited

Nestle Purina UK Manefacturing Operations Limijted
(formerly Nestle Puring Petcare UK Limited)

Nestle UK Pension Reservoir Trust Limited

Nestlé UR Pension Trust Limited

Nestlé Waters UK Limied

Raw Products |.imited

Vitatlo Frapce SARL

Vitatlo (International) Limited

Vitaflo Limited

Wyeth Nuwitionals Ireland Limied

Wynuiri [.imited

Nostlé Purina UK Commercial Operations Limited

Terratertil UK Timited

Participating interests

Registercd office

1 City Place, (latwick,
West Susses, RH6 0PA
3030 Luke Drive, Citvwest,
Dublin 24, Ireland

T City Place. Galwick.
Wesl Sussex, R0 0PA

I City Place, Gatwick,
Wesl Sussen, RE6 OPA

1 City Place. Galwick.
Wost Sussex, RIT6 0PA

{ City Place, Galwick.
Wost Sussex. RITe 0PA

I City Place. Gatwick.
Wost Sussex. RHs OPA

38 Rue de Berri, 75008
Paris. Franee

Suite 1.11. Scuth
Harrington Building, 182
Scfton Steect. Brunswick
Businrss Park. {iverpool.
L3 4BOQ

6 Mloss Street. Paislev, PAL
1BL

Tomdeely North, Askeuton.
County Limerick.
Republic of {reland

3030 Lake Drive. Citywest
Business Campus, Dublin
24, Republic of Treland

1 Clity Place. Gaiwick.
West Sussex. RiTo OFA

2 Tastbourne Terrace.
London, W2 oLG

Class of
shares

(hrdinary

Chedinan,

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinun

Ordinan

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinars

Ordinars

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinars

Ordinary

Holding
100%

[ G0U%,
130%
HH %
160%
100%0
100%
190%

LO0%

P00

106%

EO0SS

1000

100%%

the Company has a 30%  participating interest in Cereal Partners UKL The other 30% s owned by General Mills
Canada [Holding Three Corporation. A share ol any taxation charge or eredit relating 1o the results ol the investment
i borne by the Company. The value of the investment at the balance shect date was £24.362.000 (2018 -

£17,298.000).
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMLENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Stocks

Ruw materials and consumables
Wark in progress {goods w be sold;

Finished goods and goods tor resale

Debtors

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associated undertakings
(ther debtors

Prepayments and acerued income

Financial instruments

2019 2018
£000 £060
38,318 34,878
25,461 29.298
94,517 82,478
158,296 146,654
2019 2018
£000 £000
265,210 335,417
225,438 275,539
34,012 56,723
14,519 235,702
12,977 8,133
301 1,755
552,657 603.569

Amounts owed by group undettakings include £158.420,000 (2018 - £192.301.000) representing cash transferred 1o

subsidiary undertakings as part of the group cash pooling arrangement which ¢an be recovered on request.

Anounts owed to joint ventures and associated undertakings include a loan of £31.000.000 (2018 - £53.006.000) Lo

Cereal Partners UK.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR FHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Creditors: Amounts failing due within one year

Bank overdradis

Trude creditors

Amounts owed o group underakings
Amounts owed to associates

Lease liabilities

Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Financial instruments

2019 2018
£000 £000

138 136
171.68% 170.684
1,340,529 464,687
14,214 14,909
8,416 5,820
2,513 12,855
116,692 98.610
7,712 648
£,668,203 768,349

Amounts owed W group undenakings includes ansecured loans £1L.001437.000 (2018 - £200.000.000). cash
pooling aranpemenis £245.937.000 (2018 - £73,761.000) and current Urading balances £90.153.000 (2018 -

E190.926.000).

Amounts owed 1o group undertakings under group cash pooling arrangement and current account balunces musi be

repaid on reguest.

Loans vwed to group underiakings are reviesved monthly with the lender with awtomatic repeswal for lurther periods

of three yeurs and a 10 day notice period for recalling or non~renewal of the loan,

Amounts owed 10 group undertakings comprise the [oilowing unsecured foans:

Settlement date Interest rate
Septembey 2020 3 month LIBOR plus 99 basis points
November 2020 4 month LIBOR plus 182 busis points

£000

200,000
804437

104437
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2019

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2019 2018

£000 £000

Lease linbilides 40,9806 44 (W
Amounts ewed 1o group undertakings 476,400 1.280.837
523,386 1.324.927

T.oans owed to group undertakings are reviewed monthly with the lender with automatic renewal tor further periods

of three vears and @ 10 day notice period for recalling or non-rencwal of the loan.

Amounts owed o group undertakings comprise the following unsecured loans:

Setilement date Interest rate £000
February 2071 6 month LIBOR plus 3 basis points 425.000
February 2021 3 month LIBOR plus 5 basis points 51,400
476,400
Deferred taxation
2019
£0600
At beginning of vear 25,813)
Charged w the Profit and Loss Accoeunt {19,274)
Utilised inycar 21,530
At end of year {23,557)
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OECEMBER 2019

Deferred taxation (continued)

The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £000

Accelerated capital allowances (29,835) (29993,
Movement in general provisions 3,362 3210
Capitalised leased ussets 1,180 1.397

Orher timing dilferences 1,536 {426}

(23,557) (25,813

The Company has an unrecognised dJeferred tas asser of £4.261.000 (2018 - £3.945.000) as a1t 31 Decomber 2019,
This amount has ot been recognised as the directors are of the opinion that recoverability of this deferred tax asset
is uncertain. This is in addition to the unrecognised deforred tax asset in respect of gross capital losses diselosed (o
notle 9.

Provisions

Post
retirement  Factory/division Business
henefits reorganisation restructuring Teotal
£000 £600 £000 £600
AL L January 2019 2.591 7,200 2,586 12,377
Charged to profit or loss 74 8.845 1515 10,434
Credited o other comprehensiy e income (409) - - (469)
Released to proetit or loss - (3,281) - (3,281)
Ultilised in vear (72) (3,699) (1,320) {3,091)
At 31 December 2019 2,124 9,065 2,781 13,970

Post retirement benefits

The post retirement benetits pravision refates to post retirement medical benetitg of a closed schome see note 271
Factory/divisien restructuring

AL 31 December 2018 there was a provision of £7.200.000 remaining in respect of fuctory restructuring. During the
year £3.246.000 of this provision was utilised and £3.281,000 released 1o the Prolit and Loss Account, Additional
provisions of £8,843,000 were charged o the Profit and Loss Account during the vear. of which £433.000 was
utilised. Total provisions of £9.065.000 were outstanding at 31 December 2019,

Business restructuring

Provisions in respect of business restructuring otatled  £2,5860.000 at 31 December 2018, During 2019 additional

provisions of £1,515.000 were charged o the Profit and T oss Account and £3.320.000 were wtilised. resulting in
provisions outstanding at 31 December 2019 of £2.785,000,
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share capital

2019 2018
£000 £000
Aliotted, called up and fully paid
260,000,000 {2018 - 260,000.000) Ordinary shares ol £0.350 each 130,000 130,000
Reserves
Share premium account
The balance of the share premium account repesents the premium paid in exeess of the nominal value ol the issucd

share capital of the Company.

Other reserves

The hedging reserve balance reflects the recognition of the results on effeetive hedge transactions.
Profit & loss account

This relates to the undistributed profits of the Company.

Equity compensation plan

Certain employees are eligible to receive long=term incentives in the form of equity compensation pluns. Luch unil
granted gives the right to one Nestlé 8. AL share.

Equity compensation plans are seilled cither by remittance of Nestlé S AL shares taccounied for as equity-settled
share-based payment transactions) or by the payviment ol an equivalent amount in cash {accounted for as cash-scltled
sharc-hased pay ment transactions}). As the shares are in Nestlé 8.AL and not Nestl¢ UK Lad,, all charges tor equity
compensation plans are acerued in ‘ereditors due within one year’ and the share value is subsequently invoiced o
Nestlé UK Lid. by Nestlé §.A.

Page 34



24,

NESTLE UK LTD.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 20619

Equity compensation plan (continued)

Restricted Stock Unit Pian (RSUP)

Members of senior management are awarded Restricted Stock Units (RSU) that entitle participants to receive freely
disposable Nestlé S.AL shares (accounted for as equitv-settied share-based payment transactions) or an equivalent
amount in cash (accounted lor as cash-settled share-based paymoent transactions) at the end ol a three s ear restriction

period subject (o service conditions.

2019 2018

Number Number
Number of RSU in ity
Ouistanding at the beginning ol the year 38,357 -
Granted during the year 36,530 2,555
Setded and transfers W and from other group companies {797 (3,347)
Forteited (843) (G310}
Outstanding at the end of the year 73,453 38.557

The fuir value of equity -sctiled RSU is determined on the basis of the muarket price of Nestd S.AL shares at grant
date. discounted wt a risk-{ree interest rate and adjusted for the dividends that participants are not entitled to receive
during the restricted period of three years. The weighted average fuir value of the cquity -scttled RSTT granled in

2009 is CTF 8. (4 (2018 - CHF 66.62).
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Equity compensation plan {(continued}

Performance Share Unit Plan (PSLP)

As {rom 2014, members ol senior management are awarded Performance Share Units (PSU) that entitle participants
1o receive freely disposable Nestlé 3.4 shares (accounted for as equity -settled share based payment transactions) or
an cquivalent amount of cash (accounted tor as cash-seutled share based paymment ransactions) at the end ol a three
year restriction peried.

Upon vesting. the number of shares to be delivered will range from 0% to 200% of the initial grant and be
determined by the degree by which the performance measures of the PSUT have been met. These measures are the
relative Total Sharcholder Return of the Nestlé S.A. share in relation to the STOXX Global 1800 Food and
Beverage Net Return Index: and the growth of the underly ing carnings per share in censtant currencles. Each of' the
two measures has equal weighting in determining the vesting level of the initial PSU award.

2019 2018
Number Number

Number of PSU in units
Qutstanding al the beginning of the vear 90,794 138.832
Granred during the yvear 16,910 4068
Forteited during the vear (439} (9.843)
Settfed and translers to and tfrom other group compunies (56,493) {42,203)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 50,772 90.794

The fuir value of the equity=settied PSLi is determined using @ valuation model which reflects the probability of
over-achievement or under-uchicvement on the Total Shareholder Return measure. which is a market condition, and
based on Hve-year histwrical data. The vther inputs incorporated into the valuation model comprise the market price
of Nestlé S.A. shares at the grant date. discounted at a risk=free interest rale and adjusted for the dividends that
participants are not entitled 1o receive during the restricted period ot three s ears. The weighted average fair value of
the equily-settled PSU granted in 2019 45 CTIT 81,14 (2018 - CHF 39.96).

Contingent tiabilities

Al 31 December 2019 the Company had provided indemnitics given in the normal course of business totalling
£40,327,000 (2048 - £39.427.000).

‘The Company participates in a joint venture (sce note 13). Under the terms of the puartnership agreement the
Company acts as guaranior for its share of the parthership pension scheme deficit. At 31 December 2019 the
Company’s share of the pension delicit amounted to £5,233.000 (2018 - £242.000).

Capital ecammitments

AL 31 December the Company had capital commitments as Tollows:

2019 2018

£000 £000

Contracted for but not provided in these finonclal stotements 759 6.988
759 6.988
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments

The tolal pensions Hability ol £6,704,000 recorded on the Statement of Financial Position s made up of u lunded
surplus of £4.792,000 detailed innote 27(a} and an un funded deficit of £11,496.000 detailed in note 27(b).

{a) Nestlé UK Pension Fund

Nestlé UK Etd. participates in the Nesé UK Pension Fund ("the Fund”) which includes a defined benefil and a
defined contribution scetion. The eurrent defined benefit section provides carcer average bencfits to employ ees on
retirement based on thelr salary and the length of their service.

The 'und is a registered Pension scheme and is subject to the statutory scheme-specific funding reguirements
outlined in UK legislation, including the payvment of levies to the Pensien Protection Fund, [t is established under
trust and the responsibilits for its governance lies with the trustees whe also agree the funding arrangements with
the Company.

The last triennial funding valuation ol the fund was carvied out at 31 December 2013 und deficit recovery
cantributions for the petiod 2017 to 2922 were conlirmed In an agreement bebween the Company and the Truslees
signed initially on 21 February 2017, and subsequently updated and signed on 11 December 2018,

An updated valuation of the entire schemie was prepared at 31 December 2019 by an independent qualiiied actuan
for the purpose of JTAS 19, AL that date the assels exceeded the labilities of the schome by £3 808.000 (2¢G18 -
labilitics excoeded assets by 3.354.000).

The Company has received legal advice in respect of the Fund which confirms that it has an unconditional right to
any remaining surplus once all member benetits have been paid, As such, the surplus as at 31 December 2019 has
been recognised in full and there are no additional minimum funding liabatities.

The Company made contributions lotalling £133,383.004 10 the defined benefit section of the fund during 2019
(2018 - £139.551.000),

2019 2018

£000 £000
The amounts recognised in the bakance sheet are as follows
Present value of funded obligations (5,345,512) {4.798.027)
Fair value ol scheme assets 5,351,320 4.794.473
Gross surplus/(deficit) 5,808 13.534)
Retated delerred tax assel {note 200 (1,016} 0675
Net surptus: {deficit) 4.792 (2879
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pensien commitments (continued)

Composition of plan assets

Fquity investments

Debt instrunients

Cash and cash cquivalents
Real estate

Hedpe funds

ther

NESTLE UK LTD.

2019 2618
£000 £000
1,571,699 1.656,459
3,882,588 3.296.86%

1,640,709  (1.307.301)
235,493 245.513
612,777 759,389
(2,591,946) 143,545
5,351,320 4,794 473

A breakdown ol the Fund's investments is Jetailed below, The Tund's holding includes Hability-driven invesiment,
repurchase agreements and derivatives, such as swaps. These assets are intended to reduce key liability risks such as
those in respect of interest and inflation rates. At the reporting date, the Tund's interest and inflation rate hedging

ratios were approximately 90%.

Cash

Cash collateral held elsewher

Cash eotliteral due (o/from broker
Fxehange cleared swaps - other assets
Swaps

Funds - short term investments
Coverninent bonds

Index-linked govemment bonds

Cash coliateral duc to/[rom broker
Repurchase agreements

Eachunge cleared swap liabilities
Swap liabilitics

l'otal LI [unds

2019 2018
£000 £000
- 406
200 6700
- 1,400
4,000 300
- 500
125,600 13.600
306,300 258.800
2,867,300 2.661.200
3,303,400 2.942.900
2019 2018
£000 £000

(700) -
(1,638.100)  (1.412,400)
. (2.400)

(4,100 .
(1,642,900}  (1.414,800)
1,660,500 1.52%.100
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments (continued)

Net deficit in the scheme

2019 2018

£004 £800
At | January (2,879 (273.,4%3)
Current service cost (31,222) (37.379)
Past service cost - {1€.0:00)
Netipterest credit/{cost) 1,598 (3.740)
Pension curiaibments 1,557 5.339
Actuarial gains/{losses) (87,762) 247,038
Deforred tux on actuarial movement {673) {(60.075)
Contributions - special 87,500 36.000
Contributions -~ normal 45,883 53.551
Impact of business disposal 135 -
Transler of liability o unfunded scheme - 170
Administrative expenses (8.327) (8,304)
At 31 December 5,808 (2.879)
Amounts recoguised in the Profit and Loss Account to arrive at operating profit

2019 2018

£004 £OU0
Current service cost (31,222) {(37.379)
Past service cost - (10,000)
Pension curlailments 1,557 5,339
Administrative cxpenses (8,327) 18.300)
Defined Lenefit scheme (37,992; (50,344)
Defined contribution scheme (12,671 (10.730)
Untunded defined benetit schenie 398 (400)
Recovery from affiliate companics {or the defined benelit scheme 17,863 26630
Recognised in operating protit (33,194; (34,840)
Amounts recogniscd in the Profit and Loss Account in interest receivable and similar income

2019 2018

£009 £000
Nel interest on defined benefit obligations 1,598 (5.740)

1,598 (5,740
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NESTLE UK LTD.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments {continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of plan liabilities

A1 January

Current service cost

’ast service cost

Pension curtailments

Interest expense on defined benelit obligation
Changes in demographic assumptions
Changes in financial assumptions

Effect ol experience adjustnents

Transier of liahilily to unfunded scheme
fmpact ol business disposal

Benefits paid

At 31 Pecenither

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

At 1 dunuary

Interest on plan assets

Cuontributions by employer

Contributions by scheme participants
Administrative expenses

Remeasurements - return on scheme asscls
Impact of business disposal

Renetits pald

At 31 December

2019 7018
£000 £900
798,027 (5.224,313)
(31,41%) (37,779)
- (10.060)
1,557 5.339
(138,800) (133.473)
30,029 115,510
(657.269) 284,697
26,098 864
. 170
21,135 -
201,180 200,958
(5,345,512} {4.798.027)
2019 2018
£000 £000
1,794,473 4.890.080
140,398 127.733
133,383 139.551
193 $00
(8.327) (8,300
513,380 (154,033)
(21,000 -
(201,180) (200.9358)
5,351,320 4,794,473

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in the Statemient of Comprebhensive Income was
E1.683.270.000 (2018 - £1,595,508,000). The Company expects w pay £131.336,000 o its defined benefit plans

during 2020.

Page 40



NESTLE UK L¥D.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments {(continued)

The principal actusrial assumptions at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2019 2018
Discount rate (Defined beaelit obligation) 2.05% 2.95%,
Discount rate {Service cost) 2.13% 3.05%
Price inflation 3.00% 3.20%
Future increases in salaries 2.28% 2.20%
Fiture increases in pensions 2.90% 3.03%
Litc expectancy of a male membcer aged 63 21.2 years 218 vears
Life expectancy of a [eninle member aged 65 23.4 years 231 years

The discount rate assumption was Jderived using an updated methedolopy at 31 December 2019 and is based on a
corporate bond curve with a "Single Agency ™ approach incorporated.

The weighted average duration of the henefit payments reflected in the fuir value o the Fund's Habilities is 17 years.

Scusitivity analysis

The sensitivity of the fair value ol plan labilities 1o a change in the assumptions adopied in the yaluation is as [ullows:

2049 2019 2018 2088

£000 £000 £000 £000

Increase by Decrease by Increase by Pecreuse n

0.5% p.a. 0.5% p.a. 0.5% p.a. 0.5% p.a.

Change in discount rate (4,967,747) (5,846,121) (4,423 480) (5.224.509)
Change in salary increase (5.345,512) (5,345,512) (4.798.027 (+.798.027)
Change in pension inerease (5,672,180) t5,019.331) (3.075,230) (4,308,780
Change in member mortality assumption by | yvear (5,152,934 (5,539,634 (1.636.870) (4.039.632)

‘The ahove sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while hoiding all other assumptions constant.
I practice. this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments (continued}

The five year history of the defined beneiit obligation 2nd plan assets is as follows:

2019 2018 2017 2016 20153

£600 £000 £000 1000 £00
Defined benefit obiigation 5,343,512y (4.798.027y (5.224.313)y (5.304.013) (4.255.083)
Plan ussets 5,351,320 4,794,473 4,890,080  4.611.723 3.838.332
Scheme surplus/deficit) 5808 (3,554 (334,233 {692,290 (416,551
Exaperience adiusiments on plan liabilities (26,098) (864) 253237 (37.251) (96,949)
Lxperience adiustments en plan assets 513,380 (134,033 217,922 721,134 (65,647

(hh} Othker personnel obligations

The Company has the following liability in respect ol the unfunded pension {und:

26119 2018

000 £000
Pension liability (13,934) (11.872)
Delerred tax (note 20) 2,438 2.256
Net deficit (11,496} {9.616)
The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date were as follows:

2018 2017
Discount rate (12efined benelit obligation) 2.05% 2.05%
Lyiscount rate {Service ¢ost) 2.15% 3.05%
Price inflation 3.00% 3.20%
Future increases in salaries 2.25% 2.20%
Future increases in pensions 2.90% 3.05%
i.ife expectancy of o male aged 65 21.2 years QLA years

The amounts recegnised in the Profit and Loss Aecount within eperating profit are as follows:

2019 2048

£000 £000
Current service cost (3%4) (400}
Pasl service cost - -

Crains‘losses on scttlements - -

(394) (400)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Pension commitments (continued)

The amounts recognised in interest pavable and similar charges are as follows:

2019 2018
£004 £600
Interest on obligations (339 (303)
(339) (305)
{¢) Post-retivemieut benefits
The Company provides certain post-retirement benefits, mainly healtheare 1w 111 (2018 - &) pensioned Tormer

cmployees. The plan is unlinded and the Hability in respect of these benefits is assessed by a qualified independent

actuary on a bi=unnual huasis,

The gross lability reported is £2,124,000 (2018 - £2.391,000) and is disclosed within "Provisions for Habilities and

charges” in the Balance Sheet (see note 21).

The following table seis out the key assumptions used for the scheme:

2019 2018

Core price infiation 2.95% 3.20%

scount rale 1.95% 2.90%

Furure increases in salarics 2.28% 2.00%

Fulure increuses in pensions 2.94% 3.03%

Medical expense inflation 4.95% 3.20%

ife expectancy of a male aged 63 21.2 years 21.8 vears
The amounts recognised in interest pavable and similar charges are as follows:

2019 2018

£004 £000

Interest on abiigations (74) (7H

(74 (71}

Assunted medical expense inflation has an effect on the amounts reported for the Post-retivement medical Scheme.
A 50 basis point change in assumed medical expense intlation would have the following effect on the Company's

Post-retizement Medical Scheme:
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Pension commitments (continued)

2019 2049 2018 2018

£000 £060 £000 £000

increase by Decrease by increuse by Decrease by

0.5% p.a, 0.3% p.a. (1L5% pa. 0.5% pa,

Giross liability at vear-end (2.2506) (2,033) (2,723) (2,467)

{d) Long term sickness and disability schenie
The Compuny operales a Long Term Sickness and Disability Scheme. The reserve in respect of any labilities is
assessed by g qualilied independent actuary and is included in creditors: amounts falling due within one year (note

1)

The following lable sets oul the key assumplions used for the scheme.

2019 2018
Core price inflation 2.95% 3.20%
Discount rate 1.95% 2.50%,
Benclit inereasces 2.45% 2.70%

Related party transactions

The Company pays Tor cortain costs on behall of the Nestlé VK Pension Fund ("NUKPE") and Cereal Partners
Pension Fund, These pension funds reimburse the Company with the cost of these expenses. For the year ended 31
December 2019 the total expenses reimbursed amounted to £11.413.641 (2018 - £12,167.274). Of this [igure
£2,731,915 (2018 - £2,574.280) relates 1o salaries and other benefits of the staff and £8.684.026 (2018 -
£9.392.994) 1o other administrative costs,

Post balance sheet events

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak to be o
pandemic in recognition of its rupld spreud across the plobe, with over 150 countries now allected. Muny
governments are taking increusingly siringent steps o help contain or dekay the spread ot the virus, Currently, there
is o signilicant increase in ceonomic uneertainty which is. for examiple. evidenced by more volatile asset prices and
curreney exchunge rates.

For the Companv’s 31 December 2019 financial statements. the Coronavirus outbreak and the related impacts are
considered por-adjusting events. Consequently. there 1s no impact on the recognition and measurement of assets and
labilities. Due to the uncertainty of the outcome ot the current events. the Company cannot reasonably estimate the
impact these cvents will bave on the Company s financial position, results of operations or cash Hows in the future.
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NESTLE UK LTD.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Controlling party

Nestié Toldings (UK PLC, o compuny registered in England and Wales, is the Company's immediate parent
company and the holding compuny for some other Nestlé S.AL group companics based in the United Kingdom.

The largest and smallest group into which the results of this Company are consolidated is that headed by Nestlé S AL,
a company incorporaled i Switzerland., Copies ol group accounts can be obtained from CH-180G0 Vevey.
Switzerland,
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Principal exchange rates

CHF per

woe e 2019 2018

Year ending rates Weighted average annual rates

1 US Dollar USi_’) 0.969_ ) 0.986 0.993 D979
1 kuro EUR 1.086 1.128 1.112 1.154
100 Chinese Yuan Renminbi CNY 13.91 14.335 14.366 14.776
100 Brazilian Reais BRL 24.0432 25.448 25.118 76.663
100 Philippine Pesos PHP 1.912 1.877 1.820 1.856
1 Pound Sterling GBP 1.272 1.256 1.269 1.302
100 Mexican Pasos MXN 5.124 5005 5.159 5.082
1 Canadiarn Dellar CAD 0.743 0.724 ~0.749 0.755
100 Japanese Yen Py 0.897 0,824 0911 0.836
1 Australian Dollar AUD 0.679  0.697 6.692 0331
100 Russian Rubles RUB 1563 1.416 1.537 1554
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestié Greup 2019 &5



Consolidated income statement
for the year ended December 31, 2019

I midilions of CHE

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, e - - — 28 208
Sales ) : 92568 91439
Other revenwe S 207 311
Cost of goods sold (46 647) {46 070}
Distribution expenses {§ ay6} {8 469)
Marketing and administration expenses (19 750) {20003;
Research and development costs {1672 {1687}
QOther trading income 4 163 37
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended December 31, 2019

In mitlions of CiHF

e s _ame 08
Profit for the year recognized in the income statement 12904 10 468
Curiency retranslations, net of raxes 17 {1 050) {1004)
Fair vatue changes and recycling on debt instruments, net of taxas 17 — (35)
Fair value changes and recyching on cash flow hedges, net of taxes (63) 46
Sha{e ofoﬁther';ﬁ]}jg(ehen\sﬂve income of associates and joint ventures g 49 21
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement {1067} {1018)
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans, net of taxes 191/ {320) 600
Fair value changes on equity instruments, net of taxes 7 7 1/ {4} -4
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint yentures Y o387 "z
ltems that will never be reclassified to the income statement 13 721
Other comprehensive income for the year 17 (1 054} (297}
Total comprehensive income for the year 11 850 10171
of wivch attnibwtable to non-—contiolling interests 3/ 218
Cobwhivh sttributable Lo shareholders of the paent 11933 89h3
Consclidated Financial Statements of the Nestié Group 2019 67



Consolidated balance sheet
as at December 31, 2019

before appropriations

In miliions of CHF

e S 2019 2018
Assets - S o
Current assets - -
Cash and cash equivatents 1256 7462 4500
Short-term investments 15 2794 5801
invantaries 7 ) 7 3 4343 91325
Trade and other receivables iz 11766 11167
Prepayments and accrued income 498 5349
Derivative assets ) o o o ) o z 254 183
Current income tax assets - 768 869
Assets held for sale o - o o m _ 8828
Total current assets 7 35 663 41 ”003"
!_\Jornr—curre-ﬁri a__s§et'sﬂ . B . S )
Property, plant and equipment o 7 - 7 N . 8 28767 29958
Goodwill 7 S a 28 896 31702
Intangible assets B N ] N 9 17824 18634
Invéslrnents in ass-(-uc.:ie__af_es and jc)iﬂt_vgzpéures - . } o o S " ﬁ 50’3 10 795
Financial agsets 77 o ) ) ) B 7 12 2611 7 2 567
_Em;-uit_)y_ee benefits assets . - .m ‘:10 487
Cuqént income tax assets 55 '38
Defertedtmxassels v 214 1515
Total hon-¢urrent assets ) 92 "27? ) 95"’612
Total asse‘t‘s" o . ' T o ] B ] - T q27va0 ) 137015
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Consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2019

In millions of CHE

Liabilities and equity o o
Currentﬁai“)-ilit‘i;; o B o
Financiai debt 17 14032 14694
Trade and cther payables 2 18 803 17 800
Accruals and deferred intome 4492 4075
Provisions 1 - 802 780
Derivative liabilities 1% 420 448
Current income tax liabllities ) o 2073 273
Liabitties directly associated with assets neld for sale T - 2507
Total current liabilities 41615 43030
Non-current liabilities - S

Financial debt 12 23132 25700
Erplayee berefits liabiities iz 5151 5419
Provisions 1‘.- - 1162 7 1 05‘.3_
Deferred tax Eiab'\!fties K 2589 7 2 540
Total non-current liabHities 33 463 35582

Total liabilities 75078 78612
Equity R -
Share capital 298 306
Treasury shares o (3752 {6948}
Transiation reserve (21 526) (20 432)
Other reserves _ {45} - 83
Retained earnings L ... 83080 84620
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 52 035 57363
Non-contralling interests ) e 8272040
Total equity 52 862 58403
Total liabilities and equity 717277 97407 ) MﬂAé‘E{ﬁ?
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended December 31, 2019

in millions of CHF

e — R L2019 2018
Operating activites o N )
Operating prefit g 16078 13 752
Depreciation and amortization B 3713 3924
Impairment 2336 1248
Net result on dispoesal of businesses 4 13416} (6BEG)
Ciher nan-cash irerns of income and expense B . o e gy 37
Cash flow before changes in operating assets and liabilities o 1@33 18375
E);?EEF;SE]UHC;E&SG] ;n WO(REY_:IQ cap;ral 7¥;— T _—: - ’SH T 47?_
\./afiaﬁiorw. of_étﬁer operating assets and liabilities L o ; s 7 (84 B 37
Cash generated from operations 0 18938 18810
Interest paid o o o T (028) - (584}
Interest and dividend received 1652 BRLY
Taxes paid (2854) (3623

e } o _ B2 93

Operating cash flow 15 850 15 398
Investing actvites - ) S ’
Capital expenditure A {3 695) (3 869)
Expen(gittrneﬂop intzmgii;i;e assets 4 {516) {601
Acquisition of businesses > {125} 7(9 512
Disposal of businesses ) o o ? 9959 4310
ihvéstmeﬁis (nét of divestmants) in associates and joint ventures A (540} 728
lnﬁo-}]s[fautﬂows) fr_om treasury iﬁvestmeﬁts ) 7 2478 {5 159)
Other investing activifies _ I S B <
Investing cash flow 8 356 {14 2686)
_Fi_n_ancing"a;ti\.gitie's R S T Toorem e e i
Dividend paid to shareholders of the parrémr iy -{‘f 230} {7124}
D‘widends paid_ to r!O_i‘l—COn!!’VO"Ving énterestrs (-463) {319}
Acquisition {net of disposalj of non—comrloilihg interests 2 (16} (528)
Purchase (net of sale} of treasury shares @) ) B (3773) (6 854)
Inflows from bends and other non-current financial debt :2 57 9900
Outlﬂows fram bonds and other r|(-3n_~currem ﬁn-ancial debt 12 {3 287) {2772}
inflowsfloutfiows) flrom Culrrent financiafdebt Vi_;* ) (444) 3520
Financing cash flow ’ B _-_ T'E 1_5_(;}_ T {4 117)
Currency retranslations , - e NEE
Increasef(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents - T 2 8_2; ’ (2;2_983-
Cash and__c_c_!_sh_emwﬁg at beéinr\‘mg ot vear ] T o 4546 o _iﬁ—igﬁBB
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year T _ﬁ o T 746_9_ T —m

fal Mos'ly relates Lo the shane buyback progrem launcngg in 2077,
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended December 31, 2019

In mudfions of CHF

o
€oe =
5 05 3838 B,
& = b4 & Te o =

9B 25 B c¢ EZ 835, 8% _»z

g5 T o £ 2 8t BT sE £ 8 g5

53 =5 e 8 52 g8 RESS ZE 28
Equity as at January 1, 2018 31t (4537 (19612) {181) 84 962 60943 1271 62214
Profit for the year o N - - w- 10135 10135 333 10468
Other comprehensive income for the year e - 93 (13 723 (182) {115 (287}
Total comprehensive income for the year s e 9 } B _(_12} 10 858 9853 721787 10171
Dividends T — == gna gne (319 (7443)
Movement of treasury shares — {6677} s - (4}_!_3) - (6728) - 6 726}
Equity compensation plans e 152 — — (3) 180 3 153
Changes in nnn—contmi?%l_wg mterests — o - — - 181 181 {133) 487
Reduction in share capifal By oan: e Anes -~ o
Total transactions with owners %) (2417} —_ —_ {11103} {(13519) (449} (13 968}
Other mavernents - - 73 w0 w1 —  (14)
Equity as at December 31,2018 306 (65948) {(20432)  (183) 84620 57363 1040 S8403
Equity as at January 1,2019 306  (6948) {20432) _ {183) 84620 57363 1040 58403
Profit for the year - _— e e — 12603 12609 295 12904
Other comprehensive income fo o — - (10%4) (25 (1078 22 {1054}
Total gcmrprrehensrive income for the year — — (1"’0"94) o [¥7] o 12 634 11532 317 11 850
Shidends ST T T T e a6 e
Movemnent of treasury shares — (‘3 945) —— -— 178 @771} s {8 77‘!)_
Equity compensation plans ) — 280 - —  {142) 138 (1} 137
Changes in non-controlling intarests — — - - 4 4 {68} (64)
Reduction in share capital & _ (B} 6 862 — -— {6 854) - s -
Total transactions with owners ‘ (8} (2 804) — — (14 (_)4?) {16 859} _(532} {17 1331)
Other movements e — — 145 ‘{1..‘”) (2} 2 _
Equity as at December 31, 2019 298 (9752) (21526) {45) 83060 52035 827 52862
1) Reduction e share cagual, see Nate
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Notes

1. Accounting policies

Accounting convention and accounting standards
The Consolidated Financial Statements comply with
International Financ¢ial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and with Swiss law.

They have been prepared on a historical cost basis, unless
stated otherwise. All significant consolidated companies,
joint arrangements and associates have a December 31
accounting year-end.

The Consolidated Financial Statements 2018 were approved
for issue by the Board of Directors on February 12, 2020, and
are subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting on
April 23, 2020,

Accounting policies

Accounting policies are included in the relevant notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and are presented
as text highlighted with a grey background. The accounting

pclicies below are applied throughout the financial statements.

Key accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
requires Group Management 1o exercise judgement and to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies, reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabitities and disclosures. These estimates and associated
assumptions are based an historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Actual resuits may differ from
these estimates.

Those areas that involved a higher degree of judgement
or uncertainty are explained further in the relevant notes,
including classification and measurement of assets held for
sale [see Note 2), recognition and estimation of revenue
{see Note 3), presentation of additional line items and sub-
totals in the income statement (see Note 4), identification of
a lease and lease term {see Note 8), identification of cash
generating units (CGUs) and estimation of recoverable amount
for impairment tests (see Note 9}, assessment of useful lives
of intangible assets as finite or indefinite (see Note 9),
measurement of employee benefit obligations (see Note 10},
recognition and measurement of provisions (see Note 11)
and estimation of current and deferred taxes {see Note 13).

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestié Group 2019

Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Group's entities is the currency
of their primary economic envircnment.

In individual companies, transactions in foreign currencies
are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at year-end rates. Any resulting
exchange differences are taken to the income statement,
except when deferred in Other comprehensive income as
qualifying cash flow hedges.

On consclidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations
reported in their functional currencies are translated into
Swiss Francs, the Group's presentation currency, at year-end
exchange rates. Income and expense are translated into Swiss
Francs at the annual weighted average rates of exchange or
at the rate on the date of the transaction for significant items.

Differences arising from the retranslation of opening net
assets of foreign operations, together with differences arising
from the translation of the net results for the year of foreign
operations, are recognized in Other comprehensive income.

When there is a change of control in a foreign operation,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recagnized in the income statement as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Hyperinflationary economies

Several factors are considered when evaluating whether

an economy is hyperinflationary, including the cumulative
three-year inflation, and the degree to which the population's
behaviors and government policies are consistent with such
a condition.

The balance sheet and results of subsidiaries cperating
in hyperinflationary economies are restated for the changes
in the general purchasing power of the local currency, using
official indices at the balance sheet date, before translation
into Swiss Francs and, as a result, are stated in terms of the
measuring unit current at the balance sheet date. The
hyperinflationary eccnomies in which the Group operates
are listed in Note 20.
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1. Accounting policies

Other revenue

Other revenue are primarily sales-based royalties and
license fees from third parties which have been earned
during the pericd.

Expenses

Cost of goods sold is determined on the basis of the cost
of production or of purchase, adjusted for the variation of
invertories. All other expenses, including those in respect
of advertising and promotions, are recognized when the
Group receives the risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods or when it receives the services. Government grants
that are not related to assets are credited to the income
statement as g deduction of the related expense when they
are received, if there is reasonable assurance that the terms
of the grant will be met. Additional details of specific
expenses are provided in the respective notes,

Changes in presentation — analyses by segment
Starting in 2019, following a change of allocation
methodology used to determine segment profit or loss,
some Marketing and administration expenses previously
included under Unallocated items have been allocated to
Operating segments. This was done to Detter reflect the use
of central overheads by each Zone and Globally Managed
Business.

2018 comparatives have been adjusted (see Note 3).
An amount of CHF 102 million has been reallocated from
Unallocated items to Operating segments.

74

Changes in accounting standards

A number of existing standards have been modified on
miscellanecus points with effect from January 1, 2019.

Such changes incfude Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation {Amendments to {FRS 9), Long-term Interests

in Associates and Joint Ventures {Amendments to 1AS 28),
Annual Improvements to (FRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (Amendments
to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and |AS 23}, and Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to 1AS 19).

None of these amendments had a material effect on the
Group's Financial Statements.

The Group early adopted IFRS 16 — Leases and IFRIC 23 -
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments on January 1, 2018
with the impacts already disclosed in the 2018 Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Changes in IFRS that may affect the Group

after December 31, 2019

There are no standards that are not yet effective and that
would be expected to have a material impact on the Group
in the current or future reporting periods.
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2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses,
assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Scope of consolidation
The Consclidated Financial Statements comprise those of Nestlé S A, and of its
subsidiaries {the Group}.

Companies which the Group controls are fully consclidated from the date at which
the Group obtains control. The Group controls a company when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the company and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the company. Though the Group generally
holds a majority of voting rights in the companies which are controlled, this applies
irrespective of the percentage of interest in the share capital if control is obtained
through agreements with other shareholders.

The list of the principal subsidiaries is provided in the secticn Companies of the Nestlé
Group, joint arrangements and associates.

Business combinations

Where not all of the equity of a subsidiary is acquired the non-controlling interests are
recognized at the non-controlling interest’s share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
Upeon abtaining control in a business combination achieved in stages, the Group
remeasures its previously held equity interest at fair value and recognizes a gain or

a loss in the income statement.

2.1 Modification of the scope of consolidation

Acqguisitions
There were no significant acquisitions in 2019.

In 20718, the significant acquisitions were:

~ perpetual global license of Starbucks Consumer Packaged Goods and Foodservice
products (‘Starbucks Alliance’), worldwide — reast and ground coffee, whole beans
as well as instant and porticned coffee (Powdered and Liquid Beverages} - end of August.

~ Atrium Innovations, mainly North America — nutritional health products {Nutrition and
Health Science} = 100%, March.

None of the cther acquisitions of 2018 were significant.

Disposals

In 2018, there were several disposals but only one was significant:

~ Nestlé Skin Health, worldwide — science-based skincare solutions (Nutrition and Health
Science) ~ 100%, beginning of October.

In 2018, the disposals included:

— US Confectionery business, North America - chocolate and sugar preducts
{Confectionery) — 100%, end of March.

~ Gerber Life Insurance, North America - insurance (Nutrition and Health Science) —
100%, end of December.

Nane of the other disposals of 2018 were significant.

Consclidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019



2. Scope of consolidation, acguisitions and dispasals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-controlling interests

2.2 Acquisitions of businesses
The major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are:

in milllens of CHE

Starbucks Atrium

o Total Alliance Innovati@i o Other __ Totat
Property, plant and equipment ) 131 4 i h 62 124
intangible assets @ 31 4 794 1133 65 5993
inventories, prepaid inventories and other assets 17 176 301 59 536
Financial debt 7 o ) {134} ) ) _— ) (37} D) {68}
Employee benefits, deterred taxes and provisions — — - (ed) — (167)
Other liabilit e . (53 (47)
Fair value of identifiable net assets/{liabilities) {8 6271
s Mainly ntefleciLal nroperly nghts, op=iating ngnes vusteme: bsts, tradermarks and tiade namras
The goodwill arising on acquisitions and the cash outflow are:
I millions of CHF
o ) o 2019 ~ 2018 |
Starbucks Adrium
Total Alliance Innovations Other Total
174 7 068 2183 341 9602
102 7 068 2218 347 9631
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, .8 @ora) (B4 1m (8271
Goodwill B 110 2094 1032 234 3360
In millions of CHF
) o B 2019 ‘ 2018 '
Starbucks Atrium
. Total Alliance Innovations Other Total
Fair value of consideration transferred 102 7068 2193 341 9§02
Cash and cash equivalents acquired ‘ — - . 47} ‘ (123 ‘ (593
Consideration payablg . - (8) - e (31) . {31)
Payment of consideration payable on prior years acquisitions 3 e . — — o
Cash outflow on acquisitions 125 7068 2146 T 208 9512

The consideration transferred consists of payments made in cash with scme consideration
remaining payable.
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2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Starbucks Alliance

At the end of August 2018, the Group acquired the perpetual rights to market, sell and
distribute certain Starbucks’ consumer and foodservice products globally {*Starbucks
Alliance’), which transferred control over the existing businesses mainly in North America
and Europe. It excludes Ready-to-Drink products and ali sales of any products within
Starbucks coffee shops. Consumer and foodservice products include Starbucks, Seattle’s
Best Coffee, Teavana, Starbucks VIA Instant, Torrefazione Italia coffee and Starbucks branded
K-Cup pods. Through the Starbucks Alliance, the Group and Starbucks will work closely
together on the existing Starbucks range of roast and ground coffee, whole beans as well
as instant and portioned coffee with the goal of enhancing its product offerings for coffee
fovers globally. This partnership with Starbucks significantly strengthens the Group's
coffee portfolio in the North American premium roast and ground and portioned coffee
business. it also unfocks glebal expansion in grocery and foodservice for the Starbucks
brand, utilizing the global reach of Nestié. This creates synergies that result in goodwill
being recognized, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Atrium innovations

At the beginning of March 2018, the Group acquired Atrium innovations, a global leader in
nutritional health products with sales mainly In North America and Europe. Atrium's brands
are a natural complement to Nestlé Health Science’s Consumer Care portfelio and its
portfolio extends Nestié's product range with value-added solutions such as probiotics,
plant-kased protein nutrition and multivitamins. Atrium’s largest brands are Garden of Life,
the number one brand in the natural products industry in the US; and Pure Encapsulations,
a full line of hypoallergenic, research-based dietary supplements and the number cne
recommended brand in the US practiticner market. The goodwill arising on this acquisition
includes elements such as distribution synergies and strong growth potential and is not
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Acquisition-related costs
Acqguisition-related costs have been recognized under other operating expenses in the
income statement (see Note 4.2) for an amount of CHF 11 million {2018: CHF 35 miilion).

Acquisition planned after Decembaer 31, 2019
On January 27, 2020, the Group announced that it has entered into an asset purchase
agreement with Allergan to acquire the gastrointestinal medication Zenpep. This move
aims to expand Nestle Health Science’s medical nutrition business and cocmplement its
pertfolio of therapeutic products. Zenpep, available in the United States, is @ medication
for people who cannot digest food properly because their pancreas does not provide
enough enzymes to break down fat, protein, and carbohydrates.

The transaction is expected to close in the first half of 2020 concurrent and dependent
upon the merger of Allergan and AbbVie.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019
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2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of nen-controlling interests

2.3 Disposals of businesses

In 2019, the gain on disposals of businesses is mainly compaosed of the disposal of the
Nestlé Skin Health business (part of the Other businesses segment and classified as held

for sate as of December 31, 2018).

In 2018, the gain on disposals of businesses was mainly composed of the disposal at end
of March 2018 of the US Confectionery business (part of the Zone AMS cperating segment
and classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2017}, The lgss on disposals was mainly
composed of the disposal at end of Decernber 2018 of the Gerber Life Insurance business

[part of the Other businesses segment).

In millions of CHF

, . 2018

=

< 2

£ o E

4 _ 35 5 N

g ] g 53 e £ E

2. Lol = G . E

Pro;.zer&, plgngg{lq eqm’prr*wem 435 177 612 8 201 73 282
Goodwill and intangible assets ) 6754 16 6773 1441 — 257 1698
Cash, cash 2 E\(afents and short-term investments 376 25 401 — e 8 8
Irventories 7 7 , 241 23 270 — 127 29 156
Trade aﬁ(ﬁ other receivables, preﬁayments, accrued income -
and other assets 774 "7 891 3644 — 24 3 668
Deferred tax assets 267 2 275 — — — e
Finenciat liabiliies (88} (37) {125) (4} — ) (5)
Employee benefits and provisions (336} 9) {345) - — {11) {11)
Other Iial?i(itles {1177} ) (92} {1 259) (2 449) — {28) {2477}
Deferred tax liabilities 729y {3} {732) - - -— —
Non-controlling interests e e 9 = o) - - - -
Net ass;ts disﬁased of br imparirﬂed afterr;:lassiﬁcration " S S o
as held for sale 6 453 228 6 681 2 640 328 251 3318
Cumnuiative other comprehensive income items, net,
reclassified 10 income statement ‘ 132 — 132 226 37 — 263
Profiti{loss} on disposals, net of disposal costs
and impairments of assets held for sate o 3452 (36) 3 416 {1343 2241 {212 GHE
Total disposal consideration, net of disposal costs 10 037 192 ‘I_(EB T 1523 2 605_ 139 4 268
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of {376) (25) {401) — e {8) {8}
Disposal cosis not yei paid 113 15 128 — 52 — 52
Consideration receivable B - (21) {21) ‘ — . - {4 (4)
Reﬂgt E}f C()nsiliﬁz._{fttiuri recaivable on prior years” disposals —_ 24 24 ‘ - — .2 z
Cash inflow con disposals, net of disposal costs ) 9@ 18)5" _.72;55_ 1 52; —71’4573; T 12? —44—3107
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2. Scope of consolidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-cantrolling interests

2.4 Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale and disposal groups

Nen-current assets held for sale and disposal groups are presented separately in the
current section of the balance sheet when the following criteria are met: the Group is
committed to selling the asset or disposal group, it is available for immediate sale in its
current condition, an active plan of sale has commenced, and in the judgement of Group
Management it is highly probable that the sale will be completed within 12 months.
Immediately before the initial classification of the assets and disposal groups as heid for
sale, the carrying amounts of the assets (or all the assets and liabilities in the disposal
groups} are measured in accordance with the applicable accounting palicy. Assets held
for sale and disposal groups are subsequently measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair vaiue less costs of disposal. Assets held for sale are no fonger amortized
or depreciated.

As of December 31, 2019, assets held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets
held for sale are mainly composed of the US Ice Cream business, the DSD network assets
in the USA for Frozen Pizza and Ice Cream (see Note 9.1.2 legend *} and the Herta charcuterie
business.

Building on the experience of 2016 with the creation of the joint-venture Froneri, the
S ice Cream business {part of the Zone AMS operating segment) has been sold at end
of January 2020 to Froneri to create a global leader inice cream. The US Ice Cream business
has been therefore disclosed as held for sale as at December 31, 2019, The estimated
result on disposal, to be recognized under the heading Other cperating income in the
income statement in 2020, amounts to a gain of around CHF 1 billion including a cumulative
currency translation loss currently recognized in other comprehensive income of about
CHF 0.6 biflion.

As of December 31, 2018, assets held for sale were mainly composed of the Nestlé
Skin Health business.

Consclidated Financial Staterments of the Nestlé Group 2019
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2. Scope of consclidation, acquisitions and disposals of businesses, assets held for sale and acquisitions of non-controlling interests

The composition of assets held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held
for sale at the end of 2019 and of 2018 are the following:

fn millions of CHE

2019 2018
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, i e . Y L RR1E
-
£ £
[ =g

S Z

g z £ g z

2 2 s 5 2
(,as_hrash ;;;;i;ra\ents“;;é"s.fmﬂ,—flgrr;‘invasj[mé}ﬂs o i — 7 V‘MO
lventories o _ o 162 195 16 230
Trade and other recelvabies, prepayments, accrued income
and other assets . ‘ L _ o ) 36 Ik 159 755 91 ) 847
Deferred taxes ) o -2 12 ) 16 314
Property, plant and equipment 7 442 3m 743 100 495
Goodwill and intangile assets o, B0~ 7670 15 BEOZ
Assets held for sale 2310 461 2771 238 8828
Financial fiabilities - (27} an (38) {174) 25 (199)
I1ade and other payables, accruals and deferred income an 07y (183) (10286 67 (1093)
Employee benefits and provisions — o (42) (42} (360} (2} {362)
Deferred taxes - B (100) 126) (126) (722 - (722)
Other Rabilities e et T e 4y (128) — .. 1128}
Liahilities directly associated with assets held for sale (137 | (261) (393) (2 408) (94) (2 502)
Net assets held for sale 2178 200 2378 6182 144 6326

2.5 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss

of control as transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders, For
purchases of shares from non-controlling interests, the difference between any
consideration paid and the refevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. The same principle is applied 1o disposals of
shares to non-controlling interests.

There were several non-significant transactions with nan-controlling interests in 2019,

In 2018, the Group increased its ownership interests in certain subsidiaries, the most
significant one was in China. For China and other countries, the consideration paid to
non-controlling interests in cash amounted to CHF 528 million and the decrease of non-
controlling Interests amounted to CHF 162 million. Part of the consideration was recorded
as a liability in previous years for CHF 510 miilion. The equity attributable to shareholders
of the parent was positively impacted by CHF 144 million,
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3. Analyses by segment

Nestlé is arganized into three geographic zones and several globally managed businesses.
The Company manufactures and distributes food and beverage products in the following
categories: powdered and liquid beverages, water, milk products and ice cream, prepared
dishes and cocking aids, confectionery and petcare. Nestlé also manufactures and
distributes nutritional science products through its glebally managed business Nestlé
Health Science, and science-based solutions that contribute to the health of skin, hair
and naits through Nestlé Skin Health (untll beginning of October 2019). The Group has
factories in 84 countries and sales in 187 countries and employs around 291 000 people.

Segment reporting

Basis for segmentation

Operating segments reflact the Group's management structure and the way financial
infermation is regularly reviewed Dy the Group's chief operating decision maker {CODM),
which is defined as the Executive Board.

The CODM considers the business from both a geographic and product perspective,
through three geographic Zones and several Globally Managed Businesses (GMB).
Zones and GMB that meet the quantitative threshold of 10% of total sales or trading
operating profit for all operating segments, are presented on a stand-alone basis as
reportable segments. Even though it does not meet the reporting threshold, Nestlé
Waters is reported separately for consistency with long-standing practice of the Group.
Therefore, the Group's reportable operating segments are:

— Zone Europe, Middie East and North Africa (EMENA);

— Zone Americas (AMS);

— Zone Asija, Oceania and sub-Saharan Africa (AQA);

— Nestlé Waters.

Other business activities and operating segments, including GMB that do not meet the
threshold, like Nespresso, Nestlé Healinh Science and Nestlé Skin Health, are combined
and presented in Other businesses.

As some operating segments represent geographic Zones, information by product
is also disclosed. The seven preduct groups that are disclosed represent the highest
categories of products that are followed internally.

Revenue and results by segment
Segment results (Trading operating profit) represent the contribution of the different
segments o central overheads, unallocated research and development costs and the
trading operating profit of the Group. Specific corporate expenses as well as specific
research and development costs are allocated to the corresponding segments. In addition
to the Trading operating profit, Underlying Trading operating profit is shown on a voluntary
basis because it is cne of the key metrics used by Group Management to maonitor the
Group.

Depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of property, plant and equipment
{including right-of-use assets under leases) and amortization of intangible assets.
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3. Analyses by segment

Invested capital and other information by segment

No segment assets and liabilities are regularly provided to the CODM to assess segment
performance or to allocate resources and therefore segment assets and liabilities are not
disclosed. However the Group discloses the invested capital, goodwill and intangible
assets by segment and by product on a voluntary basis.

Invested capital comprises property, plant and equipment, trage receivables and
some other receivables, assets held for sale, inventories, prepayments and accrued
income as well as specific financial assets associated to the segments, less trade
payables and scme other payables, liabilities directly associated with assets held for
sale, non-gcurrent other payables as well as accruals and deferred income,

Goodwill and intangible assets are not included in invested capital since the amounts
recognized are not comparable between segments due to differences in the intensity
of acquisition activity and changes in accounting standards which were applicable at
varicus points in time when the Group undertook significant acquisitions. Nevertheless,
an aliocation of goodwill and intangible assets by segment and product and the related
impairment expenses are provided.

Inter-segment eliminations represent inter-company balances between the different
segments.

Invested capital and goodwill and intangible assets by segment represent the situation
at the end of the year, while the figures by product represent the annual average, as this
provides a better indication of the level of invested capital.

Capital additions represent the total cost incurred to acquire property, plant and
equipment {including right-of-use assets under leases), intangible assets and goodwill,
including those arising from business combinations.

Unallocated items

Unallocated items represent items whose allocation to a segment or product would be
arbitrary. They mainly comprise:

~ corporate expenses and related assets/liabilities;

— research and development costs and related assetsfliabilities; and

- some goodwill and intangible assets.

Revenue
Sales represent amounts received and receivable from third parties for goods supplied
to the customers and for services rendered. Sales are recognized when control of the
goods has transferred to the customer, which is mainly upon arrival at the customer.
Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration which the Group expects to
receive, based on the list price applicable to a given distribution channel after deduction
of returns, sales taxes, pricing allowances, other trade discounts and couponing and
price promotions to consumers. The level of discounts, allowances and promotional
rebates is recognized as a deduction from revenue at the time that the related sales are
recognized or when the rebate is offered to the customaer (or consumer if applicable).
They are estimated using judgements based on historical experience and the specific
terms of the agreements with the customers. Payments made to customers for
commercial services received are expensed. The Group has a range of credit terms
which are typically short term, in line with market practice and without any financing
component.
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3. Analyses by segment

The Group does not generally accept sales returns, except in limited cases mainly

in the Infant Nutrition business. Historical experience is used to estimate such returns
at the time of sale. No asset is recognized for products to be recoverable from these
returns, as they are not anticipated to be resold.

Trade assets (mainly coffee machines, water coolers and freezers) may be sold or
leased separately to customers.

Arrangements where the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership to the customer are treated as finance lease arrangements,
Operating lease revenue for trade asset rentals is recognized on a straight-fine basis
over the lease term.

Sales are disaggregated by product group and gecgraphy in Notes 3.2 and 3.4,
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3. Analyses by segment

3.1 Operating segments
Revenue and results

tn millions of CHF
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3. Analyses by segment

Invested capital
and other information
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3. Analyses by segment

3.2 Products
Revenue and results

In mitions of CHF
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3. Analyses by segment

Invested capital
and other information

i millions of OHE
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3. Analyses by segment

3.3a Reconciliation from Underlying Trading cperating profit to Profit before taxes,

associates and joint ventures

in millions of CHF

o 2018
Underlying Trading operating profit ® _ T T T skt
Net other trading incame/f{expenses) - - i - {1732
Frading operating prt;fii't 13 788
Impairment of goodwill and non-commarcialized intangible assets (626)
Net other operating income/{expenses) excluding impairment ot goodwill
and non-commercialized intangible assets } R 3183 588
Operating profit 16078 13752
Net financial incomefexpense) - S o bee o uen
Profit before taxes, associates and joint ventures 15 062 12991
@ Trading operating profil betore Net ciher 13dng income’ e @enses)
3.3b Reconciliation from invested capital to total assets
fn miftions of CHF

_ 2019 _ 2018

invested capital as per Nate 3.1 28784 29423
Liabifities included n invested capital - 23364 24230
subtotal 51648 53653
intangible assets and goodwill as per Note 3.7 & 48 3980 57138
Other assets 27902 26224
Totalassets 127940 137015

@) Igluehing Intang.cle 8azets an goodw il dlassified a3 asaes Neod oo sale of T F 1R70 millio 2018 CHF GROZ 1nillanl,

s N oste 2 A
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3. Analyses by segment,

3.4 Disaggregation of sales by geographic area (country and type of market)

The Group disaggregates revenue from the sale of goods by major product group as
shown in Note 3.2. Disaggregaticon of sales by geographic area is based on customer
location and is therefore not a view by management responsibility as disclosed by
operating segments in Note 3.1

in milfions of CHF

e e 2018

EMENA 26 499

France 7 7 4423 4561
tinited Kingdom 2917 - 2930
Germany ‘ ‘ ] - 2632 2752
Russia ‘ ‘ S 1703 1585
taly S o o - 1674 1819
Spain o ) S ) ) 14812 1852
Sweitrerland , o o , o 1164 1241
Rest of EMENA 0474 10440
AMS 42 281 41063
United States o o 28831 21818
Brazit R ) 364/ 3683
Mexico ) _l o . o ) - ) 2934 2813
Canada o o 2182 2064
AOA 232788 23486
Greater China Region S ) o - S 7 Ga13 - 7004
Philippines ) o S o - 2643 2478
Japan o 1816 1782
indlia ' S 1667 1529
Australia ' - - 1468 1852
Rast of AOA e 2943
Totat sales S 92 568 91 439

of which developos markets 53040

38399

of which emarging markels
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3. Analyses by segment

3.5 Geography

Sales and non-current assets in Switzerland and countries which individually represent
at least 10% of the Group sales or 10% of the Group non-current assets are disclosed

separately,

The analysis of sales is stated by customer location.
Non-current assets relate to property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets under leases), intangible assets and goodwill. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets are attributed to the country of their legal owner. Goodwil! is attributed

to the countries of the subsidiaries where the related acquired business is operated.

in millions of CHF

B 2079 RO

Nan-current Non-current

Sales assets ___Sales assets

United States 28831 30344 27618 32925
Switzerland 1164 15257 1241 10 847
62573 29887 . ... 02580 36520

- 92568 75482 31439 80 292

3.6 Customers

There is no single customer amounting to 10% or more of Group's revenues.
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4. Net other trading and operating incomef(expenses)

Other trading incomef(expenses)

These comprise restructuring cests, impairment of property, plant and eguipment and

intangible assets (other than goodwill and non-commercialized intangible assets),

litigations and onerous contracts, result on disposal of property, plant and eguipment,

and specific other income and expenses that fall within the control of operating segments.
Restructuring costs are restricted to dismissal indemnities and employee benefits paid

to terminated employees upon the reorganization of a business or function. Jt does not

include dismissal indemnities paid for normal attrition, poer performance, professional

misconduct, etc,

Other operating income/(expenses)

These comprise impairment of goodwill and non-commercialized intangible assets, results
on disposals of businesses (including impairment and subsequent remeasurement of
businesses classified as held for sale, as well as other directly related disposal costs like
restructuring costs directly linked to businesses disposed of and legal, advisory and other
professional fees), acquisition-related costs, the effect of the hyperinflation accounting,
and income and expenses that fall beyond the control of operating segments or relate

to events such as natural disasters and expropriation of assets.

4.1 Net other trading income/{expenses}

in millions of CHF

Notes, 2 9 2018
Other trading income 163 37
Restwcturing costs T S 553} - 85Y
impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets @ 89 {1 55%) (622}
Litigations and onerous contracts (483} (438}
Miscollaneous trading expenses e Jaser o bEl
Other trading expenses {2 749) {1769)
Total net other trading income/{expenses) {25886) {1732)

133 Lxcluding

noa-cdmmereialized irang ble 3ses,

In 2019, other trading expenses are mainly composed of:

- CHF 1024 million of impairment of property, plant and equipment (CHF 459 million)
and intangible assets (CHF 565 million) related to the Yinlu cash generating unit

(see Note 9); and

— CHF 461 million of one-off costs representing impairment charges related to property,

plant, restructuring costs, and onerous contracts and other expenses related to the
decision taken by the Group in the second guarter of 2019 to exit of Direct-Store-

Delivery {DSD) network in the USA far Frozen Pizza and lce Cream.
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4. Net other trading and operating income/f{expenses)

4.2 Net other operating income/{expenses)

in millions of CHF

o Netes 3w 2018
Profit on disposal of businesses 7 3591 2344
Miscellaneous operating income . - 1 A
Other operating income 3Nz 2 535
Loss on disnl;érof businesses o P (175) {1 658}
Impairmeant ot goodwill and non-commercialized infangible assets u {779) {6526}
Miscellaneaus operating expenses S 1) SOOI ...
Other operating expenses {1313} {2572}
Total net other operating incomef{expenses) 2404 (37}

In 2018, profit on disposal of business mainly relates to the result of disposal of the Nestlé

Skin Health business of CHF 3452 million {see Note 2.3).

In 2019, impairment of goodwill and non-commercialized intangible assets mainly
includes a goodwill impairment of the Hsu Fu Chi cash generating unit of CHF 502 million

(see Note 9).

5. Net financial income/{expense}

Net financial incomel{expense) includes net financing cost of net financial debt and net

interest incomef{expense) on defined benefit plans.

Net financing cost comprises the interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents
and short4erm investments, as well as the interest expense on financial debt (inciuding
leases), collectively termed “net financial debt” (see Note 16.5}. These headings also
include other income and expense such as exchange differences on net financial debt
and results on related foreign currency and interest rate hedging instruments. Certain
borrowing costs are capitalized as explained under the section on Property, plant and

equipment.

In milligns of CHF

Nes ) 2019 _ - 291}1
interes! income 161 212
Interes! expense ) B £1026) azo
Net financing cost of net financial debt (865) {608)
frterest income on defined benefit plans 349 35
interest expense on defined benefit plans I A1 -1 (186}
Net interest income/(expense) on defined benefit plans 10 (149) (15%)
Gther o (21 @)
Net financial income/{expense) {1016} {761)
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6. Inventories

Raw materials are valued at the lower of purchase cost calculated using the FIFO (first-in,
first-out) method and net realizable value. Work in progress, sundry supplies and
finished goods are valued at the lower of their weighted average cost and net realizable
value. The cost of inventories inciudes the gainsflosses on cash flow hadges for the
purchase of raw materials and finished goods.

I millions of CHE

Raw materials, work in progress and sundry supplies S o ‘ 4116 3889
Finished goods 7 ] 5472 ) 5435
Allgwance for wiite-dawn 1o net realizable value B ) I AL
9343 9125

Inventaries amecunting to CHF 278 million (2018: CHF 260 million) are pledged as security
for financial liabilities.
7. Trade and other receivables/payables
7.1 Trade and other receivables

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at their transaction price and

subsequently measured at amortized cost less loss aliowances.

Expected credit fosses

The Group applies the IFRS @ simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses

(ECLs) for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The ECLs on trade

receivables are calculated based on actual credit loss experience over the preceding

three to five years on the total balance of non-credit impaired trade receivables. The

Group’s credit loss experience has shown that aging of receivable balances is primarily

due to negotiations about variable consideration.

The Group considers a trade receivable to be credit impaired when one cr mare

detrimental events have cccurred such as:

— significant financial difficulty of the customer; or

— itis becoming probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganization.

impairment losses related to trade and other receivables are not presented separately

in the consolidated income statement but are reported under the heading Marketing

and administration expenses.
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7. Trade and other receivables/payables

In millions of CHF

Gross Expected Gross Expected
carrying credit loss carrying credit loss
amount allowance Total amount allowance Total
Trade receivables {not credit impaired) 9463 (55) Q408 9141 [E10] 9 0N
Other receivables (not credit impaired) 2375 {34) 2347 2098 4n 2057
Credit impaired trade and other receivables 23@ o (7?‘) . 17 239 {220 19
Total i 12076 {310) 11766 11478 (311) 11157
The five major customers represent 13% (2018; 12%) of trade and other receivables,
none of them individually exceeding 7% (2018: 6%).
Based on the histeric trend and expected performance of the customers, the Group
believes that the above expected credit loss allowance sufficiently covers the risk of
default.
7.2 Trade and other payables by type
Recognition and measurement
Trade and cther payables are recognized initially at their transaction price and
subseguently measured at amortized cost,
Supplier finance arrangements
The Group participates in supplier finance arrangements under which suppliers may
elect to receive early payment by factering their receivables from the Group. The due
dates of the payments by the Group are based on the agreed trade terms with the
suppliers, are compliant with the applicable regulations and remain consistent with the
normal operating cycle of its business.
The Group continues to present invoices eligible to be settled through these programs
as Trade payables considering that the criginal liakility is neither legally released nor
substantially medified on entering into such arrangements. Related payments are
included within operating cash flows because they remain operational in nature.
In millions of CHF
2019 2018
Due within one year ) )
Trade payables ‘ 14017 13 045
Socikal securtly and sundry taxes and levies . 1900 1034
Other payables o - B - - 2 886 2 B8Z1
18803 " 17800
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8. Property, plant and equipment
Property, ptant and equipment comprises cwned and leased assets.

In mitlions of CHF

,, 2019 208
Property, plant and equipment — owned o ?‘SéS? 7 26 837
Right-of-use assets - leased o 3210 3115
' 28 762 29 956
8.1 Owned assets
Owned property, plant and equipment are shown on the balance sheet at their historical
cost.
Depreciation is assessed on components that have hemogenous useful lives by using
the straight-line method to depreciate the initial cost down to the residual value over the
estimated useful lives. The residual values are 30% on head offices and nit for all other
asset types. The useful lives are as follows:
Buildings 20-40 years
Machinery and equipment 10-25 years
Tools, furniture, information technology
and sundry eguipment 3-15 years
Vehicles 3-10 years
Land is not depreciated.
Useful lives, components and residual amounts are reviewed annually. Such a review
takes into consideration the nature of the assets, their intended use including but not
limited to the closure of facilities and the evolution of the technology and competitive
pressures that may lead to technical obsolescence.
Depraciation of property, plant and equipment is allocated to the appropriate headings
of expenses by function In the income statement.
Borrowing costs incurred during the course of construction are capitalized if the assets
under construction are significant and if their construction requires a substantial period
to complete {typically more than one year). The capitalization rate is determined on the
basis of the short-terrm borrowing rate for the period of construction.
Gavernment grants are recognized as deferred income which is refeased to the income
statement over the useful life of the related assets.
95
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8. Properly, plant and equipment

in millions of CHF

Tools,
Machinery furniture
Land and and and other
e i R _.bulldings  equipment equipment  Vehicles = Total
Net carrying amount
At January 1, 2018 ~ o 11 469 12958 2248 81 26 837
Capital expeﬂd»turé @ ) 1 ().ﬁg 1929 654 43 3692
Acguisitions through business combinations —_ 3] 1 1 {3}
Depreciation (433) {1 50%) (736} {58) (2732)
Impairments EEC (263) CBe o . 1860)
Disposals =~ o . 87 47 @8 (9} (151)
Classification (te)ftrom held for sale and disposals of businesses {37 (361 ~(54) 3 (783)
Currency retranslations ... U 2 ) B € o (e4B)
At December 31, 2019 10 895 12 427 139 25552
- Gross value ) Rl 427 560718
.-/i(:c:L;rrmlm‘::d depreamstion and \Va;w_g:::yrmcm:; {18 L!H) (__2{%8) {30 526)
Net carrying amount i B ' o
At January 1, 2018 _mn7 13461 2092 196 27666
Capital expenditure o 7 T o028 2013 782 a0 3860
Acquisitions through business combinations o 34 38 8 1 81
Depreciation - (484) {1881) (742) (2 858)
impairments . (138) (268) {18) (432}
Disposals ' o . (B1) {55) (28) {158)
Class{ﬁpatior: {ta)/fmm held for sale and disposals of businesses {232} (166} {48) {447}
ney retransiot] - _ {392) lasny 2. __875)
cember 31, 2 B 11 469 12959 2248 26 837
Grozs value 17747 BEARAE [ER¥] 57 669
Accunaiated df-)_i;:; :a{ion and imparmaents ;G 278) (18334) B22h) {30 832)

trickeching Boros

! 405,
{5y Total nehides Ch

2 mil o redated to the Yindu $G3U oge Nowe AT ane § 0 1)

At December 31, 2019, property, plent and equipment include CHF 1988 million of assets

under construction {2018: CHF 1528 million). Net property, plant and equipment

of CHF 163 million are pledged as security for financial liabilities {2018: CHF 208 million).
At December 37, 2019, the Group was committed to expenditure amounting to

CHF 6895 million (2018: CHF 797 million).
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Reviews of the carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment are
performed when there is an indication of impairment. An indicator could be unfavorable
development of a business under competitive pressures or severe economic slowdown
in a given market as well as rearganization of the operations to leverage their scale.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value, based on the time valug of money and the risks specific to the country
where the assets are located. The risks specific to the asset arg included in the
determination of the cash flows.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment arises mainly from the plans to optimize
industrial manufacturing capacities by closing or selling inefficient production facilities
as well as underperforming businesses (see Note 9.1.7).

8.2 Leases — Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract.
This assessment involves the exercise of judgement about whether it depends on

a specified asset, whether the Group cbtains substantially all the economic benefits from
the use of that asset, and whether the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

The Group recognizes a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less which are
expensed in the income statemeant on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that
are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicitin the
tease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses an incremental borrowing
rate specific to the country, term and currency of the contract. Lease payments can
include fixed payments; variable payments that depend on an index or rate known at the
commencement date; and extension option payments or purchase options which the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise. The lease liability is subseguently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method and remeasured (with
a corresponding adjustment to the retated ROU asset) when there is a change in future
fease payments in case of renegotiation, changes of an index or rate or in case of
reassessment of options.

At inception, the ROU asset comprises the initial lease liability, initial direct costs and
the obligations to refurbish the asset, less any incentives granted by the lessors. The
ROU asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term gr the useful life of the
underlying asset. The ROU asset is subject to testing for impairment if there is an indicator
for impairment, as for owned assets.

ROU assets are included in the heading Property, plant and equipment, and the lease
liability is included in the headings current and non-current Financial debt.
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8.2a Description of lease activities
Real estate leases

The Group feases land and buildings for its office and warehouse space and retail stores.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. Leases are typically made for a fixed pericd of 5-15 years and may
include extension eptions which provide operational flexibility. If the Group exercised all
extension options not currently included in the lease liability, the additional payments

would amount to CHF 0.8 billion {undiscounted] at December 31, 2019.

Vehicles leases

The Group leases trucks for distribution in specific businesses and cars for management

and sales functions. The average contract duration is 6 years for trucks and

Other leases

3 years for cars.

The Group also leases Machinery and equipment and Teols, furniture and other equipment

that combined are insignificant to the total leased asset portfolic.

8.2b Right-of-use assets

i millions of CHF

Land and

buildings Vehicles B Other ~ Total
Net carrying amount
At January 1, 2019 _ _ L.288 A28 L. 88 RS
Additions T o 710 176 ) 116 1002
Depreciation {535} (142} 79 {756}
impairments 7 1) (102} ' (123)
Classification tol/from held for sale and change of -sco-pe . o
of consalidation, net 9 168) (8) 17
C_yf_rg_{y_g_s{__rg;}[grj_s_!_étic:ris and others (41} 13 5 {49
AtDecember 31,2019 T2727 291 192 3210
Net carrying amount ’
At January 1, 2018 2547 415 148 3111
Additions 511 181 83 775
Depreciation {512) {156} {78) {746)
Impairments {67} —_ — {67)
Classificalion {(t0}/from héid‘fm sale and change of S{:opu‘
of cansolidation, net (54) (10} (4) (68}
Currency ietransi&zy_orss and others a8 [va] 18 114
At December 31, 2018 2523 428 168 3119

o8
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8. Property, plant and equipment

8.2¢ Other lease disclosures
A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is shown in Note 12.2b.

The Group incurred interest expense on lease liahilities of CHF 98 million
(2018: CHF 98 million). The expense relating to short-term leases and variable lease
payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities is not significant. The total
cash outflow for leases amounted to CHF 1141 million {2018: CHF 994 million},

There are no significant lease commitments for leases not commenced at year-end,

9. Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognized during a business combination (see Note 2). Subseqguently
it is measured at cost less impairment.

Intangible assets
This heading includes intangible assets that are internally generated or acquired, either
separately or in a business combination, when they are identifiable and can be reliably
measured. Internally generated intangible assets {essentially management information
system scftware) are capitalized provided that there is an identifiable asset that will be
useful in generating future benefits in terms of savings, economies of scale, etc.
Payments made to third parties in order to in-license or acquire intellectual property
rights, compounds and products are capitalized as non-commercialized intangible
assets, as they are separately identifiable and are expected to generate future benefits,
Neon-commercialized intangible assets are not amertized, but tested for impairment
{see Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets below}. Any impairment charge is
recorded in the consolidated income statement under Other operating expenses. They
are reclassified as commercialized intangible assets once development is complete,
usually when approval for sales has been granted by the relevant regulatory authority.
Indefinite life intangible assets mainly cemprise certain brands, trademarks,
operating rights and intellectual property rights which can be renewed without
significant cost and are supported by ongoing marketing activities, They are not
amortized but tested for impairment annually or more frequently if an impairment
indicator is triggered. Any impalrment charge is recorded in the consolidated income
statement under Other trading expenses. The assessment of the classification of
intangible assets as indefinite is reviewed annually.
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Finite life intangible assets are amortized over the shorter of their centractual or useful
economic lives. They comprise mainly management information systems, patents and
rights to carry on an activity {e.g. exclusive rights to sell products or to perform a supply
activity). Finite life intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis assuming

a zero residual value: management infarmation systems over a period ranging from

3 to B years; other finite intangible assets over the estimated useful life or the related
contractual period, generally 5 to 20 years or longer, depending on specific circumstances.
Usefui lives and residual values are reviewed annually. Amortization of finite life intangible
assets starts when they are available for use and is allocated to the appropriate headings
of expenses by function in the income statement. Any impairment charge is recorded
in the consolidated income statement under Other trading expenses.

Research and development
Internal research costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which they
are incurred. Development costs are only recognized as assets on the balance sheet
if all the recognition criteria set by 1AS 38 ~ Intangible Assets are met before the products
are launched on the market. Development costs are generally charged to the income
statement in the year in which they are incurred due to uncertainties inherent in the
development of new products because the expected future economic benefits cannot
be reliably determined. As long as the products have not reached the market place,
there is no reliable evidence that positive future cash flows would be obtained.
Capitalized development costs are subsequently accounted for as described in the
section Intangibie assets above.
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

In millions of CHF

2 -
= c
= E t_a“ g: 2 5 § é " 2 28
3 gEY 5.5 SER _®p it
g 5T e 588 288 2z
L] oS & (== =ZE3 FEaw CE &
Net carrying amount
At Janvary 1, 2019 o o 31702 12195 5349 10%0 18634 913
Expenditure T — 50 112 354 516 S
Acguistions through business combinations 110 3 27 1 3 —
Amertization o ‘ - 2 {44) (179 (225) (147)
Impairments W ) S . (r19) (708} {14} (55 {774) (54}
Bisposals . o — 3 3 {1 (17) (1}
Classification {to}/from held for sale and disposals of .11L4;;in§esse; {1713) a0y 3 (13) (50) {7}
Curency retranslations S 2. IO 7 DU -/ B €/ SR 1) BN -
At December 31, 2019 ) 28 896 11 306 5328 1190 17824 1080
Cof which mndefinde useful ife ) — SM2re 4630 — 15 966 —_
ot which non-cammercialized thje;r}g:bk\-é-r.;\;ts ) - - 25 7 187 -— 7 721 2 —
At bébeﬁber 31, 2019»"7 - - ] - )
| Gross valuy - 33596 12 108 Y, L5071 23127 a8/
CAccumulated amortization end Impairments S (4 'mﬁ) {803} (389) {4 HTV) {5 303) {3 797
Net carrying amount T : ) . .
At January 1, 2018 ' ‘ . 29746 17125 2420 1o7o 208615 886
Expenditure o . N . T ) - -8 220 373 601 301
Acquisitions through business combinations 3380 1037 4930 2% 5992 -
Amortization S - 8 9 (165 {(320) (122)
Impaicments © ‘ o 7 (592) (56 (29) (1) {156) ©1)
E:)is;posrais ) ) - e - -— —_ -
Classification {te}ffrom held for sale and disposals of businesses {645) {5620} 1z096) (137 (7 853) 186)
Curencyretransiotions . Wen @3 00 m @48
At December 31,2018 o o 31702 12195 5349 1090 18634 913
of which indefinite Lseful hfe 7 — 1272 4700 o 16872 —
of which non-comimercialized mtangible eilsseif_s 7 . —_ 6 140 - 208 -
At December 31, 2018
Gioss value ) 360217 17370 5523 B Gh4 23067 4531
{\Ccumuﬁétcd amc‘miz-auuﬁ :m‘d‘ |lﬁrpa;r'rrlerwis , l , . _(4 319) (125 (3;’54) ) _:"3 96{;) {4 433) (3 4968)
{3} Tatal wmparment of goodwall of THF 779 million includas THE 502 milkon refated to tne Hsu Fu Thi cash generating unit
Zone AQA Y hote 4
impa-rmant of bran irtallactuel prope atg 0f CHF 705 mull an includes CHE 505 mikkon relzted to
47 ang
- AERG ) petual nghts 1o market artai~ Starbuchs’
sobaly, tlass o3| 2 capuon On
sercialized ple assels
Cansolidated Financial Staternents of the Nestlé Group 2019 101



9. Goodwill and intangble assats

In addition to the above, the Group has entered into long-term agreements to in-license
or acquire intellectual property or operating rights from some third parties or asscciates
{related parties). If agreed objectives or performance targets are achieved, these
agreements may reguire potential milestone payments and other payments by the Group,
which may be capitalized as non-commercialized intangible assets {see accounting policy
in Note 9 — Intangible assets).

As of December 31, 2019, the Group's committed payments {undiscounted and not risk-
adjusted) and their estimated timing are:

ln millions of CHF

2019 e e 2018
Potential Potential
Unconditional milestane Unconditional milestone
commitments payments Total _ commitments payments Total
Within one year ) i” B - 74 55 47 102
In the second year o . .—_ ) 33 — 77 77
In the third and fourth year V I S1 — 40 44
Thereofter — 5T s 726
Total L 755 55 890 945
of whech relaled parties — a47 487 — £330 635

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (including non-commercialized
intangible assets}

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life or not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually and when there is an indication of impairment. Finite life
intangible assets are tested when there is an indication of impairment.

The annual impairment tests are performed at the sarme time each year and at the
cash generating unit {CGU) level. The Group defines its CGU for goodwill impairment
testing based on the way that it monitors and derives economic benefits from the
acquired goodwill. For indefinite life intangible assets, the Greup defines its CGU as
the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Finally, the CGU
for impairment testing of non-commercialized intangible assets is defined at the level
of the intangible asset itself. The impairment tests are performed by comparing the
carrying value of the assets of these CGU with their recoverable amount, usually based
on their value in use, which corresponds to their future projected cash flows discounted
at an approptiate pre-tax rate of return, Usually, the cash flows correspond to estimates
made by Group Management in financia! plans and business strategies covering a period
of five years after making adjustments to consider the assets in their current condition.
They are then projected to perpetuity using @ multiple which corresponds to a steady or
declining growth rate. The Group assesses the uncertainty of these estimates by
making sensitivity analyses. The discount rate reflects the cutrent assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU (essentially country risk). The
business risk is included in the determination of the cash flows. Both the cash flows
and the discount rates include inflation.

An impairment less in respect of goodwill is never subsequently reversed.
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

9.1 Impairment

9.1.1 Impairment charge during the year

The 2079 impairment charge mainly relates to Zone ACA and more specifically the Yinlu
{peanut milk and canned rice porridge) business in China. The Yinlu CGU is composed
mainly of intangible assets with indefinite useful life (brand), and property, plant and
equipment,

Despite various improvement projects and re-organizations, the business of the Yinlu
CGU has continued to underperform for 2 number of years. The strategy, portfolio and
business plans were reviewed due to a challenging competitive environment and results
below expectations in the second half of 2019, including the mid-autumn festivat season.

The annual impairment test performed during the second half considered these
economic conditions and revised business plans to determine the higher of the “value
in use” and the “fair value less costs of disposal”, in accordance with |AS 36,

The recoverable amount of CHF 305 million for the CGU was based on management's
estimates of the “fair value less costs of disposal” and was allccated to property, plant
and equipment of CHF 205 million and a residual of CHF 100 million was allocated to
intangible assets. As a result of this test, an impairment of CHF 1024 million has been
recognized under the heading Other trading expenses in the income statement
(see Note 4.7).

Other 2019 impairment charge relates to various non-significant impairments of
goodwill {mainly in Zone AOA} and intangible assets (mainly in Zone AMS).

The impairment charge in 2018 related to various impairments of goodwill {predeminantiy
in Zone AQA) and intangible assets. None of them were individually significant.
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

9.1.2 Annual impairment tests

Impairment reviews have been conducted for more than 50 Cash Generating Units (CGU).
The following table sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs that have significant

Goodwill or Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life allocated to them.

Period of Annual Annual Terminal Pre-tax
Carrying cash flow sales margin growth discount
amount  projections growth evolution rate rate
Goodwill CGU
PetCare Zone AMS 7742 5 years 4% to 7% Decliring 2.7% B.4%
Nutrition Zone AQA L~ ... ...  bBes  byears | A%toS%  Seble  36%  9.5%
Other (GUs 152861
Total Goodwill 28 896
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life CGU
Nestlé Nutrition Worldwide ) o 5593 bByesrs 3% t04% Improvement 3.4% 10.3%
Nestle Starbucks North America e e e e, (32800 Byears o 5% Improvement  23%  7.5%
Subtotal - gga4 -
6122 o o
15 966
Gaoodwill CGU
PetCare Zone AMS ) o Js8r byears  5%1o7% Declining 8.6%

| 2%to5%  Stable 10.3%

Nutnition Zone AOA
g 0% t0 1%

zen Pizza and lee Cream - USA®)

Subtotal
Othes CGUs
Total Gooedwill

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life CGU

Nestlé Nutrition Worldwide 5677 5 yoars 2% to 4% Improvement

Nestlé Starbucks North America 430 5 years 3% 1o 5% Empruvemen-t

Subtotal 9 998 o

Other CGUs 5874 o T
Total intangible assets with indefinite useful life 16872 T )

@b in the secord quaital 6f 2019, the Group cecis o oent tha Calvs S0 retwsrk in
d sengrsting unit
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets

For each significant CGU the recoverable amount is higher than its carrying amount. The
recoverable amount has been determined based upon a value-in-use calculation. Cash
flows have been projected cver 5 years. They have been extrapolated using a steady or
declining terminal growth rate and discounted at a pre-tax weighted average rate.

Finally, the following has been taken into account in the impairment tests:

~ The pre-tax discount rates have been computed based on external sources of information.

- The cash flows for the first five years were based upon financial plans approved by
Group Management which are consistent with the Group's approved strategy for this
period. They are based on past performance and current initiatives.

— The terminal growth rates have been determined to reflect the long-term view of the
nominal evolution of the business.

Management believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key
assumptions would czuse the CGU's recoverable amount to fall below the carrying value
of the CGUs,

10. Employee benefits

10.1 Employee remuneration

The Group's salaries of CHF 11 811 million {2018: CHF 12 196 millicn) and welfare expenses
of CHF 3983 million {2018: CHF 4234 miliion) represent a total of CHF 15 794 million
(2018:; CHF 16 430 million). In addition, certain Group employees are eligible to long-term
incentives in the form of equity compensation plans, for which the cost amounts to

CHF 307 million (2018: CHF 227 millicn). Employee remuneration is allocated to the
appropriate headings of expenses by function.

10.2 Post-employment benefits

The liabilities of the Group arising from defined benefit obligations, and the related
current service cost, are determined using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial
advice is provided both by external consultants and by actuaries employed by the Group.
The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the defined benefit obligations vary according
to the economic conditions of the country in which the plan is located. Such plans are
either externally funded {in the form of independently administered funds) or unfunded.
The deficit or excess of the fair value of plan assets over the present value of the defined
benefit obligation is recognized as a liability or an asset on the balance sheet.

Pension cost charged to the income statement censists of service cost {current and
past service cost, gains and losses arising from curtailment and settlement) and
administration costs (other than costs of managing plan assets), which are allocated
to the appropriate heading by function, and net interest expense or income, which is
presented as part of net financial incomeflexpense). The actual return less interest
income on plan assets, changes in actuarial assumptions, and differences between
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred are reported in other comprehensive
income.
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Some benefits are also providged by defined contribution plans. Contributions to such
plans are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Certain disclosures are presented by geographic area. The three regions disclosed are
Europe, Middle East and North Africa (EMENA), Amaericas (AMS) and Asia, Oceania and
sub-Saharan Africa (AOA). Each region includes the correspanding Zones as well as the
portion of the GMB activity in that region.

Pensions and retirement benefits

Apart from legally required social security arrangements, the majority of Group employees
are eligible for benefits through pension plans in case of retirement, death in service,
disability and in case of resignation. Those plans are either defined contribution plans

or defined benefit plans based on pensionable remuneration and length of service. All
pension plans comply with local tax and legal restrictions in their respective country,
including funding ebligations.

The Group manages its pensicn plans by geographic area and the major plans, classified
as defined benefit plans under IAS 19, are located in EMENA {Switzerland, United Kingdom
and Germany} and in AMS (USA). In accordance with applicable legal frameworks, these
plans have Boards of Trustees or General Assemblies which are generally independent from
the Group and are responsible for the management and governance of the plans.

In Switzerland, Nestié's pension plan is a cash balance plan where contributions are
expressed as a percentage of the pensicnable salary. The pension plan guarantees the
amount accrued on the members’ savings accounts, as well as a minimum interest on those
savings accounts, At retirement date, the savings accounts are converted iNnto pensions.
However, members may opt to receive a part of the pension as a lump sum. Increases
of pensions in payment are granted on a discretionary bas’s by the Board of Trustees,
subject to the financial situation of the plan. To be noted that there is also a defined benefit
plan that has been closed to new entrants in 2013 and whose members below age 55 as of
that date were transferred to the cash balance plan. This heritage plan is a hybrid between
a cash balance plan and a plan based on a final pensionable salary. Finally, the Group has
committed to make additional contricutions up to @ maximum of CHE 440 million, of which
CHF 128 million had been contributed as at December 31, 2018, in coordination with
a decrease in conversion rates applicable since July 1, 2018.

In the United Kingdom, Nestlé’'s pension plan is a hybrid arrangement combining
a defined benefit career average section plus a defined contributicn section. The defined
benefit section was closed ta new entrants during 2076. In the defined benefit section,
from August 2017 onwards, members accrue a pension defined on their capped salary
each year, plus defined contribution provision above the capped salary. Accrued pensions
are gutomatically revalued according to inflation, subject to caps. Similarly, pensions
in payment are increased annually in line with inflaticn, subject to caps as applicable.

At retirement, there is a lump sum option. Finally, the funding cf the shortfall of the Nestlé
UK Pension Fund is defined on the basis of a triennial independent actuariat valuation in
accordance with local regulations. As a result, an amount of GBP 87.5 miliion has been paid
by Nestlé UK Lid during the year in accordance with the agreed schedule of contributions.
The undiscounted future payments after December 31, 2018, related to the shortfall, amount
to GBP 322.5 million {GBP 173.5 million between 2020 to 2021 and GBP 149 million in 2022).

Nestlé's pension plan in Germany is a cash balance plan, where members benefit from
a guarantee on their savings accounts. Contributions to the plan are expressed as
a percentage of the pensionable salary. Increases to pensions in payment are granted
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in accordance with legal requirements. There is alsc a heritage plan, based on final
pensionable salary, which has been closed to new entrants since 2006.

In the USA, Nestlé's primary pension plan is a pension equity design, under which
members earn pension credits each year based on a schedule related to the sum of their age
and service with Nestlé. A member’s benefit is the sum of the annual pension credits earned
multiplied by an average earning payable as a lump sum. However, in tieu of the lump sum,
members have the option of converting the benefit to a monthly pension annuity. The plan
does not provide for automatic pension increases and members do not contribute to the
plan. This plan was closed to new entrants at the end of 2015 and replaced by a defined
contribution scheme. The pension plan is sufficiently funded on a local statutory basis
such that no contributions were required in 2079.

Post-employment medical benefits and other employee benefits

Subsidiaries, principally in AMS, maintain medical benefit plans, classified as defined
benefit plans under 1AS 19, which cover eligible retired employees. The obligations for
other employee bernefits consist mainly of end of service indemnities, which do not have
the character of pensions.

Risks refated to defined benefit plans

The main risks to which the Group is exposed in relation to operating defined benefit

plans are:

- market and liquidity risks: these are the risks that the investments do not meet the
expected returns over the medium to long-term. This also encompasses the mismatch
between assets and liahllities. In order to minimize the risks, the structure of the portfolios
is reviewed and asset-liability matching analyses are performed on a regular basis.

- mortality risk: the assumptions adopted by the Group make allowance for future
improvements in life expectancy. However, if life expectancy improves at a faster rate
than assumed, this would result in greater payments from the plans and consequently
increases in the plans’ lizbilities. In order to minimize this risk, mortality assumptions
are reviewed on a regular basis.

As certain of the Group's pension arrangements permit benefits to be adjusted in the case

that downside risks emerge, the Group does not always have full exposure to the risks

described above.

Plan amendments and restructuring events

Plans within the Group are regularly reviewed as to wheather they are aligned with market
practice in the local context. Should a review indicate that a plan needs to be changed,
prior agreement with the local Board of Trustees or the General Assembly, the regulator
and, if applicable, the members, is scught before implementing plan changes.

During the year, there were individually non-significant pfan amendments and restructuring
activities leading to curtailments and settlements. The negative related past service costs
(income) of CHF 121 million have been recegnized in the income staterment primarily under
Marketing and administration expenses.

Asset-liability management and funding arrangement

Plan trustees or General Assemblies are respensitle for determining the mix of asset
classes and target allocations of the Nestlé's plans with the support of investmant advisors.
Periodic reviews of the asset mix are made by mandating external consultants to perform
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asset liability matching analyses. Such analyses aim at comparing dynamically the fair value
of assets and the liabilities in order to determine the most adequate strategic asset allecation.
The overall investment policy and strategy for the Group's funded defined benefit plans

is guided by the ¢bjective of achieving an investment return which, together with the
contributions paid, is sufficient to maintain reasonable control over the various funding
risks of the plans. As those risks evolve with the development of capital markets and asset
management activities, the Group addresses the assessment and control process of the
majcr investment pension risks. In order to protect the Group’s defined benefit plans
funding ratio and to mitigate the financial risks, protective measures on the investment
strategies are in force. To the extent possible, the risks are shared egually amongst the

different stakehol!ders.

10.2a Reconciliation of assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet

In millions of CHF

] 2019 2018

_a  5u a Eof

£ £g¢ & g2

g 2&53 §2 83l

o€ SOy a e ARy

S g £ & o ¢ ERw <

@ E o 5= @ £ 9%

&8 5SS B £ g -~ ]

£ BST g £5 4972 g

a® £ES ] fagy £E& e
Present value of funded obligations 26176 66 26 242 24 364 58 24 422
Fair value of planassets _(24408) (32) (24 530) (22 625) 3) (22 658)
Exc esf{assets) over funded obligations Te8 3.
Present value of unfunded cbligations - 772 2078 2850 137 1874 2681
Unrecognized assets e % = 3 -}
Net defined benefit liabilities/{assets}) 2480 2112 4592 2505 1889 4404
Other smpioyee benelt Tabites N 1029 1028
Net liabilities 5 641 5432
Reﬂecteq in the b_alance sheet as féllows: - o T
Employee benefit assets {510} {487)
Employee benefit Liabilities . 6151 - 5919
Net liabilities 5641 5432

08
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10.2h Funding situation by geographic area of defined benefit plans

In milions of CiHF

S L. J 1
EMENA AMS ADA Total EMENA AMS i\i(_)ﬂ Total
Present value of funded abligatioas 14 8599 5091 1252 26 242 18 261 4703 1518 24 422
Fairvalue ofplanassets  (18024)  (5356) (11500 (24530) (16363} (4968 (13290 (22 658)
Excess of lia billtiesf(assetsi_ over funded
obligations o ) 1875 {265) 102 1712 1840 (265) 189 1764
Present value of unfunded obligations T 376 2 099 375 2850 377 1920 3124 2811
10.2¢ Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations
In mitlions of CHF
e RS 2018
e Bsd r Est
§5 e§¢2 €5 £%5¢
ca &c 2 ca gt &
3 a8 g &
38 Fss 3t §Es
£8 £33 s EE £33 =
8% SJES & a® £ES 2
At January 1 ' 75101 1 2 289
of which unfunded definga b fit plans B A T 1874 2611 ) o 32016 2880
Currency retranslations (ssy 73 (258)  (572) (o3 {678}
Service cost - - 53 2% 560 680 36 710
of -.«-r’~7\(;h current fié;‘w’ViC—C‘ {‘,(;"i ) B o 31 57 681 53 788
~ofwueh past service cost and (garnsiosses ansng from sellements /n {24 LA N 1 Y {78}
Interest expense N 2 104 726 598 99 694
Actuarial (gainsiflosses ' 7 . 2778 318 3094 (1872) 26 (1846)
Benefits paid on funded defined benefit plans ) {1424) (10} (1434} (1432 {7 {1439)
Benefits paid on unfunded defined banefit plans ) (83) (136) {199} o (58 (162} {220}
Modification of the scope of consolidation ‘ ‘ {10 (4} (14} ] (nm {4)
Classification tof{fram) held for sale ) - (73) (8} (83) 211 (30 (247)
Transfer tromf{to} defined contribution plans (3300 13} B {333} {235} s {235)
At December 31 26 948 2144 29092 25101 1932 27033
of vt lundoed doefined boneft plans 28176 66 26 242 243561 o B8 24422
of wrich "urxﬂmded defined bcrxr.:fitr plars 722078 2 850 ) 737 T 2611
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10. Employee benefits

10.2d Movement in fair value of defined benefit plan assets

I millions of CHF

o - e LLRuIe L
] E © Ew ] g v g
£f 243 5§ 42
2 3¢ 5= 282
¢  BE=z 3t FEsg
€& 583 g S
gy £ES 2 ae £E8
o ' TGy zess  paesn | (9
retransiations 2 — 503 ?
intarest income - {577} 3] 544} ()
Actuat rPtv;Hn an plan assets, excluding interest income (2 6135) (1 1142 —
Employees’ contributions {126) — {127) —
Employer contributions ) (476} {7} 736} (6}
Benefits paid on funded defined benefit plans 1424 10 1432 7
Administration expgnség . 24 e 24 -
Meaodification of the scope of consolidation ) 10 — 1_ —_ ) 1
Classiﬁcgtéon_tc_al_(f_rom)‘held for sate ‘ o o3 — 125 — 125_
Transfer romifto defined contrioution plans _omy = %S o =
At December 31 (24498)  (32) (24530) (22623} (33}  {22658)
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets of the Group's
defined benefit plans are as follows:
- - B 2019 2018
Equities 25% 27%
of ek US eguties ) &% [
of whick F—umpca:_w (‘gui_- 1 M"n 15\_%_
of which other equitios 5% 5%
Debts ) 4%% 49%
ol which guvernment debrs 5% 20
of whick ¢ ";}(‘:r.‘—)!‘&-‘: -(f-[-‘,‘lﬂic A%, 4%
Real estate 11% - 12%
Alternative investments TY% - 10%
(ﬁ whicts hodge funds 5% 0%
. of which p_rwau* cibes 2% A%,
Cashp’Deposril§ ) 8% 2%

Equities and government debts represent 60% (2018: 62%) of the plan assets. Almost all of
them are quoted in an active market. Corporate debts, real estate, hedge funds and private
equities represent 32% (2018: 36%) of the plan assets. Aimost all of them are either not
guoted or quoted in a market which is not active,
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10. Employee benefitg

The plan assets of funded defined benefit plans include property occupied by subsidiaries
with a fair value of CHF 22 million (2018; CHF 23 million). Furthermore, funded deafined
benefit plans may invest in Nestlé $S.A. (or related) shares. There was no direct investment
at end of 2019 and 2018. The Group’s investment management principles allow such
investment only when the position in Nestlé $.A. {or related) shares is passive, L.e, in line
with the weighting in the underlying benchmark.

The Group expects to contribute CHF 433 million to its funded defined benefit plans
in 2020,

10.2e Expenses recognized in the income statement

In millions of CHE

LA

- wn - w
w (=Y E w cn E
=R Leg o 2 G &g
s £ES ¢ Ei] E'S g
g2 2§a 5 2 55ao
25 £Z: s  g&3w
B E T 8E BE ¢ 3%
= 25 o = £ g =T o k!
&S SaE = b ST E =
a®g FES & c8 £ES 2
Service cost N 534 26 560 680 30 710
Ermployees’ conttibutions ) (126) — {125) {1 2:7) — {1 27)
Net interest (1ncome;1¢xmnse ] 48 103 149 53 98 151
Administration expenses O . S AU . S i L .24
Defined benefit expenses 478 129 607 630 128 758
Defined contribution expenses 330 330
Total 937 1088
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10, Employee benefits

10.2f Remeasurement of defined benefit plans
reported in other comprehensive income

in millions of CHF

e R 2018
15l e
Y E 2 & 2
§s g = g%
i & = Eol
= 3 § g3
3t 5 £ 5E
= - £ %3 ]
a¢ g g v =
Actua! xeirumam plan_a!_svse_t.ﬁj xcluding interest income ?63’) 1 2636 A2 — (1 145)
Fxperien;éradiurﬁ‘_rmen’rs on plan liabilities (479") 29 {78) n {16} 321
Change in demographic assimptions on r_}lan_liah(fiiires 82 47 129 ) 526 (B8} 467
Change in financial assumptions on plan fizbifities {2811 {334 {3 145) 105 43 19058
Transter fromflto) uniecognized asselsand other () 1= 4
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans {144} (314) {458) 726 (286) 700
10.2g Principal financial actuarial assumptions
The principal financial actuarial assumptions are presented by geographic area. Eachitem is
a weighted average in relation to the relevant underlying compaonent.
) 2019 018
EMENA AMS AQA Total EMENA . AMS AQA . } Total
Discount rates 1.0% - 4.0% 4.4% 1.9% 1.8% 5.1% 4.3% 2.9%
E;tpe-f:férj rates of salary increases 1.9% 2.7% 5.5% 2.3% 1.8% 2.7% 5.0% 2.6%
Expacted tates of pension adjustments 1.2% 04%  17% 1.0% 2%  04% 1.4% 1.0%
Medical cost trend rates 6.7% 6.7% 6.9% - 6.9%
10.2h Mortatity tables and life expectancies by geographic area
for the Group's major defined benefit pension plans
Expressed in years
B 2018 018 2019 2018

Life expectancy at age 65

for a male member

Life expectancy at age 65

for a female member

Country Mortality table currently aged 65 currently aged 65
EMENA )
Switzariand LER 20705 A FaRRs] 234
Uniled Kangder SZNA 2.2 218 s
CJérmany Heubeck tichttateln 2005 206 236 241
AMS
LEA Pri-2012 2007 209 227 220
112
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10. Employee benefits

Life expectancy is reflected in the defined benefit obligations by using the best estimate
of the mortality of plan members. When appropriate, base tables are adjusted to take into
consideration expected changes in mortality e.g. allowing for future longevity improvements,

10.2i Sensitivity analyses on present value of defined benefit obligations

by geographic area

The table below gives the present value of the defined benefit obligations when major
assumptions are changed.

n mitlions of CHE

2018
EMENA  AMS  AOA  Total EMENA _ AMS _ AOA  Total
As reported 20275 7180 1627 18578 5623 1832 27033
Discount rates )
increase of b hass ports 8y 2N 1544 2703 TFJ94 1 25280
Decraase of 50 basg ponts 214977 7065 ) 1737 ‘ 31 374 20036 ) 1947 o 2_5! 00_6
Expected rates of salary increases . 7 7 B ) o B ) )
ngrease of Ll aws ports 20420 /247 16671 29323 18 705 ) [ _ii/? o BE_:_&?_ ) 27 240_
Decrsase of b basis poins S 2044 /a8 1597 28879 Tg461 6544 1807 26837
Expected rates of pension adjustments ) o ) ) ] o ) )
Ircrease of B0 bhasis p‘n)a:"wa 21405 T2 T ERS 30318 19569 - 6850 1 Ba& 28117
Dectaase of bl basis points 19211 7180 TE04 27995 17633 5814 1814 26061
Medical cost trend rates ) ) ) o ) ) o o
increase of S basis points 20276 7266 Creas 29170 Bh7e 886/ 1833 27088
Dewease of 50 bass ponts 20274 7123 1625 29020 857/  658) 1830 26988
Mortality assumptign ] o S ) o ) o
Setting forwa-d he lantes by 1 year o S 19sy4 F0R3 18594 28181 P2 6__484 ) 3/’38 ) 26_ 2_74__
Seving back the lables by 1 vear N 20 589 7357 1867 30013 9N 6 758 1866 27785
All sensitivities are calculated using the same actuarial method as for the disclosed present
value of the defined benefit obligaticns at year-end.
10.2] Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligations
by gecgraphic area
Expressed in years
2019 2018
EMENA AMS AQA  Total EMENA AMS AOA Total
At Decembar 31 159 S 1.2 15.0 14.8 121 12.2 - 140
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1. Provisions and contingencies

Provisions

Provisions comprise liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that arise from restructuring
plans, enviranmental, litigation and other risks. Provisions are recognized when a legal
or constructive cbligation stemming from a past event exists and when the future cash
outflows can be reliably estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures unless the impact of discounting is immaterial. Obligations arising from
restructuring plans are recognized when detaifed formal plans have been established
and when there is a valid expectation that such plans will be carried out by either starting
to implement them or announcing their main features. Obligations under litigation reflect
Group Management's best estimate of the cutcome based on the facts known at the
balance sheet date.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and liabilities are possible rights and obligations that arise from past

events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not fully within the contrel of the Group.

11.1 Provisions

In millions of CHFE

e Restructuring  Environmental Legal and Tax Totat
At 2013 ' ' 0 1si3
Currency retranslations } ] o (24} ' ) (7 f49)
Provisions made during the year 1 o - 596 7 5 347 230 1178
Amgunts_hsﬁagi o {586} ‘ (3) (195) {165) (949)
Reversal of unused amounts o - (88) - (102) 83) (273)
Clarsrsificatfon {to}ffrom held for sale 7 o 71 - {1} 12 82
At December 31, 2019 816 T 596 422 1964
of which expectod to be seitled within 12 maonths 802
AtJanuary 1,208 ' o 529 s s 468 1966
Currency retranslations ‘ ) (19) T T {b%i) {6) o {77}
Provisions made during the year (2 590 5 322 185 1102
Amounts used {410) {1} {98} (87) (5986)
Reversal of unused amounts ) (707} &) .(.WBE)) 134 (375)
Classification {to)ifrom held for sale (154) e 3 (46 (203)
Maodification of the scope of consaiidaﬁiﬂon — — - {4) (4)
At December 31, 2018 835 29 573 376 1813
Gf which expecied 1 be seited wmm 12 momhs 780

i@l Incladsng discauntg of orovsns
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11. Provisions and contingencies

Restructuring

Restructuring provisions arise from a number of projects across the Group. These include
plans to optimize production, sales and administration structures, mainly in the geographies
EMENA and AMS. Restructuring provisions are expected to result in future cash outflows
when implementing the plans (usuzally over the following two to three years).

L.egal and tax

Legal provisions have been set up to cover legal and administrative proceedings that arise

in the ordinary course of the business. Tax provisions include disputes and uncertainties cn
non-income taxes {mainly VAT and sales taxes). They cover numerous separate cases whose
detailed disclosure could be detrimental to the Group interests. The Group does not
believe that any of these cases will have a material adverse impact on its financial position.
The timing of cutflows is uncertain as it depends upon the outcome of the cases. Group
Management does not believe it is possible to make assumptions on the evclution of the
cases beyond the balance sheet date.

Other

Other provisions are mainly constituted by enerous contracts and varicus damage claims
having occurred during the year but not covered by insurance companies. Onerous
contracts result from termination of contracts or supply agreements above market prices
in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received or for which no benefits are expected to be
recejved.

1.2 Contingencies
The Group is exposed to contingent liabilities amounting to a maximum potential payment
of CHF 1352 millicn {2078: CHF 1860 millicn} representing potential litigations
of CHF 1256 million {2018: CHF 1788 million} and other items of CHF 96 million
(2018: CHF 71 million), Potential litigations relate mainly to labor, civil and tax litigations
in Latin America.
Contingent assets for litigaticn claims in favor of the Group amount to a maximum
potential recoverable amount of CHF 534 miliion (2018; CHF 453 miltion), mainly in
Latin America.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019
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12. Financial instruments

Financial assets -~ Classes and categories

The classification of financial assets is generally hased on the business model in which

a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. The Group

classifies financial assets in the following categories:

— measured at amortized cost;

— measured at fair value through Other comprehensive income {abbreviated as FVOCI);
and

~ measured at fair value through the income statement (abbreviated as FVTPL, fair value
thraugh profit or loss).

For an eguity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect

to classify it as measured at FVYOCI. This election is rmade &t initial recognition on

an investment by investment basis.

Financial assets — Recognition and derecognition

The settlement date is used for initial recognition and derecognition of financial assets
as these transactions are generally under contracts whose terms require delivery within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular-way
purchase or sale). Financial assets are derecognized when substantially all the Group's
rights to cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets — Measurement

Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs. However when a financial asset measured at FVTPL is recognized, the transaction
costs are expensed immediately. Subsequent remeasurement of financial assets is
determined by their categorization, which is revisited at each reporting date.

Commercial paper and time deposits are held by the Group's treasury unit in a separate
portfalio in order to provide interest income and mitigate the credit risk exposure of the
Group. The Group considers that these investments are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by collecting contractuat cash flows. The contractual terms
of these financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount cutstanding. These assets
have therefore been classified as measured at amortized cost.

Investments in equities, debt funds, equity funds as well as other financial assets not
giving rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest are classified at FVTPL. These investments are mainly related to self-insurance
activities.

Financial assets -~ Impairment

The Group assesses whether its financial assets carried at amortized cost and FVOCI
are impaired on the basis of expected credit losses (ECL). This analysis requires the
identification of significant increases in the credit risk of the counterparties. Considering
that the majority of the Group’s financial assets are trade receivables, the analysis also
integrates statistical data reflecting the past experience of losses incurred due to default.
See Note 7.1 for impairments related to trade receivables.
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12. Financial instruments

The Group measures loss allowances for investments in debt securities and time
deposits that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date at an amount
equal to 12 month expected credit losses.

The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when the credit rating
is 'investment grade’ according to internationally recognized rating agencies. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
considers available reasonable and supportive information such as changes in the credit
rating of the counterparty. If there is a significant increase in credit risk the ioss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of alf cash shortfalls due to a credit default event of the counterparty
{i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to recelve}.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amaortized cost are deducted from
the gross carrying amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance
is recognized in OCI, instead of reducing the carrying amount of the asset.

Impairment losses on other financial assets related to treasury activities are presented
under Financial expense.

The model and some of the assumptions used in calculating these ECLs are key
sources of estimation uncertainty.,

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial liabilities are recognized at amortized
cost. The difference between the initial carrying amount of the financial liabiiities and
their redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the contractual terms
using the effective interest rate method. This category includes the following classes of
financial liabilities: trade and cther payables; commercial paper; bonds; lease liabilities
and other financial liabilities.
Financial Habilities at amertized cost are classified as current or non-current depending
whether these are due within 12 menths after the balance sheet date or beyond.
Financial liabilities are derecognized {in full cr partly} when either the Group is
discharged from its obligation, they expire, are cancelled or replaced by a new liability
with substantially modified terms.

Conschidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019
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12. Financial instruments

12.1 Financial assets and liabilities
12.1a By class and by category

in millions of CHF

] e 2018 018
— - [} — - @
A A
§ o2 -
F: % ws 3 o% B8
N 2w 2 £ b N 2 e 3£ b
5 £E 28y 5 s E 284 5
5 52 3% 58 g g 53§ 38
Classes . € €2 x56e RS % Ze #b: | FT
ot bank anrd in hand 2584 — — 2 B84 2552 — e 2552
Commaraal paper o 40u9 - — 4999 4777 — — 4777
Time deposits e - - 1951 1476 - - 1426
Honds and debt fuads ) 104 1670 ? 1176 178 ’/‘_084‘;_ S 2215
Eauity aﬁd cquity tunds — 4ang RE 59— a0 489
Sther finan ots £07 7as — 1335 604 - 1409
quUIdassets e and non-current - ] oo
financiat assets 10 540 2261 73 12874 G 487 3328 53 12 868
Trade and other receivables 11766 — e 11766 11167 - — 11167
Derivative assets @ T 2D .. R L. RV
Total financial assets 22306 2515 73 24884 20 654 3511 53 24218
Trade and other payables ) (19 232) — —  (1e232) (819~ (181%0)
Financialdebt (37 164) — —  (37164) (40394} — —  (40394)
Derivative lizbifties & L= ey = (a20) ey~ (448)
Total financial liabilities {56 396} (420} —— {56 816} (58 584} (448) - {59 032)
Net financial position {34 090) 2095 73 (31 922) (37 930) 306 53 {34 814)
of which at fuir value e 2095 /3 2168 ; 53 3116

Ligkd as
ior include der
ses Note 12 24

118

sostments.

ater {catcgorzed as held-fer-tadmal,

{a Carrying amgunt of thase sistruments s 3 1easae-zbie approx mator of their far value For bonds roluded w Arans of
ot
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12. Financial instruments

12.1b Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments

The Group classifies the fair value of its financial instruments in the following hierarchy,

based on the inputs used in their valuation:

— Level 1. the fair value of financiat instruments gueoted in active markets is based on thelr
gucted closing price at the balance sheet date. Examples include exchange-traded
commodity derivatives and financial assets such as investments in equity and debt

securities.

— Level 2: the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market
is determinad by using valuation techniques using observable market data. Such
valuation technigues include discounted cash flows, standard valuation models based
on market parameters for interest rates, yield curves or foreign exchange rates, dealer
guotes for similar instruments and use of comparable arm's length transactions. For
example, the fair value of forward exchange contracts, currency swaps and interest
rate swaps is determined by discounting estimated future cash flows.

- Level 3; the fair value of financial instruments that are measured on the basis of entity
specific valuations using inputs that are not based on cbservable market data
{unobservable inputs). When the fair value of unguoted instruments cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability, the Group carries such instruments at cost less

impairment, if applicable.

In millions of CHF

_____ 2019 2(113
Derivative assets 135 36
Bonds and debt funds 573 1681
Equity and equity funds 211 21
Other financial assets 3 2
Derivative fiablilites o i B R ¢}
Prices quoted in active markets (Leve! 1) 200 1866
Derivative assats ) S 11g et
Bonds and debt funds 488 3946
Equity anag squity funds 248 224
(ther financial assets 720 695
Oerivative habilities {398.) (377}
Valuation techniques based on observable market data {Level 2) 1177 1085
Valuation techniques based on unobservable input (Level 3) 91 165
Total financial instruments at fair value 2 168 3116
There have been no significant transfers between the different hierarchy levels in 2012 and
in 2018.

19
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12. Financial instruments

12.1c Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

in millicns of CHF

e e e 2018 2018

At January 1 o o ~40830) {20962
Currency retranslations and exchange differences 767 692
Changes in fair values &7 132
Changes arising from acguisition and disposal of businesses {104 {62;
{Inflows)foutfiows on interest derivatives {153} {159
increase in lease liabidities {1 006} {7623
inflows from bends and other non-current financial debt {57} {9 800}
Outflows from bonds and other non-current financial debt 3287 o 22
(Inﬂow;s}loutﬁows from current financial debt 444 {35200

Classification to liahilities held forsatle . anw 199
At December 31 {37 401) {40 630)
of which current finarcal deht (14 0437 (14 694)

of whirh non-current financiat debr (73 1.32) 7 {2 7006

of which darvatives hoedgng finarcial debt (237 oose)

120
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12. Financial instruments

12.1d Bonds

tn mtlions of CHE

L o

TS § I3 5o E

- g §g, °T 3
lssuer & e G HEE LEE 2019 2018
Nestlé S.A., Switzeriand CHF 600 G75%  069%  2018-2028 603 503
_______ _ _ CHE 000 0.25%  0.26% 2018-2024 900 899
Nestl Holdings, Inc,, USA_ UsD 500 2.00% 207% 20132019 — 492
USD 500 225%  2.41% 20132019 - 493
""" CUSD 400 2.00% 206%  2014-2019 — 394
USD 650 213%  2.27%  2014-2020 630 64C
AUD 250 425%  443%  2014-2020 0 169 177
AUD 175 363%  377%  2014-2020 to 121 125
NOK 1000 2.75%  2.85%  2014-2020 ta 110 15
GBP 500 175%  1.79% 20152020 & 637 628
USD 550 1.88%  2.03%  2016-2021 532 541
CUSD 600 1.38%  1.52%  2016-202% 580 589
CGBP 500 1.00% 1.17%  201/-2021 © 535 625
USD 800 Z38%  255%  2017-2022 . 784
USD 650 238%  2.50%  2017-2022 628 639
USD 300 228%  2.35%  2017-2022 290 295
CEUR 850 0.88%  0O2%  2077-2025 0 921 956
CHE 550 0.25%  0.24%  2017-2027 @ 551 551
CHE 150 055%  044%  2017-2032 @ 156 150
USD 800 313%  3.28%  2018-2023 579 588
USD 1000 330%  317%  2018-2021 @ 988 984
USD 1500 335%  341%  2018-2023 @148 1475
USD 900 350%  3.50% 20182025 (@ 868 883
USD 1250 363%  3.72% 20182028 @ 1203 1223
USD 1250 3.90%  401% 2018-2038 @ 1193 1213
USD 2100  400%  4.11%  2018-2048 W 1996 2031
Subtotal 16486 18083
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12. Financial instruments

I millicns of CHIF

g £ 53 > &
g2 g 2% B £
& E S T 5w H g % £
Issuer L= 3 EE® £aE 2 019 2018
Srup’t;J-ta!fro-f-r-n_E-n_ou-s gaagre o B - 7?76j 48%: ;187(1117
Nestié Finance International Lid., Luxembourg EUR 500 1.50% 161%  2012-2019 — 564
EUR 500 1.26% 1.30% 20132020 543 564
EUR 500 2.13% 2.20% 2013-2021 542 H63
FUR 500 0.75% .90% 20147?0?1 5417 562
CEUR 850 178% 1.88%  2012-2027 920 954
‘GSP 400 _2.?5% 7 _ )34% _701_?_—?(}23 e} ) 827 515
EUR 500 0.95% 0.92%  2015-2023 i 551 579
EUR 500 0.38% 3.54% 2017-2024 5349 ERG
EUR 750 1.2%% 1.32% 20172024 804 B840
) ) ) £UR 750 1.7%% 1.83% 20172037 805 83_5
E)thr:r bonds - i 242 249
Total carrying amount T ' 22505 24869
uf which due within gne year 2710 T ud3

of whicrh due alfter one vear

Fair value i of bands, based on prices quoted (!eve;l 2)

1 Carrvonn amoanl aog 30 valce of Bords exclueane accaioed nwores,

R0 SurrerEn

"5 ZuCEC 10 an interest e

vB P tha

saral buyers

VO rency swap that

Croates 3 babidity at Toanrg ratas n e curarey o e ssunr

ytret oreatos a bakdry at Fased sztes o the cunoney of tha sssuer

oJatside the Un sed Ztates 1o ~on-US pasans,

Brid SUDICCT 10 A0 AECrogt rate and curroncy swap that ~roates 3 bty 3t feed ratcs

creates 3 ik 3t fioatng rater

Several bonds are hedged by currency andfor interest derivatives. The fair value of these
derivatives is shown under derivative assets for CHF 33 million {2018 CHF 41 million)
and under derivative liabilities for CHF 264 million (2018: CHF 248 million).
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12. Financial instruments

12.2 Financial risks

in the course of its business, the Group is exposed to s number of financial risks: credit
risk, Hquidity risk, market risk {including foreign currency risk and interest rate risk,
commeadity price risk and equity price risk). This note presents the Group's objectives,
policies and processes for managing its financial risk and capital,

Financia! risk management is an integral part of the way the Group fs managed. The
Board of Directors determines the financial control principles as well as the principles
of financial planning. The Chief Executive Officer organizes, manages and monitors all
financial risks, including asset and liability matters.

The Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALMC), chaired by the Chief Financial
Officer, is the governing body for the establishment and subsequent execution of the
Nestlé Group's Financial Asset and Liability Management Policy. It ensures implementation
of strategies and achievement of cbjectives of the Group's financial asset and liabilities
management, which are executed by the Center Treasury, the Regional Treasury Centers
and, in specific local circumstances, by the subsidiaries. Approved treasury management
guidelines define and classify risks as well as determine, by category of transaction, specific
approval, execution and monitoring procedures. The activities of the Centre Treasury and
of the Regional Treasury Centers are monitored by an independent Middle Office, which
verfies the compliance of the strategies andfor operations with the approved guidelines
and decisions taken by the ALMC.

12.2a Credit risk

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises on financial assets (liquid, non-
current and derivative) and on trade and other receivables,

The Group aims to minimize the credit risk of liguid assets, non-current financial assets
and derivative assets through the application of risk management policies. Credit limits
are set based on gach counterparty's size and risk of default. The methodclogy used to set
the credit limit considers the counterparty's balance sheet, credit ratings, risk ratios and
default probabilities. Counterparties are manitored regularly, taking inte consideration the
evolution of the above parameters, as well as their share prices and credit default swaps.
As a result of this review, changes on credit imits and risk allocation are carried out. The
Group avoids the concentration of credit risk on its liquid assets by spreading them over
several institutions and sectors,

Trade receivables are subject to credit limits, control and approval procedures in all the
subsidiaries. Due to its large geographic base and number of customers, the Group is not
exposed to material concentrations of credit risk on its trade receivables (see Note 7.1).
Nevertheless, commercial counterparties are constantly monitored following the similar
methodology used for financial counterparties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk resulting from financial activities, withcut
considering netting agreements and without taking into account any coltateral held or
other credit enhancements, is equal to the carrying amount of the Group's financial assets.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

123



12. Financial instruments

Credit rating of financial assets

This includes liquid assets, non-current financial assets and derivative assets. The credit
risk of the financial assets is assessed based on the risk of the counterparties including the
associated country risk. The Group uses an internationally recognized credit scale to present
the information. The Group deals mainly with financial institutions located in Switzerland,
the European Union and North America.

In millions of CHF

e e 2018
investment grade A- and above 10165
investment grade BEB+, BBB and BBB- ) 984
Non-investment grade (BB+ and below) ) ) l ) ST ) B ooz
13128

L2018
9988
1095

B80S
1163

13051

gl Marhy e sher rves ments 1or whieh me creclt rar g f avalabile,
ht

12.2b Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that a company may encounter difficulties in meaeting its obligations

associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or cther financial assets.

Such risk may result from inadequate market depth or disruption or refinancing problems.

The Group's objective is to manage this risk by limiting exposures in financial instruments

that may be affected by liquidity problems and by maintaining sufficient back-up facilities.

The Group does not expect any refinancing issues and in October 2019 successfully

extended the tenor of both its revolving credit facilities by around one year:

— Anew USD 41 billion and EUR 2.8 Biilion revolving credit facility with an initial maturity
date of October 2020. The Group has the ability to convert the facility into a one year term
loan.

— AUSD 2.7 billion and EUR 2.0 billion revolving credit facility with a new maturity date
of October 2024,

The facilities serve primarily as a backstop to the Group’s short-term debt.
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7018

12. Financial instruments

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities and derivatives {including interest)

In mitlions of CHF

@ = »-
5 > = = £
if % ES 5
£ c 2 b4 S5 S
Trade and other payables (32} (19 237) {19232}
Commaercizl paper @ ! ) o - - 8072 (8053)
Bends (2776)  (4338)  (7342)  (13223)  (27627) (27 50%)
Lease habifities {709 {510) (rreny o (1376 {3 796) {3375)
Other financial debt Lol e G0 0% @3 @323
Total financial debt T (14 674) {5047) {8 473) {14612} {42 806) (37 164)
Financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) (33477) {5 201} {8 721) {14 644) {62 043) (56 396)
Nan-currency derivalive assets o 145 s 14 169 -
Non-currency derivative liabifities - (37} {5) — - 7(‘12) (42}
Gross amount receivable from currency derivatives 14830 653 30 1642 17 158 17127
Gross amount payable from currency derivatives Coasvey e an (7es) (17721 (174200
Net derivatives e {180} {43) {103} {113) {439} {1686)
of which dertvativas unde; cach flow hodges 58 {5} o — 53 53
Trade and other payables {17 800} 58 (303) (29) (18180} (18190}
Commercial paper @ (91493} e ) — - (2193} (9 165}
Bonds (2510)  (2771)  (11089)  [14203) (30673 (24869
Lease habilities (788 (837 (1148)  {1105) (3676) (3253)
Other financial debt @o1) (0% 8y (12 @214 (3107)
Total financial debt o (15504) {3517} {12325) (15410) (46 756) {40394
Financial liabilities {excluding derivatives) {33 304) {3575 {12628} (15439} {64 946) (58 584)
Non-currency derivative assats 4% _6_ ) 12 ] _ _63 62‘
Non-currency derivative ﬁabiiaﬁés ‘ RS (£) {2 — . 97) (90}
Gross amount receivable from currency der ivai\ves 14 448 - 1080 667 1689 17 B84 17 765
Gross amount payable from currency dériuatives {1450 {1370) (812} {1835) {18518) (18 002}
Net derivatives ) {91) {290) (135) {146) {662) {265)
ot which denvatives under casn flow bodgos © i (39} (53 o {2) ‘ —_— (a7 £40)
paper of on (2008 CriF 7898 milion and bonds of CHT 12371 mudlor (2078 CHF 720 it
E”Iy\ f Jf;;u ::rffect the incorme staterent do pot ahffer sigrificantly frorm 1re maturtes
ciisgiosnd sbove
12.2¢ Market risk
The Group is exposed to risk from movements in foreign currency exchange rates, interest
rates and market prices that affect its assets, liabilities and future transactions.
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019 125



12. Financial instruments

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk from transactions and translation.

Transactionat exposures arise from transactions in foreign currency. They are managed
within a prudent and systematic hedging policy in accordance with the Group’s specific
business needs through the use of currency forwards, futures, swaps and cptions.

Exchange differences recorded in the income statement represented a loss
of CHF 81 millior in 2019 (2018: loss of CHF 54 million). They are allocated to the
appropriate headings of expenses by function.

Translation exposure arises from the consclidation of the financial statements of foreign
operations in Swiss Francs, which is, in principle, not hedged.

Value at Risk (VaR) based on historic data for a 250-day period and a confidence level
of 95% results in a potential one-day loss for currency risk of less than CHF 10 millicn
in 2019 and 2018.

The Group cannot predict the future movements in exchange rates, therefore the zbove
VaR number neither represents actual losses nor considers the effects of favarable
movements in underlying variables. Accordingly, the VaR number may anly be considered
indicative of future movements to the extent the historic market patterns repeat in the
future.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed primarily to fluctuation in USD and EUR interest rates. Interest rate
risk on financial debt is managed based on duration and interest management targets set
by the ALMC through the use of fixed rate debt and interest rate swaps.
Taking into account the impact of interest derivatives, the proportion of financial debt
subject to fixed interest rates for a period longer than one year represents 60% (2018: 62%).
Based on the structure of net debt at year end, an increase of interest rates of 100 basis
points would cause an additicnal expense in Net financing cost of net debt of CHF 44 million
(2018: CHF 42 million).

Price risk

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk arises from transactions on the werld commodity markets to secure
supplies of green coffee, cocoa beans and other commecdities necessary for the manufacture
of some cf the Group's products.

The Group's objective is to minimize the impact of commodity price fluctuations and
this exposure is hedged in accordance with the Nestlé Group policy on commodity price
risk management. The Global Procurement Organization is responsible for managing
commedity price risk based on internal directives and centrally determined limits,
generally using exchange-traded commodity derivatives. The commaodity price risk
exposure of future purchases is managed using a combination of derivatives (mainly
futures and options) and executary contracts. This activity is menitored by an independent
Middle Cffice. Given the short product business cycle of the Group, the majority of the
anticipated future raw material transactions outstanding at the balance sheet date are
expected to occur in the next year.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk on investments. To manage the price risk arising
from these investments, the Group diversifies its portfolios in accordance with the
Guidelines set by the Board of Directors.
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12. Financial instruments

12.2d Derivative assets and liabilities and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s derivatives mainly consist of currency forwards, options and swaps;
commodity futures and opticns; interest rate forwards, futures, options and swaps.
Derivatives are mainly used to manage exposures to foreign exchange, interest rate
and commodity price risk as described in section 12.2¢c Market risk.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value. They are subsequently remeasured
at fair value on a regular basis and at each reporting date as a minimum, with all their
gains and losses, realized and unrealized, recognized in the income statement unless
they are in a qualifying hedging relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates and documents the use of certain derivatives and other financial
assets or financial liabilities as hedging instruments against changes in fair values of
recognized assets and liabilities (fair value hedges} and highly probable forecasi
transactions {cash flow hedges). The effectiveness of such hedges is assessed at
inception and verified at regular intervals and at least on a quarterly basis to ensure
that an econamic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging instrument.

The Group excludes from the designation of the hedging relationship the hedging
cost element. Subsequently, this cost element impacts the income statement at the
same time as the underlying hedged item.

For the designaticn of hedging relationships on commodities, the Group applies
the component hedging model when the hedged item is separately identifiable and
measurable in the contract to purchase the materials.

Fair value hedges
The Group uses fair value hedges to mitigate foreign currency and interest rate risks
of its recognized assets and liabilities, being mostly financial debt.

Changes in fair values of hadging instruments designated as fair value hedges and
the adjustments for the risks being hedged in the carrying amounts of the underlying
transactions are recognized in the incoms statement.

Cash flow hedges
The Group uses cash fiow hedges to mitigate a particular risk associated with

a recognized asset or liability or highly probable forecast transactions, such as anticipated

future export sales, purchases of equipment, and goods, as well as the variability of
expected interest payments and receipts.

The effective part of the changes in fair value of hadging instruments is recognized
in other comprehensive income, while any ineffective part is recognized immediately in

the income statement. Ineffectiveness for hadges of foreign currency and commodity price

risk may resuit from changes in the timing of the forecast transactions than was originally
foreseen, When the hedged item results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or
ftability, including acquired businesses, the gains or losses previcusly recognized in other
comprehensive income are included in the measurement of the cost of the asset or of

the liability. Ctherwise the gains or losses previously recognized in other comprehensive

income are recognized in the income statement at the same time as the hedged
transaction.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

127



12, Financial instruments

Undesignated derivatives

Derivatives which are not designated in a hedging relationship are classified as
undesignated derivatives. They are acquired in the frame of approved risk management
policies.

Derivatives by hedged risks

in millions of CI-F

- o } ) 2018 e
B — W =
iy &, ir g:: 3, g
£ 9 3 >3 > = 5% 2 > o 5=
§ce 5% 52 S5 4 5B
Cves e b= Qcoe Ll w=
Fair va!ue hedges % o 7
Foreign currency and interest rate risk on net financial debt 8045 57 _278 3435 50 273
Cash flow hedges
Fareign currency risk on future purchases or sales 8009 47 2] 7284 85 78
Commodity price risk on future purchases _ 1788 135 20 2 044 37 73
Interest rate risk on net financial debt o Bz . s 13800 e B L
Designated in a hedging relationship 18 724 407 20143 /8 441
Undesignated derivatives e R B 4
o 183 448

Conditional offsets

slive asse’'s and habiliies

of cash collaterat received or deposred

263

nal of the Medging nstru renis,
twiule bo offser :n case of default, inscivency o7 barkruptey of counterpart a3

A description of the types of hedging instruments by risk categery is included in
Note 12.2¢ Market risk.
The majority of hedge relationships are established to ensure a hedge ratio of 1.1
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12. Financial instruments

Impact on the income statement of fair value hedges
The majority of fair value hedges are related te financing activities and are presented in
Net financing cost.

fn mitlions of CHF

e S S e 2019
on hedged items (47}
on hedging instruments 49

Ineffective portion of gains/{losses) of cash flow hedges and net investment hedges is not
significant.

12.2e Capital risk management
The Group's capital management is driven by the impact on sharehelders of the level of
total capital employed. It is the Group's policy to maintain a sound capital base to support
the continued development of its business,

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a prudent balance between different
components of the Group’s capital. The ALMC monitors the capitai structure and the
net financial debt by currency (see Note 16.5 for the definition of net financial debt)}.

The operating cash flow-to-net financlal deot ratio highlights the ability of a business to
repay its debts. As at December 31, 2019, the ratic was 58.4% (2018: 50.8%). The Group's
subsidiaries have compiied with local statutory capital requirements as appropriate.
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13. Taxes

The Group is subject te taxes in different countries all over the world. Taxes and fiscal
risks recognized in the Consolidated Financial Staternents reflect Group Management's
best estimate of the outcome based on the facts known at the balance sheet date in
each individual country. These facts may include but are not limited to change in tax
laws and interpretation thereof in the various jurisdictions where the Group cperates.
They may have an impact on the income tax as well as the resulting assets and
Habilities. Any differences between tax estimates and final tax assessments are charged
to the income statement in the peried in which they are incurred, unless anticipated.

Taxes include current and deferred taxes on profit as well as actual or potential
withholding taxes on current and expected transfers of incomne from subsidiaries and
tax adjustments relating to prior years. Income tax is recognized in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items directly taken to equity or other comprehensive
income, in which case it is recognized against equity or other comprehensive income.

Deferred taxes are bhased on the temporary differences that arise when taxation
authorities recognize and measure assets and liabilities with rules that differ from the
principtes of the Consolidated Financial Statements. They also arise on temporary
differences stemming from tax losses carried forward.

Deferred taxes are calculated under the lability method at the rates of tax expected
to prevail when the temporary differences reverse subject to such rates being
substantizlly enacted at the balance sheet date. Ary changes of the tax rates are
recognized in the income statement unless related to items directly recognized agsinst
equity or other comprehensive income. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized on all
taxable temporary differences excluding non-deductible goodwill. Deferred tax assets
are recognized on ali deductible temporary differences provided that it is probable that
future taxable income will be available.
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13, Taxes

13.1 Taxes recognized in the income statement

In millions of CHE
2019

Components of taxes

Current taxes {3 084) (4 003)
Deferred taxes 35 545
Taxes reclassified to other comprehensive income {134) 22
Taxes reclassified to equity = i ____24__ o {3)
Total taxes (3159) (3439)
Reconciliation of taxes ) -
Fxpected tax expense at weighted average applicable tax rate o ) {2726) {2925)
Tax eftect of non-deductible or nan-taxable tems & o o ‘ ) 251 (110)
rior years’ taxes , ) o - S 84) 108
Transie;‘s ta unrecpgr}ézcﬁd df:fernregjﬂmg assets ‘ o {292} {129}
Transters from unrecagnized defe;’red tax assets _ . 123 G5
Changes in tax rates ) o o ) ) g(iil) {6}
Withholding taxes levied on transfers of income SR 742 RSN £ 5
Total taxes B (3159) ({3439}
o] el @xes Iniated o prol yedis aclade & tacinuame of Cres 5 edbon 20780 tercncome of CHE 280 millicn),

) I AN shese e i ainly inciutie the mopact ol ananie ol on disp eslle Skin Realth

The expected tax expense at weighted average applicable tax rate is the result from

applying the domestic statutory tax rates to profits before taxes of each entity in the country

it operates. For the Group, the weighted average applicable tax rate varies from one year

to the other depending on the relative weight of the profit of each individual entity in the

Group’s profit as well as the changes in the statutory tax rates.
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13. Taxes

13.2 Reconciliation of deferred taxes by type of temporary differences
recognized on the balance sheet

In mitlions of CHF

. 2
2 2 ey
£ g & E T 23
2E 23 2 85  x
=5 == e > g g =
5§ ) g $@ R -
$P g2 £ 53 ek g
os 2= = s 22 _E
Adanary1,2019 . e (18 a2 ew o m® (724)
Currency retranslations ) o 53 -0 ) {35) {55) 2 2
Deferrad tax (e;pen;e)[mrome ‘ ) o o {174} {2586) 123 347 1 35
Classification {to}ffrom held for sale 7 ) 84 - 82 12 19 17 200
Moditication of the scope of consolidation (0 T T e e 12
At December 31, 2019 {1400} (2074) 1458 1219 322 {475)
Mo i e e ws s s
CLlrrency retranslations 37 4 (46} {80) 119}
Deferred tax {expense)lincorme {1303 ) 431 {45) 1B6 545
Classification (te}ffrom held for sale - ) — 6/8 {19} ) {110) 408
Maditication of the scope of consolidatian {2} {169) — 10 {153}
At Decemnber 31,2018 {1362) (1951) 1372 001 316 {724}
In millions of CHE
2019 2018
Reflected in the balance sheet as follows: ) T
Deferred tax assets - 2114 1816
Net assets/(liabilities) B T (475) T -[754)
13.3 Unrecognized deferred taxes
The deductible temporary differences as well as the unused tax losses and tax credits for
which no deferred tax assets are recognized expire as follows:
In miffions of CHF
2019 2018
Within one year 111 69
Betwean one and five years ) 7 7 396 381
More than five years ' _ - 2229 2302
2736 2833
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13. Taxes

At December 31, 2019, the unrecognized deferred tax assets amount to CHF 587 millicn
{2018: CHF 579 million). In addition, the Group has not recognized deferred tax labilities
in respect of unremitted earnings that are considered indefinitely reinvested in foreign
subsidiaries. At December 31, 2019, these earnings amount to CHF 26.8 billion

(2018: CHF 26.3 billion). They could be subject to withnolding and other taxes on remittance.

14, Assaciates and joint ventures

Associates are companies where the Group has the power to exercise a significant
influence but does nat exercise control. Significant influence may be obtained when
the Group has 20% or more of the voting rights in the investee or has obtained a seat
on the Board of Directors or otherwise participates in the policy-making process of the
investee,

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements over which the Group exercises joint control
with partners and where the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement,

Associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. The interest
in the associate or joint venture also includes long-term loans which are in substance
extensions of the Group's investment in the associate or joint venture. The net assets
and results are adjusted to comply with the Group's accounting policies. The carrying
amount of goodwill arising from the acguisition of associates and joint ventures is
included in the carrying amount of investments in associates and joint ventures.

In millions of CHE

2019 2018
Cther Joint Other Joint

L'Gréal associates ventures Total L'Oréal associates ventures Total

At January 1 8 459 1183 1150 0792 884 1188 2246 11628
Currency retrans - o (?18) 777(87’) B {30} (435) {271) (32} (54 ) (357)
Investments - _ 563 - 563 - . 204 46 250
Divestments ' R @ (3 @2n e 1978) (981
Share of results - S 968 {31 68 1005 1044 (152) 27 919
Share of other ca:n;)felxefmsive incorne 399 19} ‘ {4 386 127 1 _(32) a6
Dividends and interest received {571) 131} (30 {632} (353) 133 (117} - (703)
Other 1146) — o (an (72) — 12 (60)
At December 31 8791 7 1584 1130 11 505 8 459 1183 1150 10782

Investments in cther associates in 2019 mainly relate to the acquisition of a 20% stake in
IVC Evidensia {see Note 14.2).

Divestments in joint ventures in 2018 mainly related to the repayment of a loan granted
to Froneri {see Note 14.3).

As part of the investment, loans granted by the Group to joint ventures amount
to CHF 958 miilion at December 31, 2019 {2018: CHF 932 million).
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14. Associates and joint ventures

income from associates and joint ventures

In mitlions of CHE

) 2018

Share: of results 1005 919
loss ondgposals 5 4 43

1001 216
14.1 Associate -~ L'Oréal
The Group holds 129 881 021 shares in L'Oréal {whose ultimate parent company is
domiciled inn France), the world leader in cosmetics, representing a 23.3% participation
in its equity after elimination of its treasury shares {2018: 129 881 021 shares representing
a 23.2% participation).

At December 31, 2019, the market value of the shares held amounts to CHF 37.2 billion

{2018; CHF 29.% billien).
Summarized financial information of L'Oréal
in billions of CHEF

w19 2018
Total current assets 159 14.0
Total nan-current assets e ; 325 223
Total assets 47.6 43.3
Total current liabilities 1.8 1.4
Total non-current liabilities S 38 BT
Total liabilities 15.6 13.0
;fotal equity S 320
Jotal sales 332 31.1
Profit from continuing opei ations T 4.7 4.9
Profit from cﬁscpminued onherations - -
Other comprehansive income } 8.5
Total cemprehensive income 5.0
Reconciliation of the carrying amount
In billions of CHF

2019 2018
Share held by the Group in the equity of LOréal V.4 71
Gooduwil and otner adjustments 14 14
Carrying amount of L'Oréal 8.8 8.5
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14. Associates and joint ventures

14.2 Other associates

The Group holds a number of other associates that are individually not material, the main
ones being IVC Evidensia (veterinary services provider in Europe), an associate acquired
in 2019, and Lactalis Nestlé Produits Frais (chilled dairy business in Europe).

14.3 Joint ventures
The Group holds a number of joint ventures operating in the food and beverage sectors,
These joint ventures are individually not significant to the Group, the main ones being
Froneri and Cereal Partners Worldwide.

A list of the principal joint ventures and associates is provided in the section Companies
of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates.

15. Earnings per share

2019 2018
Basic earnings per share (in CHEF) 430 336
Net proht {in miflions of CHF) S 12 609 16135
Weighted average number of shares outsianding tin millions of u«}it_s_}_ - 20249 3014
Diluted earnings per share (in CHF) S ) ‘ ) 4.3C 336
Net profit, net of effects of ditutive potential orcinaly shares (in millions of CHF) 12 609 10135
Weighted average number of shares outstanding, net of effects of ditutive potential ordinary shares
{in mithons of units) - _ 2934 3019
Reconcitiation of weighted average number‘oi‘ srrraares outstanding (in miliions of units} )
Weighted average number of shares sutstanding used to calculate basic earnings per share o ) 2929 3014
Adjustment for share-based payment S‘Ff‘e”?*?scwh?rﬂ di§utive 5 5
Weighted average number of shares outstanding used to calculate diluied eainings per share 2934 3018
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16. Cash flow siatement
16.1 Operating profit

in millians of CHF

e , - 2019 w018
Profit for the year o 17904 10468
Income from associates and joint ventures {1000 (816}
Taxes 3159 3439
Financial income {200} {247}
) T T T 16078 137%2
16.2 Non-cash items of income and expense
In millions of CHP
e 200 2018
Depreciation of property-,mplant and (:;;ui}f)!“(‘,l!i B 3 488 - W3AE':DA
[mpair;ﬂem of property, plant arrtdr équipment 783 500
l;-r;-;)-a-i-rmem of goodwill T ‘ 719 592
Amaortization of in‘(angi?::teﬂassms 225 320
-Impa'wment of imangiblé assets o 774 1 b')
Net rasult on dispo,rséir_olf ﬁusinesses (3 4163 (bSb)
N_e_t result on disposal of és_.%_er_ts 2 53
Non-cash items in financial assets and Habilities (150 {42)
Equity _Csm‘pensation plans 124 140
Other N - o , B e
2605  as23
16.3 Decrease/(increase) in working capital
In millions of CHE
B ~ B o . . 2019 2018
inventories {712} {450)
Trade and other recervables {1028} (5471
Prepayments and accrued income 147) 132
Trade and other payvables ‘ 1661 1043
Aceruals and deferred iﬂcorﬁo . A75 294
349 472
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16. Cash flow statement

16.4 Variation of other operating assets and liabilities

in millions of CHF

Variation of employee henefits assets and liahilities {100y (430
Variation of provisions (42} 127
Other e e o 48 266
(84} {37}
16.5 Reconciliation of free cash flow and net financial debt
in millions of CHE
Operating cash flow T 15 850 15398
Capital Expenrﬁt_u_rr:- - ) {3 695) (3 869)
Cxpenditure on inlangible assets {518) ‘(6073}
Other investing activities ' - 295 063
Free cash flow T T o 11934 10 765
Acqusition of businesses __ . ___ {125} (9512)
Financial abilities and short-term investrments acquired in business combinations {134 67)
Cisposal of businesses . ) ) - o 9959 4310
Finangial liabilties and short-term nwestments transf-errsad on diéposeal of husinesses 25 5
Acquisition {net of disposal} of n-cn;controlling intérests . - . {16) (528)
Investments (net ot divestments] in associates and joint v-en-t\-xres 1540} 728
Dividend paid 10 shareholders of the parent - (% 230) {7124
Dividends paid to nor-controlling interests (4637) (319)
Purchase {net of sale) of treasury shares (9 773) (6854
Increase in lease liabilities I (1 008) {787
Cureency retranslaﬁons and exchange diﬁelenceﬂsi 513 389
Other movements S e o B
(Increase){decrease of net financial debt 3192 (8 961)

Net financial debt at heginning of year

{30 330)

{21369}

Net financial debt at end of year

(27 138)

{30 330}

of whagh
Current financigh der;r
Noe-current inasaa] debt
.Cash and Lash eguivalonts
SHOM-LOrmY tvestmenis
Derivatives 9

{z) Redated to Netdenrapd ~ohoded in Desvatve assels snd Dorvative habiitios balances of o Cerscldared balance sheet
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186, Cash flow statement

16.6 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand and other short-term highly
liguid investments with maturities of three months or less from the initial recognition.

In millions of CHFE

LL_.Ee 2018
Cash at bank and in hand R T zesa 2552
Time deposits ) 14935 1408
Commerciatpaper oo2eso 540
Eas;q_and cash éﬁuiva[enls as per balance sheet T 7 469 4 500
Cash and cash equivaients classified as held for sale e e e T 140
Cash and cash equivalents as per cash ﬂo{v';i;t'é'r;xent‘ . 7 469 4 640

17. Equity

17.1 Share capital issued

The ardinary share capital of Nestlé S.A, issued and fully paid is composed of 2 976 C00 000
registered shares with @ nominal value of CHF 010 each {2018: 3 063 000 000 registered
shares). Each share confers the right to one vote. No shareholder may be registered with the
right to vote for shares which it holds, directly or indirectly, in excess of 5% of the share
capital. Shareholders have the right to receive dividends.

The share capital changed in 2019 and 2018 as a consequence of a share buyback
program of up to CHF 20 billion launched in July 2017 and completed in 2019. The
cancellation of shares was approved at the Annua! General Meetings on April 11, 2015 and
April 12, 2018, The share capital was reduced by 87 000 00Q shares from CHF 306 million to
CHF 298 million in 2019 and by 49 160 000 shares from CHF 311 million to CHF 306 millien
in 2018.

On December 30, 2018, the Group announced a new share buyback program of up to
CHF 20 billion to commence on or after January 3, 2020 and to be completed by the end
of December 2022. It is subject to market conditions and strategic opportunities.

17.2 Conditional share capital

The conditional capital of Nestlé S A, amounts to CHF 10 million as in the preceding year,
It confers the right to increase the ordinary share capital, through the exercise of conversion
or option rights granted in connection with convertible debentures or debentures with
option rights or other financial market instruments, by the issue of a maximum

of 100 000 000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 010 each. Thus, the Board
of Directors has at its disposal a flexible instrument enabling it, if necessary, to finance
the activities of the Company through convertible debentures.
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17. Equity

17.3 Treasury shares

Number of shares in millions of units

- - 2079 2018
Purpose of holdmg
Share buyback program 589 78.7
Long-Term ncentve Plans e o 71 9.8
' ) 26.0 88.5
At December 31, 2019, the treasury shares held by the Group represent 3.2% of the
share capital (2018: 2.9%). Their market value amounts to CHF 10 054 million
(2018: CHF 7064 million).
17.4 Number of shares cutstanding
Number of shares in millions of units
Shares Treasury Qutstanding
issued shares  shares
At January 1. 2019 e e e e 1D OORE L (883) L .28745
Purchase oftrcasun, shares o ,l o e (97.7) (97.7}
Treasury shares delivered in respect of options exercised o e a2 0.2
Treasury shares deliverad In respect of é_q__u-i:ty ;:-u}r;p;én-sét-ic-m pilans o ‘ — 3.0 3.0
T iry shares cancelled e -
AtDecember 31,2019 {96.0) 2880.0
Purchase of treasury shates 7 . o = {86.3)
Treasury shares delivered in respect of options exercised ) o — 1.2
Treasury shares delivered in respect of squity compensation plans o - 2.0
Treasury s : | L ' (49,2) e
At December 3063.0 2974.5
17.5 Translation reserve and other reserves
The translation reserve and the other reserves represent the cumulative amount attributable
to shareholders of the parent of items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income
statement.
The translation reserve comprises the cumulative gains and losses arising from
translating the financial statements of foreign operations that use functional currencies
other than Swiss Francs. It also includes the changes in the fair value of hedging
instruments used for net investments in foreign operations.
The other reserves mainly comprise the Group's share in the items that may be
reclassified subsequently to the income statement by the associates and joint ventures
(reserves equity accounted for).
The other reserves alsc comprise the hedging reserve of the subsidiaries, The hedging
reserve consists of the effective portion of the gains and losses on hedging instruments
related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.
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17. Equity

17.6 Retained earnings

Retained earnings represent the cumulative profits as well as remeasurement of defined
benefit plans attributable to shareholders of the parent.

17.7 Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests comprise the portion of equity of subsidiaries that are not
owned, directly or indirectly, by Nestié S.A. These non-controlling interests are individually

not material for the Group.

17.8 Other comprehensive income

i millions of CHE

2 o
28 sopr S
.5 2w oW w --‘g ‘E - w .§, % % % % "
£¢ g gg 228 22 38§, 8@ _»
59 =3 3% ii: $§5 BEs . sE %%
FE = TS =328 xo FEWS 2E PO
Currency retranslations ) ,
- Recognized - (1217 e 4 3 _ {1210} 37 (1173}
— !%i‘e_c_lassiﬁed 13 income statement 129 -— — - — 129 129
= Taxes (e) - - ... S |-) S )
e T T - (10;;;1} I 4 ) 3 — {1087} o ) 37 {1 050}
Fair value c;_h_ar@ées on debt and equity ir!g?t_n_.fmréhts
- Recognized o - — — — (4} (4) — {4)
- Reclassified to income statement — — — - — o — —
wlaxes . I I T e T T T - Ml
e - - - — 4 (4} = (4)
Fair value changes on cash flow hedges
- Recognized o - — {90 — = 90) 2y (92}
- Reclassified to income statemant -— — 27 e s 27 2} 25
- Taxes . = s —_— - — 17 1
B o } - - (63} — - {63} 3 {66)
Remeasurement of defined beneﬁt plans
- Recogrized —_— — -— —— (443] (443) {15] (458}
~ Taxes ) — - - -~ 133 135 3 138
' - - — — C— (3081 (308) 1z (320)
Share of other comprehansive iﬁcomé cl)f associates
and joint ventures )
- Recognized - — - 49 337 386 - 386
- Reclassified to income statement o — e — - -_— = - —
i — — — 49 337 386 — 386
Other comprehensive income for the year {7 094} — (59} 52 25 (1076) 22 (1054
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2018

17. Equity

In millions of CHF

2 o
) Epu £
5 . £3 £2gs 3
sy 5% £¢ E¥F BP g3 5% .
es 2§ g3 zsz st sfEEE  If 3%
- 8 3¢ Ze &%38 g8 RESS 2t g
Currency retransiations S o
- Recognized (1092} {1 2 3 e {1 088) {115 (1 203)
-~ Reclassified to income statement 108 — —_ R o 108 - 108
< Jaxes 81 = T - - % - 9
{293) o 2 3 o (889) (115 (1004)
Fair value changes on debt and equity instruments ) o o
- Recognized - — {203 — — 4 {198y  — {199}
- Reclassified to incoma statement — 153 — — — 153 - 153
- Taxes el o ™ S S P
— — - 4 (35) e {35}
Fair value changus on cash flow hedges )
- Recognized B , — — 26 — - 26 & 3z
- Reclassified to income statement - — 40 — -— 7 40 o {4} .36.
“Texes . T 122) - N 23 R U -2}
‘ o — — 44 e e 44 2 46
Remeasurement of defined bem_zﬁt__p_la_n_:-;__ )

- Recognized ' - - — — 703 703 (3) 700
- Taxes R - - - - _Qen _aey et 1100
T o I —_— e 602 602 @2 500

Sharg of other comprehensive irﬁ:ume of associates

and joint ventures . . .

- Recognized — - —= (32) 7 85 — BS
— Reclassified to incomae statement - - -— — L. LU 11
ooy R - - . 21 117 96 —_ 95
Other comprehensive income for the year {893} {40} 46 {18} 723 {182} {115} (297)
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17. Equity

17.9 Raconciliation of the other reserves

in millions of CHF

E=]
=
© uy
3 e
"=
33 2y £2%
22 &< £x> -
= g 28 %8 I
g Te £E L 2
At January 1, 2019 - o L - an 156) (183)
Other comprehensive income for the year - {59) o 52 {7
Other movements . LT s T s
At December 31, 2019 o &9 (114} {45}
Manaryt2008 e ue (181
Other comprenensive income for the yeat . o - {40 4B 18) o {12}
QOther moverments o = = L
At December 31,2018 — {17) {1686) {183}

17.10 Dividend

In accordance with Swiss law, the dividend is treated as an appropriation of profit in the
year in which it is ratified at the Annual General Meeting and subseguently paid.

The dividend related to 2018 was paid on April 17, 2019, in accordance with the decision
taken zt the Annual General Meeting on April 11, 2018. Shareholders approved the proposed
dividend of CHF 2.45 per share, resulting in a total dividend of CHF 7230 million,

Dividend payable is not accounted for until it has been ratified at the Annual General
Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting on Agril 23, 2020, a dividend of CHF 2.70 per share
will be propased, resulting in an estimated total dividend of CHF 7795 million. For further
details, refer to the Financial Statements of Nestlé S A,

The Consclidated Financial Statements for the yvear ended December 31, 2019, do not
reflect this proposed distribution, which will be treated as an appropriation of profit in
the year ending December 37, 2020.
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18. Transactions with related parties

18.1 Compensation of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board
Board of Directors
Members of the Beard of Directors receive an annual compensation that varies with
the Board and the Committee responsibilities as follows:
— Board members: CHF 280 C00;
— members of the Chairman's and Cerporate Governance Committee: additional
CHF 200 000 {Chair CHF 300 000
- members of the Compensation Committee as well as members of the Nomination
and Sustainability Committee: additional CHF 70 000 (Chair CHF 150 000); and
- members of the Audit Committee: additional CHF 100 000 {Chair CHF 150 000).
The Chairman and the CEQ Committee fees are included in their total compensation.
Half of the compensation is paid through the granting of Nestlé 5.A. shares at the
ex-dividend closing price. These shares are subject to a three-year blecking period.
With the exception of the Chairman and the CEQ, members of the Board of Directors
also receive an annual expense allowance of CHF 15 000 each. This allowance covers
travel and hotel accommodation in Switzerland, as well as sundry out-of-pocket expenses.
For Board members from outside Europe, the Company reimburses additionally their
airline tickets, When the Board meets outside of Switzerland, all expenses are borne
and paid directly by the Company.
The Chairman is entitled to cash compensation, as well as Nestié 5.A. shares which
are blocked for three years.

in millions of CHF

2019 2018

Chairman's compensation L L . 3 4
Other Board membersg o .

Remuneration - cash S o L . 3 3

that arc required by Sweas law,
ad with a glug Dat
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18. Transactions with related parties

Executive Board

The total annual remuneration of the members of the Executive Board comprises a salary,

a bonus (based on the achievement of the Group's, functional and business objectives),
equity compensation and other benefits. Members of the Executive Board can chocse to
receive part or ail of their bonus in Nestlé $.A. shares at the average closing price of the Jast
ten trading days of January of the year of the payment of the bonus. The CEO has to take

a minimum of 50% in shares. These shares are subject to a three-year blocking period.

i millions of CHE

e [ . e 20192078
Remuneration - cash ) . . . . 3 - S
Banus - cash ] 7 S ) S a ‘ 9
Bonus - shares ] - ) - o 7 ) 7
Equity compensation plans 1@ ) o ) 11 _ 15
Total v} a2 50

A Foay competaaton plans are e ser ghara-haser nayment ransaclions w7 ase COSTIS feelar.sed guer

requiren by Swins fave
vel 3 blug bar,

18.2 Transactions with associates and joint ventures

The main transactions with associates and joint ventures are;

— royalties received on brand licensing;

— dividends and interest received as well as loans granted (see Note 14};
~ research and development commitments {see Note 9); and

— in-licensing and intellectual property purchase {ses Note 9).

18.3 Other transactions

- Group's pension plans considered as related parties, refer to Note 10 Employee benefits;

- Directors of the Group: no personal interest in any transaction of significance for the
business of the Group.

19. Guarantees

At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Group has no significant guarantees
given to third parties.
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20. Effects of hyperinflation

The 2019 and 2018 figures include the following countries considered as hyperinflationary
economies;

- Venezuela;

- Argentina;

— Zimbabwe and Iran since 2019.

None of them have a significant impact on the Group accounts.

21. Events after the balance sheet date

The values of assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are adjusied if there is
evidence that subsegueant adjusting events warrant a modification of these values.
These adjustments are made up to the date of approval of the Consolidated Financial
Statements by the Board of Directors.

At February 12, 2020, the date of approval for issue of the Consolidated Financial
Statements by the Board of Directors, the Group has no subsequent avents which either
warrant a modification of the value of its assets and liabilities, or any additional disclosure
except the acquisition of Zenpep as described in Note 2.2 and the estimated gain on the
disposal of the US ice Cream business mentioned in Note 2.4 Assets held for sale.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019
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Stalutary Auditors Report

T the General Meeting of Nestlé S.A., Cham & Vevey
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Nestlé S.A. and its subsidiaries {the Group}, which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2019, the consolidated income staterment,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consclidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the censolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consclidated financial statements (pages 66 to 145) give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated financial
perfarmance and its consofidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (1SAs) and Swiss
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accardance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss
audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professiocnal Accountants, and we have fulfilled our

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur
opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Revenue recognition

Q' Carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

i

DIt Income taxes

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professicnal judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consclidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed

in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Revenue recognition

Key Audit Matter

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at
the moment when control has been transferred

to the buyer; and is measured net of pricing
allowances, other trade discounts, and price
promotions to customers {collectively ‘trade spend’).

The judgments required by management to estimate
frade spend accruals are complex due to the diverse
range of contractual agreements and commercial
ferms across the Group’s markets.

There is a risk that revenue may be overstated
because of fraud, resulting from the pressure loca!
management may feel to achieve performance
targets. Revenue is also an important element of
how the Group measures its performance, upon
which management are incentivized.

The Group focuses on revenue as a key
performance measure, which could create an
incentive for revenue to be recognized before
control has been transferred.

Qur response

We considered the appropriateness of the Group's
revenue recognition accounting policies, including the
recognition and classification criteria for trade spend.

Due to the high reliance of revenue recognition on IT,
we evaluated the integrity of the general IT control
environment and tested the operating effectiveness
of key IT application controls. We performed detailed
testing over the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying customer master data, by assessing
mandatory fields and critical segregaticn of duties.

Additionally we identified transactions that deviated
fram the standard process for further investigation
and validated the existence and accuracy of this
population. We also tested the operating
effectiveness of controls over the calculation and
monitoring of trade spend.

Furthermore, we performed a menthly trend analysis
of revenue by market by considering both internal
and external benchmarks, overlaying our
understanding of each market, to compare the
reported results with our expectation.

We also considered the accuracy of the Group's
description of the accounting policy related to revenue,
and whether revenue is adequately disclosed
throughout the consolidated financial statements,

For further information on revenue recognition refer to the following:

— Note 1, "Accounting policies”
-~ Note 3, "Analyses by segment”

;‘:‘"l Carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets

Key Audit Matter

The Group has goodwill of CHF 28,896 million and
indefinite life intangible assets of CHF 15,966 miflion
as at December 31, 2019, which are required to be
tested for impairment at least on an annual basis.

The regoverability of these assets is dependent on
achieving a sufficient level of future net cash flows,

Management apply judgment in allocating these
assets to individual cash generating units {{CGUs")
as well as in assessing the future performance

and prospects of each CGU and determining the
relevant valuation assumptions. In 2019 impairment
losses of CHF 1,484 million for goodwill and
indefinite life intangikble assets were recognized
across a number of CGUSs.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

Qur response

We evaluated the accuracy of impairment tests
applied to significant amounts of goodwill and
indefinite life intangible assets, the approprateness
of the assumpticns used, and the methodolegy used
by management to prepare its cash flow forecasts.
We also tested the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of controls over the
preparation of impairment tests.

For a sample of CGUs, identified based on
quantitative and qualitative factors, we assessed the
historical accuracy of the plans and forecasts by
comparing the forecasts used in the prior year modeal
to the actual performance in the current year. We
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compared these against the latest plans and
forecasts approved by management.

We then challenged the robustness of the key
assumptions used 1o determine the recoverable
amount (the higher of 'value in use' and ‘fair value less
costs of disposal’), including identification of the CGU,
forecast cash fiows, long-term growth rate and the
discount rate based on cur understanding of the
commercial prospects of the related assets. In
addition, we identified and analyzed changes in
assumptions from prior periods, made an assessment
of the appropriateness of assumptions, and performed
a comparisen of assumptions with publicly available
data.

We alsa considered the appropriateness of disclosures
on impairment testing and on impairments recognized.

For further information or: the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets refer to the following:

~ Note 1, “Accounting policies”
— Note 9, “Goodwill and intangible assets”

income taxes

.
L
Key Audit Matter

The Group operates across multiple tax jurisdictions
around the world, and is thus reguiarly subject to tax
challenges and audits by local tax authorities on
varicus matters including intragroup financing,
pricing and royalty arrangements, different business
models and other transaction-related matters.

Where the amount of tax liabilities or assets is
uncertain, the Group recognizes management's best
estimate of the most likely outcome based on the
facts known in the relevant jurisdiction.

Qur response

We evaluated management's judgment of tax risks,
estimates of tax exposures and contingencies by
involving our local country tax specialists and testing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of related controls. Third party epinions,
past and cumrent experience wilh he {ax aulhvdilies
in the respective jurisdicticn and our tax specialists’
own expertise were used to assess the
appropriateness of management's best estimate of
the most likely outcome of each uncertain tax position.

Our audit approach included additional reviews
performed at Group level to consider the Group's
uncertain tax positions viewed from a worldwide
perspective - in particular for transfer prices,
intragroup financing and payments in relation to
centralized business models where multiple
jurisdictions and tax authorities are involved. We
drew on our own tax expertise and knowledge
gained with other similar groups to conclude on
management’s best estimate of the outcome on the
Group’s worldwide uncertain tax positions as they
relate to more than one jurisdiction.

For further information on income taxes refer to the following:

— Note 1, "Accounting policies”
- Note 13, "Taxes”
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information
comprises all infermation included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements,
the stand-alone financial statements of the Company, the compensation report and our auditor's reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other inforrmation, we are required to repont that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends ta liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, of has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consclidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Swiss law, 1SAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consoclidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve coliusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclesures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
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related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinjon.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit,

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors cr its relevant commiittee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matier or when, in extremely rare circumnstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our repart because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of eonsolidated financial
statements according to the instructions of the Boarg of Directors,

We recommend that the consclidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Scott Cormack Lukas;iyz‘@\’?
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, February 12, 2020

KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pent-Rauge 6, P.O. Bax 1571, £4-1211 Geneva 26

KPMG SAis a subsidiary of KPMG Helding AG, which 1s a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affilated with KPMG International Coaperative ("KPMG Internatonal”), a
Swiss legal entily. Alt rights reserved.
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Financial information - 5 year review

In millions of CHF (except for data per share and employees)

T, Leane 208 e
Results S ' D
Sales G2 568 ) 91 439
Underlying Trading operating profit & 16 260 15521
as % of sales . 17.6% 17.0%
Trading operating profit @ 13674 13789
as % of sales 14 8% 1%.1%
Taxes 3159 3439
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent {Net profit) 12 608 10135
as % of sales 7 N B 7 13.6% 11.1%
Total amount of dividend o _ 7 B 7795 @ 7230
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment & o ) 3488 3604
Baiaee shect and o fiow saeemant T T T | - | |
Current assets ' ' o S 7 - 7 35663 41003
Non-current assets - - - o 7 92277 96 012
Total assets ' ‘ S 127940 137015
Current liabilities ‘ o ) ) 41615 ) 43030
Non-current liabilities ) ‘ B _ ] 33463 35582
Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent ) 52035 - 57363
Non‘con‘c_r{)lli-ng intereéts o B o ‘- B ’ 827 ) 1040
Net financial debt'® ‘ 7 7 ) - 27138 30330
Ratio of net financial debt to equity (gearing) ) o ) 52.2% 52.9%
Operating cash flow o 3 _ 7 7 15850 15358
as % of net financial debt ) , ) ) 58.4% 50.8%
Free cash flow N S 7 7 11934 10765
Capital additions @ o N S ~ sas2 14711
as % of sales o o o o 7 5.9% 16.1%
Drat_a per share o o ) ) o _W )
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in milliens of units) ) 2928 304
Basic earnings per share ) B o 430 3.38
Underlying earmings per share @ ) 4.47 ‘ 402
Dividend ) ) ‘ ] 270 i 2.45
Pay-out ratio based on basic earnings per share o ) ) 62.8% ' 72.9%
Stock prices {high) ' _ 112.20 86.50
Stock prices (fowi ) ) 749.86 72.92
Yield 0 ] ‘ ) ) ‘ ‘ 24j34 2.8/3.4
Market capitalization C 301772 237 363
Number of-;mpioyees {in thnusandsj ) o D __2;31 T 308 )
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Financial nformation — 5 year review

o 2017 20]() - 2015 -
Resuits
88 580 BY ARG 88 785 Sales
14 771 14 307 14032 Underlying Trading operating profit i+
16.5% 16.0% 15.8% as % of sales
13277 132693 13 382 Trading operating profit i
14.8% 15.3% 15.1% as % of sales
2773 4413 3305 Taxes
7156 g 531 9066 Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the parent {Net prefit)
8.0% 9.5% C10.2%  as % of sales )
7124 726 6937 Total amount of dividend
3 6560 2795 2867 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Rl
o . ‘ . ~ Balance sheet and Cash flow statement
31884 - 32042 29434 Current assets
107 326 BER: 51 94 558 Non-current assets
1323 210 _1_31_9{)_1 123 942 Tota_le_isse_ts B
38189 37517 33321 Current liabilities
32 .79) 28 403 2€_j 685 B Non-current Iiabilities_ o
B0 958 G4 530 62 338 Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent
1273 TImn 1648 Non-contralling interests
21369 13913 15425 Net financial debt
35.1% ) 21.5% 24.7% Ratio of net financial debt to equity {gearing)
14139 o 15582 ) 14 302 Ope(atirnrgrca;rh f]ow
60.4% 112.0% - 82.7% as % of net financial debt
o 4388w - 9945 Free cashflow™
6565 5462 (4883 Capital aditions ¢
1.3% 7 o B% 5.5% as % of sales
Data per share o o ) o
3092 o 3091 3129 Weighted average number of shares cutstanding {in millions of units)
2.37 2.76 2.50 Basic earnings per share
3.55 ‘ 3.40 331 Underlying earnings per share 2
o235 2.30 225  Dividend o
10_1.?% 83.3% 7_7._5:% ) Pay-out ratio btalse.d. on basi.c @arnings per share
) E&AO_ 80.05 HOU ) S_t_o_ck prict_es {high)
'??.45 7 B 76?,70797 G4.85 7 Stqck p{ices ‘(.%cl)\.rv).
2.713.3 29f3.4 2.9/3.5 Yield
I 226 310 229 947 Market capitalization
323 328 j o 335 Number of employees {in thousands)
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Companies of the Nestlé Group,
joint arrangements and associates

In the context of the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on information relating to Corporate Governance,

the disclosure criteria of the principal affillated companies are as follows:

- operating companies are disclosed if their sales exceed CHF 10 million or eguivaient;

— financlal companies are disclosed if either thelr equity exceeds CHF 10 militon or equivalent
andfor the total balance sheet is higher than CHF 50 million or equivalent.

— Jjoint ventures and associates are disclosed if the share held by the Group in their profit exceeds
CHF 10 million or equivalent andjor the Group's investment in them exceeds CHF 50 million or
equivalent

Entities directly held by Nestlé S.A. that are below the disclosure criteria are listed with a®.

All companies listed below are fully consolidated except for:

1 Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method;

2 Joint operations accounted for in proportion to the Nestlé contractual specified share {usually 50%);
3 Associates accounted far using the equity method.

Countries within the continents are listed according to the alphabetical order of the country narmes.
Percentage of capital shareholding corresponds to voting powers unless stated otherwise,

4 Companies listed on the stock exchange

? Sub-holding, financial and property companies

% capital % ultimate

shareholdings capita
Companies Ciy by Nastlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital
Europe
Nespresso Qsterreich GmbH & Co. OHG Wien B 100% EUR 35000
Nestle Osterreich GmbH B Wien 7 100% EUR 7270000
Nestlé Azerbaijan LLC Baku 100% 100% usi ) 206 000
Belarus L o e
LLC Nastlé Bel o " Minsk ] ) 100% 100% BYN 410 000
gglgium' L o . o o
Nespresso Belgigue S.A. ) Bruxolles - 100% EUR 550 060
Nestié Belgiux S.A. ) Bruxciles _ ) - 100% EUR 3818140
Nestle Catering Services NV, Bruxelles ‘ 100% EuR 14035500
Nestié Waters Benelux S.A, Etalie ) . 100% FUR 5601 257
Bosnia and Herzegovina o
Mestlé Adriatic BH d.c.o. ]  Sarajevo_ o 100% C100%  BAM 2151
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Companies of the Nest!é Group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital
shareholdings

% ultimate

capital

Companies __City by Nestlé S.A. sharehaldings
Bulgaria
Nestié Bulgaria A.D. - T Sofia - 300%
Croatia
Nests Adriatic d.0.0. T Zagreb 100% 100%
Czech Republic R
Mueos Pharma CZ, 5.1.0 Pruhonice 106%
Nestié Cesko s.ro. Praha 100%
Tivall C7, s.r 0. Krupka 100%
Denmark -
Nestle Danmark AJS 7 ~ Copenhagen 100%
Neslé Professional Food AS Faxe - 100%
Glycom AfS o VC;)penhagen 357% 35.7%
Finland |
Puljonki Oy * Juuka W00%
Suomen Nestle Oy Espoo 100%
France o o
Centes de Recherche et Développement Nestlé S A.S,  Noisiel 100%
Herta 5.A8 I a -N-c-ws-ie-l . 100%
Nespresso France 5.A.S. Pariy 100%
Nestlé Entraprises S A8, 2 Noisiel ) ) 100%
Nestlé EXC_‘E”‘E‘M::E;: Supports France S A S, issy-les-Mouiineaux 00%
Nestlé France S AS. - Noisiel 100%
Nestlé France MG. S.AS. ‘ Noisiel 100%
Nestlé Health Science France S.A.5. Noislel - 100%
Nestlé Purina PetCare France $.AS, ~ Noisiel 1006%
Nestlé Waters S.A.S. ¢ lssy-les-Moutineaux 100%
Nestlé Waters France S.AS. ¢ Isgy-les-Moufineaux 0%
Nestie Waters Management & Technology S.A,S'. Issy-les-Motdineaux ;GO%
Nestié Waters Marketing & Distribution S.AS. Issy-les-Moulineaux 100%
Nestie Waters Supply Est 5,A.5. - Issy-les-Moulneaux 100%
Nesths Waters Supply Sud SLALS. ) tssy-les-Moulineaux 100%
Socétd des Produits Afimentaires de Coaudry S A8, Noisiel 100%
Societé Immobiliere de Noisiel 5 A ¢ Noisiet 100%
Sociéte Industrieile de Transformation

de Produits Agricoles S.A.S. Moisiel 100%
Cereal Partners France SNC " Noisiel i 50%
LOidal S.A. @) o o & Pads  733%  233%
Listed on the Paris stock ex;':héﬁge, maz'kéf::dpa:é.‘r:zér;onr E«JRM?? &"fi.-‘:'qn., guotation code (ISINI FROCOOTZ032T ‘
Lactalis Nestlé Produits Frais S.A.S. ' # Laval 40% 40%

EVLOrG powa, amannt 1o 23 3%
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Currency _ Capttal
8GN 10 234 933
T RHRK 14685500

c7K 160000
C7K 300 000 000
Q7K 400000 000
(DKK 44000000
CDKK 12000000
DKK 1735725
LUR & 000 000
CEUR 3138230
EUR 12908610
EUR 1360 600
EUR 739559392
EUR 1356798
EUR 130 925 520
EUR 50000
FUR 57943072
EUR 21001872
EUR 254625042
FUR 44856 149
EUR 38113
FUR 26740940
EUR 17 539 660
FUR 7309 106
EUR 8670319
EUR 22 753550
EUR 9718000
EUR 3000000
EUR 111623440
EUR 69208832
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Campanias of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associatas

% capital

% ultimate

shareholdings capital

Companies City by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency Capital
Georgia o e )
Nestié Geargia L0 T roitsi 100% 100% CHF 700 000
Germany e L _ e
Mucos Pharma GmbH & Co. KG Berfin 100%  EUR —
Nestlé Deutschland AG Franiifurt am Main 100%  EUR 214266628
Nestlé Praduct Technology Centre

Lebensmittefforschung Gmbh - Freiburg i Br. 100% CUR _B2000
Nestié Untemehmungen Deutschland GmbH ¢ Frankfurt am Main 100%  EUR 60 000 000
Nestlé Waters Deutschland GmbH Frankfurt am Main 100%  EUR 10 568 000
Terra Canis GmbH - Miinchen 8%  EUR 60338
C.PD. Cereal Partniers Deutschland GmbH & Co. OHG 9 Frankfurt am Main 50%  EUR 511292
Trinks Gmbi4 ' T 9 Braunschweig 25% EUR 2 360 000
Trinks Siid Gmbk # Minchen 25%  CUR 260000
Nespresso Hellas S.A. | Maroussi C100%  100%  EUR 500 000
Nestié Hellas $.. Maroussi 100% 100%  EuR 5 260 /6%
C.PW. Hgiéarsrﬁrrearkfa;st Cereals 5.A. ’) -Marm._a._ssi 50% EUR 2010670
Nestlé Hungéria Kft, Budapest 100%  HUF 6000000 000
ftaly o
Nespresso ltaliana S.p.A. S Assago T T THoow Bur 250000
Nestlé itafiana $.p.A. Assago 100% 106% EUR 25582 492
Sanpellegrine S.p A, San Pellegring Terme ' 100% EUR 58 742145
Kazakhs-tan - o o . -
Nestlé Food Kazakhstan LLP  Abmaty 100% W% KZT 91900
Lithuania . - o N
UAB “Nestls Baltics" T Vilius 100% 0%  EUR 31856
Luxembourg L
Compagnie Financiere du Haul-Rhin $.A. ) ¢ Luxembourg - 100% EUR h
Nespresso Luxqmbourg' sal Luxembourg 100% EUR 12525
Nestlé Finance International Ltd ® Luxemnbourg 100% 100%  EUR 440 000
Nestle Treasury !r!temat-ional SA. ¢ Luxernbourg 100% 100% EUR 1000000
NTC-Europe S.A. ' ¢ Luxembourg 100% W% EUR 3 565 000
IVC New TopHolding 5. A & Luxembourg 20% 20%  GBP 16 170 000
Macedogriéu___ .
Nestlé Addatik Makedonija d.o.c.el - Skopje-Karpos 100% MKD 31065780
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate

shareholdings capital
Companies Lty by Nestlé 5.A. shareholdings Currency  Capital
Malta
Nestie Malta Ltd tLiia 100% EUR 116 470
Maoldova )
LLE Nestlg - Chisjnay 100% 100% s 1000
Netherlands e - e e R e
Fast Springs International NV, ¢ Amsterdam 100% EUR - 75370000
MCC Health BV, Abmere 100% ~FUR - 418000
Nesprasso Nederfand BV, Amsterdam 100% FUR - 580670
Nestlé Nederland BV, 7 Amsterdam 100% EUR 11 346 000
Norway R R , R
AS Nestie Norge 7 Baerum ) ‘I{)D% ) NQK ) 81 250 a60
Poland o - - e i e e e
MNestié Polgka 5. A, 7 7 Warszawa 88.5% 100% PLN 42 459600
Cereal Partners Poland Torun-Pacific $p. £ 0.0 ™ Foren 50% 50% PLN 14572838
Portbgal e o
Nestié Business Services Lisbon, S A Oelras 100% EUR - 50000
Nestié Portugal, Unipessoal, Lda. ~ Oeiras 100% EUR 30 000 060
Cereal Assaciados Portugal A.ELLE. o 1 Qeiras 50% EUR 94 760
Republic of Ireland o e _
Nestié {ireland) Ltd Publin 100% EUR 270
Wryeth Nutritionals freland Ltd Askeaton 00% UsD 10 060 Co0
WyNutri Ltd Dublin 100% _Ush 1
Republic of Serbia o e _
Nestlé Adriatic S d.o.0., Beograd-Surcin Beograd-Surcin 100% RSD 12222327814
Romania o .
Nestié Romania SR.L. Bucharest 100% RON 132 906 80O
Russia ‘_ ) L
LiC Atrium !r)novatiorls Rus Mo_s(;qw__ ] 100% RUB N 6 000 GO0
Nesté Kuban LLC ~ Timashevsk 67.4% 100% RUB 21041793
Nesté Rossiya LLC S ] - ] ~ Moscow 84.1% 100% RUB BBC 154 115
Cereal Partners Rus, LLT ) b Moscow 35%% 0% RUB 39 730 860
Slovak Rebublic .
Nestié Slovensko s.ro. Prievidza 100% EUR 13 277 568
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Carmpanies af the Nestlé Group, foint arrangements and associates

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
Companies e ity _by Nestlé 5.A shareholdings Currency __Capital
Slovenia o . R :
Nestié Adriatic Trgovina d.0.0. - ° Ljubljana 100% 100%  EUR 8783
Spain o o o ) o
Nestlé Espafia 5A. Esplugues de Liobregat
o (Barcelona) 00%  EUR 100 000 000
Nestlé Global Services Spain, S0, ° Esplugues de Llobregat
- ) (Barcelona) 100% EUR S 3000
Nestié Purina PetCare Fspaita S.A. Castellbisbal (Barcelona} 100%  EUR 12000000
Prqﬂp{:tps cel Café S.A. o ) "Reyrsr(TVarragcma) 100% CEUR & 600 000
Cereal Partners Espafa A ELE, Y Eszplugues de Llohregat
_(_Barcellpna) 50% EUR 120202
Sweden I e e e I e e e+ e
Nestlé Sverige AB. " Heisingborg 100%  SEK 20 DO VOG
Switzerland S o , o
OPA (Holding) S.A. * Vevey | 100% W00%  CHF T 00000
Entreprises Maggi S.A. 9 Cham 100% 100%  CHE 100000
Intercona Re AG @ Chatel-St-Denis 100% CHF 3% 000 000
Microbiome Diagnostics Partners S.A. * Epalinges 100% 100% CHFE 100000
Ngépﬁessq 1S Séwices S.A. © Lausanne 100% 100% CHF 100000
Nestle Capital Advisers 5. A. * Vevey ] 100% 100% CHF- AQ0 D00
Nestlé Enterprises SA Vevey 100% 100%  CHE 3514000
Nestié Finance $.A. - ¢ Cham o 100%  CHF 30000 00O
Nestié Nespresso S A. o Lausanne ‘ o 100% S 100% CHF - 2000006
Nestie Operational Services Worldwide S.A. Bussigny-prés-Lausanne 100% CT00% CHF 100 009
Nestlé Watars (Suisse) $.A. Henniez 100%  CHF 5 000 00D
Nestrade S.A. 7 La Tour-de-Peilz 100% 00%  CHF 6 500 000
Nutrition-Wellness Venture AG ¢ Vavey 100% 100% CHF 100000
Provestor AG ) ¥ Cham 100% T00% CHF 2000 000
Société des Produits Nestlé S.A. Vevey 100% 100%  CHF 8 746 750
Sofinel S A, Manno ) 100% CHF 300600C
Somafo SA. _  Cham 100% 100%  CHE 400000
Velropa S.A. ~® Fribourg _100% 100%  CHF 2 500 000
CPW Operations Sal Py 50% 50%  CF 26000
CPW S.A. o N pritly 50% C50%  CHF 10000000
Eckes-Granini (Suisse} S.A. 2 Henniez 49%  CHF 2000000
Tl}rkey B
Erikli Su ve Mesrubat Sanay! ve Ticaret A.S.  Bursa B 00% | TRY 20 700 000
Nestié Turkiye Gida Sanayi A.S. . Istankul 999%  TRY 35 DU 00O
Cereal Partners Gida Ticaret Limited Sirketi b Istanbul 50% - TRY 88 080 000
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital

shareholdings
Companies City
Ukraine _
LLC Nestis Ukraine Kyiv T
LLE Technocom Kharviv 100%
J5C "Lviv Confectionery Factory™ “Svitoch” Lviv
PISC Volynholding Torchyn
United Kingdom = I . o
N_espre_essq l_,ﬁK Lid (_Sat_w_éck )
Nestec York {td o Gatwick
Nestié Moldings (UK} PLC Gatw;’c‘.k
Nestlé P_urir\a P_Et('_'are {UK) Ltd Gatwick
Nesti¢ UK Ltd 7 Gatwick
Nestie¢ Waters UK Ltd Gatwick
Osem UK Lid London

Ffrmces Gate Water i_,l_d
Tailsco Ltd

Vitaflo {International) Ltd
Cereal Partners UK
Fronei Lid tla}

Phagenesis Lid

B Exclhutding non vaiing

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

weterenos shares, Vourg pows s amaunt

Pembrokeshire

London

Liverpoot

Herts
' Nosthallerton 21.8%
“® Manchester . 28.2%

% ultimate
capital

C00%
100%
100%
100%

1(}()%
100%
. 100%
. 100%

100%

100%

90%
83%
100%
50%
| 44%
29.2%

S 100%

by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency

UAH

LIAH
UAH
UAH

aep

GBP
GEP
Gep
GBP
6P
GoP
GBP
Gep
GBP
GBP
EUR
GEBP

Capital

799465
119 658 066
88 111 060
196 000

275000
500 GO0
77 940 000
44,000 000
129 972 342
640
2000
199630
16

625 379
14534
16146
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

Africa
Algeria
Nestié Algérie SpA

Nestlé Indiiestrie Algérie Sph

Nestlé Watars Algérie SpA

Nestlé Angola lda

Burkina Faso _

Cameroon

Nestie Cameroun S A

Listed an the Abdian SIOCk @xchange, miiKet o,

Egypt

Nestlé Burkina Fa@cSA o

A

zation XU

Ouagaci_mggmy

% capital

% ultimate

Douala

Abidjan

s 7 Bribion, guotaton code (SN,

T 00%

shareholdings capital

Gty ___ by Nestlé S.A shareholdings

;’-\¥ger B T <01 ‘-’rf: 45}%

Alger 49%, 45%

Blida A9%
tusnda

LI

86.0%

Currency

00w

p7D @50 000 000

DD 1100 000G 000
DZ0 377 H06 250

ACA

1791870000
XOF 50000000

XAF 4323960000

5517 600 D00

XOF

Caravan Mérketing C.ompar\ySA& Guza 100% 33 000 000
Nestlé Egypt S.AE. Giza 100% 100% 80 722000
Nestlé Waters Egypt S.AE. Catro 63.8% 90 140 000
Gabon o o I e
Nestlé Gabon, S.A. Libreville 90% - 90% KAF 344 000 000
Nestlé Central and West Atrica Lxd Accra T100% GHS 145 748 DO_{]
Nestlé Ghana Ll.td Accra 6% GHE 20100 000
Kenya o N . - )
Nestlé Eguatorial Afiican ?e_gion Ligt Nairobi 100% 100% KES 2507242000
Mestlé Kenya Lid Nairobi 100% 100% KES 226100 400
Mauritius o . -

Nestld's Products (Mauritus) Ltd Port Louis 100% 160% MUR 2488071
Nestlé Maghreb SA. * Casablanca 100% 100% MAD 300000
Nestls Marac $.4, El Jagida 94./% 9AT%  MAD 156933060
N.igeria' » )

Nt::‘Sllé Nigeria Plc o ‘ ‘ A lupeju - 66.2% - 66.2% NGN 396328128
Llsr:a-:i. on the Nigerian Stock Exchange, rnackot caprtalization NVGN 116850 Liltion, quotatian cods {ISIN) NGNES ‘,EC'ODEV
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Companies of the Nestié Group, joint arrangements and associales

Companies

Senegal

Nestlé Sénégal S.A.

South Africa
Nestié {(South Africa) (Pty) Lrd
Clover Waters Proprietary Limited

Tunisia

Mestlé Tunisie S AL

Nestlé Tulms»e Distribution S.A.

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

City,

% capital
shareholdings
by Nestlé S.A.

% ultimate
capital
shareholdings

Dakar

Johannesburg

Johanneshurg

Tunis
Tunis

Lusaka

Harare

Currency

__LCopital

1620000000

100% XOF
100% 100% 7AR 759 735 000
30% ZAR 56 (21 890
T Tens%  9e5%  IND BA438780
0% 99.5%  TND 100 000
T 100%  zmMw 2317500

100%

19626 000
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangerments and associates

Americas
Argentina ) -

% capital
shareholdings

Eco de Los Afges S.A.
Nestlé Argentina S.A.

Bolivia

industrias Alimanticias Fagal S.R.L.
Nestié Bolivia 5.A.

Brazil

Buenos Aires

Buenos Aires

1%

Santa Cruz
Santa Cruz

Chocolates Garoto S A, o )

Dairy Partners Americas Manufactunng Brasil Lida

Nestie Brasit Ltda o )

Nestlé Nordeste Aimentos e Bebidas Ltda

Nestlé Sul - Alimentos ¢ Bebidas Ltda ]

Nestté Waters Brasil - Bebidas e Alimentos Ltda

SOCOPAL - Sociedade Comercial de Corretagem
de Seguros e de_l{arficipagées Ltdda

CPW Brasil Ltda 7

Dairy Partners Americas Brasil Ltda

Dairy Pazrne}s Arnericas Nordeste - Produtos
Alimenticios Ltda

Canada .
Agriym Innovations inc.
Nestlé Canada Inc,
Nesi_lé Capital Canada R]

Cayman Islands

Hsu Fu Chi International Limited

Chile o
Nespresse Chite S.A.
Nestlé Chile S.A. )
Cerealss CPW Chile Lida
Aguas CCQ ~Nesllg Chite S.A.

Comestibles La Rosa SA.

Dairy Partners Americas Manufacturing Colombia Ltda

MNestle de Colombia 5, A,
Nestlé Purina PetCare de Colombia 5.A.

Cost-a Rica

Compahia Nestlé Costa Ricag S A,

162

3

3

Vita Velha
Sao Paulo
Sa0 Paulo
Feira de Santana
Carazinho
Sa0 Paule

Sdo Paula
Cagapava
Sac Paulo

Garanhuns

o

) Westmqun; {Qué_hec;)

Toronto {Ontario)
leronto (O_ntarin)

Grand Cayman

Sa11h;§o de Chile

Santiago de Chile
Sanliago de Ch‘sie
Santtage de Chile

100%
100%
100%
100%

9%

499.7%

Bcgnfé
HBeogota
ngoté
Bogotd

52 4%
49 8%
100%
<0.1%

Heredia

% ultimate
capital

.. by Nestlé 5.A. shareholdings Currency

509% AR
100% ARS

ARS

"~ 100%  8OB

_....Capital

92524285
3 384 352 000

175556000

00% 108 191 900
100% ERL 264 766 192
100% BRL 39 468 974
100% BRL 463707 038
100% BRL 255 547 969
100% BRL 73049 736
100% BRL 87 248 247
100% BRL 2155 600
50%  BRL 7 885 520
49% BR1. 300 806 368
9% AL 100000
956%  CAD 2199409850
100%  CAD 47 165540
100%  CAD 1010
T % sGD 7950000
a0g8%  CLP 1006000
99.8% CLP 118329260600
50%  CLP 3026156114

498%  CLP

T00%  CoP

100%  cop
100%  cop
00% GO

© o0% CRC

49 799 375 32

126 397 400
200 000 600
1297 305 400
17 630 000 BUC

18000 000
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Companes of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital
shareholdings

Companies _ Ciy by Nestté SA. sh
Cuba : — —

Coyalaé %A
Los Portales S.A.
Nescor, S A,

Dominican Republic
Nestie Dominicana 5.A.
Silsa Domln]cana S.A.

Ecu.

Terrafertil S A

El Salvador

Nestié E1 Salvador, S.A. de CV.

Guatemala

Industrias Consolidadas de Ocaidente, S.A.

Maiher, S A,

Nesteé Guatemala S.A.

TESOCORP S.A.

ajugos S.A. )
In(_fi_istria_l Surindu 5.A.
Nestié E_ct_iadm_S_J\.

Hondurag
Nestté_HondL_n‘eﬁa SoAL

Jamaica

Nestlé Jamaica Ltd

Mexico

.

l.a Habana
l.a HMabana

Artemisa

Sanio Dom‘u‘ag_o
Sante Domingo

Quito
Quito
Quite

Tabacunde

San Salvador

* Chimaltenango

Guatemala City
Guatemata City

Guatemals City

% ultimate
capitai

60%  USD
50%  UsSD
509%  USD

 Jegucigales

Kingston

Malhermex, S.A. de CV. - o
Marantiales La Asuncidn, S.APL de CV. 1
Marcas Nestlé, S.A. de CV

Nescallin, $.A, dr CM

Nespresso México, A de OV,

Nestlé Holding México, $.A. de TV,

MNestlé Maxico, S A. de CV
Nestle Servicios Corporativos, S.A. de C V.
Nestlg Servicios Industriales, S A de CM

Producins Gerber, S A de CM
Raiston Purina México, S.A. de CV.
Terrafertil México S.APL de CV.

Waters Partners Services México, S:.A.P bdeCV. @

Veling powers smouet o 51.0%

<

Mexica, DUF. ‘
Mexico, D.F.
"Mexi.cp, DR
Mexico, D.ff'.
Mexica, D.F.
Mexico, DF.

Mnxfc_o,_ D.F

Mexico, D.F.
Mexica, DK
Queretarg
México, D.F.
Tultitlén

© Meéxico, DF.
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5 350000

24 110000
32 200000

TR 999%  DOP 1657445000
39.9%  USD 50000

_______ 100%  USD 521583
100%  USD 3000000

100%  USD 1776760

60%  USD 526 800

© 100%  100%  USD 4457200
100%  100%  GTQ 300000
00%  GTo 100075000

7 100%  GTQ 23450600
100% 00% @10 5000
0% paB 200000

o C O Moo% UMD 49200000
100% 100%  MXN 50000

N g% MXN 1035827492

<0.1% 100%  MXN 500050000
100% 100%  MXN 445 826740
<0.1%  100%  MXN 10 050 000
100% 100%  MXN 50000
<O.1% 100% MXT\ 4407 532 73(}7
<0.1% 100%  MXN 170 100000

160%  MXN
100%  MXN
100%  MXN
60%  MXN
4% MXN

1.050 000
50 000
9257112
15 040 320
620000
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Companies of the Nestié Group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies 7 )

Mexico (continued)
Careal Partners México, S.A. de cv.
CPW México, S.de R1. de CV.

Nicaragua

Compafia Centroamericana de Productos Lacteos, $.A.

Negti_é_ Nicaragua, S.»_Qj

Panama
Nes_tlé Panama, SA. ]

Unilac, inc.

Paraguay
Nestlé Business Services Latam S.A,

Nestlé Paraguay S.A.

Peru

Nestlg Marcaé lgeru, SAC.
Nestla Perd, S.A.

Puerte Rico B
Nestlé Puerto Rico, Inc.

Paycao i’-’ggds Corporation
Trinidad and Tobago
Nestlé Caribbean, Inc,

Nestle Trinided and Tobago E._td-

United States

)

-

BBC New Holdings, LLC

Blue Bottle Coffee. Inc.

Chameleon Cold Braw, LLC
Checkerboard Holding Company, Inc
Dreyer’'s Grand lce Cream Holdings, inc.
Foundry FFoods, Inc.

Garden of Life LLC

Gerber Products Company

HVL LLC

Lifefong Nutrition Inc.

Malher, Inc, '

Merrick Fet Care, inc. ‘ ‘
Merrick Pet Care Holdmgs Corporation
NDHH, LLC

Nesprasso USA, Inc.

Nestlé Capital Corporatior}
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-

o

<

o

.9

¢

% capital % ultimate
shareholdings capital
 City by Nestié sh i
Méxicc;, DF. T V 50%
Meéxica, DF. 50%
Managua 66.1% 92.6%
Managua 100%
" Penama City Co00%  100%
Panama City 100%
Asuncion 100%
Asuncion 100%
Clms 50%  100%
Lima 59.5% 949.5%
Bayamon S 100%
Bayarmon 100%
 Valayn O 00%
Valsayn 100%
I’\f%lmington {Del__aware) £8.3%
Wilmington {Lelaware) 88.3%
Wilmington {{Delaware) 150%
Wilmington {Delaware) 100%
Wilmington {Delaware) 160%
Wilmington {Delaware) 100%
Wilmmgtonr{Dele)ware} 100%
Framont {(Michigan) 100%
Wilmington {Dekyware) 100%
Wifmingian {Delaware) 50%
Stafford {Texas} 100%
Dallas {Texas) 100%
Wiﬁnwingtora {Delaware) 100%
Wilmington {Dglaware) 100%
Wilmington {Delaware) 100%
Witmington {Celaware) 100%

=G

Py G

UsD
UsSD
use
UsD
USD
UsD
usD
UsSD
USD
Use

- usp

usD
usD
usD
uso
usD

.. Capital

500 600
708 138 000

150 000

17500000
750 000

100 006 000

5536 832
88 964 253

© 500000
890 000

00000
35 540 000

1000
1200
1060

1400 000

100

T
1000
1000 000
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Companias of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

% capital
shareholdings

% ultimate
capital

Companies . ety . ... byNestleSA shareholdings Currency ~  Capital
United States (continued) o o o 777 N L
Nestlé Draver's Ice Cream Company Wiimingten (Delaware) 100% UsD 1
Nestié Health Science US Holdings, Inc. & Witmingten {Delaware) 100% Uusn 1
Nestlé HealthCare Nutrition, Inc. Wilmington {Delaware) 106G% usD 50 000
Nestlé Holdings, Inc. ¢ Wilmington {Delaware) 100% UsD 100 000
Nestlé Insurance Holdings, Inc. ¢ Wilmington {Delaware) 100% UsD 10
Nestlé Nutr_ité{m R&D Centers, Inc. Wilmington {Delaware} - 100% UsD 10000
Nestlé Prepared Foods Company Pniladelphia {(Pennsylvarma) 100% uso 476 760
Nesti¢ Purina PetCare Company ) 5t. Louis {Missour) 100% uso 1000
Nestlé Purina PetCare Global Resources, Inc. Wilmington {Delaware) 100% usD o
Nesté R&D Center, Inc. ) ) Wilmington {Delaware) 100% UsD 10000
Nestlé Regional GLOBE Office North America, Inc. Wilmington {Delaware] - 100% uso 1000
Nestlé Transporiation Company - o 7 W;I;nington {Delaware) 100% uso 100
Nestlé US Holdco. Inc. ‘ , _® Wilmington {Delaware) 100% Uso 1
Nestlé US/_\, In(:._ . o Wilmington (De!aw_are) 100% usoD ) 1000
Nestlé W:'—)ters North America Holdings, Inc. ) ¢ Wilmingten {Delaware”) 100%  USD 10060000
Nestlé Waters North America, Inc. o Wilmingten {Delaware} 100% UsD 10 700 000
NiMCo US, inc. ) ' . ¢ Wilmington {Delaware} _100% uso 10
Osem USA Ine. - New York 7 00%  USD 30000
Pure Encapsulations, LLC Wilmington {Delaware} 100% usD —
Red Manle insurance Company 5 Williston (Vermont) 100% uso 1260060
Sweet Eartn Inc. Wiimington (Delaware) 100%  USD 0
The Heagen-Dazs Shoppe Company, Inc. ) ~ Centennial {Colorado} 100% usp O
The Stouffer Corporation ¢ Cleveland (Ohio) 100% usD R
TSC Holdings, Inc. 7 ¢ Wilmington (Delaware) 100%  USD 100 000
Vitality Foodservice, Inc. Daver {Delaware) ~100% UusD 1249
Waggin' ‘T're;:‘rn LLC Wél%\ington (Del_awar_e) ) 100%  USD _—
Zuke'SLLC L . Wimington (Delaware) C100%  USD S0
Aimmune Therapeutics, Inc. o B Wilmington {Delaware} IBE%  UsD 6330
Axcella Health Inc. o o N 3 Wilmington {Delaware) 103%  uUsh 23082
Before Brands, Inc. . ® Wilmington {Delaware) 325%  USD 4815
Ceracin Inc. - ) Wilmington {Delaware 32.5% uso 68251
Seres T?-aer-apeutacs, Ine. ' 3 Carﬁhridge

(Ma_s_sac¥1uset;s) ‘ 9.8% _usp 69994
Uruguay 3
Hestlé del Uruguay S.A. - Montevideo 100% UYy - 5495188
Venezuela ) ~
Nestlé Cadipro, S.A. "~ Caraces o 100% VES 506
Nestlé Ve‘ne-zue}‘a, 5.A, Cfe_ir_acas 100% 100% VES 5
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Companies of the Nesttd Group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies ..

Asia
Afghanistan
Nestlé Afghanistan Lid

Baheain =~ =000
Nestié Bahrain Trading WLL
Al Manhal Water Factory {Bahrain} WLL,

Bangladesh
Nestlé Bangladesh Limited

i\_r“\-hrur» |ni4 Fopd;_-bﬁﬂ, Limited
Atrium Innoyatlons (HK) Limited )
Chengdu Yinlu fj"oods Co., Limited
‘Dc-angguan Hsu C,‘.hi Food Co., Limited
Guangzhou Refrigerated Foods Limited
Henan Hsu Fu Chi Foeds Co., Limited
Hsu Fu Chi International Holdings Limited
Hubei Yinlu Foods Co., Limited

Nestie {China) Limited

Nestle Dongguan timited )
Nestlé Health Scignce {Chi_na) Limited
Nestle Hong Kong timited -

N_estlé Nezspressz_) Eeijing L%r_mted ]

Nestlé Purina PetCare Tianjin Limited
Nestlé Qingdao ;imuted

Nestle R&D (China) Limited

Nestlé Shanghai Limited

Nestlé Shuangeheng Limited

Nestlé Sources Shangha: Limited

Nestle Squrcas Tianjin Limited

Nestié Taiwan Limited

Nestlé Tianjin Limited 7

Shandong Yinlu Foods Co., Limited
Shanghar Nestié Drcdgcl_Scrvtces Limited
Shanghai Totole First Fogd L rniied
Shanghai Totofe Food Limited

Sicllual'| Haoyi Food CU Limited

Suzhou Hexing qud Co., Limited o
Whyeth (Hong Kaong} Halding Co., Lim}ted'
Wyeth {Shanghai) Trading Co., Limited
Wyeth Nutritional (China) Co., Limited
Xiamen Yiniu Foods Group Co., Limited
Yunnan Dashan Drinks Co., Limited

166

o

L)

% capital
shareholdings
City
Kabul  100%
Manama 29%
Manama
Dhaka 100%
Chumhou T Toow
Hang Kong 100%
Chengdu 100%
Dongguan
Gua-ngzhou 395.5%
Zhumadian
Hang Kong
Hahmuan h 100%
Beijing 100%
Dangguan 100%
Taizhou City
Hong Kong 100%
Beijing 100%
Tianjin 100%
Laixi 100%
Beijing
Shanghai 9E%
Shuangcheng 7%
Shanghat 100%
Tianjin Q5%
Taipel 100%
Tianji_ﬂ 100%
Jinan 100%
Shanghai
Slmr!ghair 100%
Shanghai 100%
Puge 80%
Suzhou 100%
Hoﬂg Kang 100%
VSi-iar’;ghai
Suzhou o
Xiamen 100%
Ku_nming 100?‘/D

% ultimate
capital

63%

100%
100%
0%
95.5%
60%
60%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
95%
9%
100%
Gh4%
H00%
100%,
100%
100%
100%
100%
80%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

T oo%

ush

BOT

ony

HKD
chy
HKD
CNY
cryY
Usp
CNY
CNY
CNY
ush
HKD
CNY
CNY
CNY
CNY
ChNy
Cny
chy
CNY

'J'WD.

CNY
CY
CNY
oy
usp
chNY
eNY
HKD
Ush
CNY
CNY
CNY

_ by Nestlé S.A shareholdings Currency

302990000

.

—y

Lapital

17000000

200000
300000

100000000

;
215 800 600
700 £00 500
390 004 000
224000600
100 000

353 000 000
250 000 000
536 000 000
32640 000

250 000 005
7000 000
40000 000
430 000 00
40 000 000
260 000 DGO
43% 000 000
149 700 000
204 D00 000
100 000 000
785 0UC OO
146 880 000
£3 000 0C0
72 000 000
7 800 000
&0 000 00O
40 000 000
354 107 000
2 000 0U0
900 000 0G0
496 590 000
35 D00 D00
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

Companies

India
Nestlé india Ltd

A

LLCiy

New Delhi

% capital % ultimate

shareholdings capital
..y Nesté S.A. shareholdings Currency  _ Capital
34.3% 62.8%  INR 964157160

[istod on the Bumbay Stock Fxchangs market capitalization INR 142060 Bulion, quotation coue (SINY INEPISATIOTH

Indonesia B ) - ) o o

PT. Nestlé Indonesia Jakarta 90.2% 90.2% IDR 152 753 440000

PT. Nesﬂé Trading |ﬂdOﬂ§3$ia " Ja karta 1% 90.3% IR 60000000000

PT. Wyeth Nutrition Sduagnam Jakarta 90% I3R 2500000000

van L B

Nestle ran (Private Joint Stock Company) fehran 95.4% 95.9% ~IRR 358538 000000
Nestlé Parstan (Private Joint Stock Company) Tehran 60% - B0% IRR 1000 000 0G0

Israel . e _ e e e
Assamim Gift Parcels Ltd wam o 73.8% s 103

Beit Hashita-Asis Lirnited Partnership Kibbutz Beil Hashita 100% LS 11771000

Materna industries Limited Partnership Kibbutz Maabarot 100% LS 0o

Migdanot Habait Ltd - Shoam ) 100% s 4014
Nespresso Israel Ltd  Tel Aviv 100% 100% ILS - 1000

O_SEM Food Industries Ltd Shoam 100% (1) 176

OSEM Group Commerce Limiled Partnership Shoam ) 100% LS 100

OSEM Investments Lid Shoam 160% ~300% ILS 110 644 443

Tivell Food Industries Lud Kiryat Gat T00% ILS 41861167

Blue Bottle Coffee Japan, Tokyo ) 88.3% JPY 10000 Q00

Nestié Japan Ltd Kabe 100% 100% Jpy 4 000 Do0 oo

Nestlé Nespresso K.K. Kaobe 100% JPY 10 000 000

Jordan. . :

Ghadeer Mineral Water Co. WL Amman - 5% JO0D 1785000
Nestlé Jordan Trading Company Ltd Amman 50% 77.8% JOD 410000

Kuwait -

Nestlé Kuwait General Trading Company WLL Safat 49% CA49%  KWD 300000

Lebanon o .

Socigté des Eaux Mingrales Libanaises S.AL. Hazmieh 100% LgP 1610000000

Socigte pour PExportation des Produits Nestié S.A, Baabda 100% 100% CHF - 1750000

SGHAT Distribution SAA.L_ Hazmieh 1(}{)% LBp ‘160 QDO 000
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Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

Mala):g.ia

Nestlé (Malaysia) Bhd.

{rsted on the Kudta Lumpur SEock exchange, market cagitalzation MYR 345 Btk

Nestlé Asean (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Nestlé Manufacturing {Malaysia} Sdn. Bhd.

Nestié Products Sdn. Bhd,

Nestlé Regional Service Centre (Malaysia} ‘sdn Bhal,
Purina PetCare (Malaysial $dn. Bhd.

Wyeth Nutrition (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Cereal Partners (Malaysia) Sdn. 8hd.

O

Nestié Oman

rading LLG

Pakistan

Nestié Paqufax\ L;d

2~ Lahaore

Gy

40 Petaling Java

Petaling Jaya
Petaling Java
Petaling Jaya
Petaling Jaya
~ Petaling Jaya

Petaling Jaya

i Petaling Jaya

Muscat

% capital % uftimate
shareholdings capital
....by Nestlé S.A. shareholdings Currency ~ Capital
T 726%  72.6%  MYR 267 500000

quotanon code (ISING MY 470700005

72.6% MYR
72.6% MYR
72.6% MYR

42 000 060
132 500 000
28 500 000

100% 100%  MYR 1060000

100% 00%  MYR 1100900

_ 0% MYR 1 968 505

50% 50%  MYR 2500000

""" : Cag%  49%  OMR 300000
© se% B9%  PKR 453495840

Lintedd on the Pakisian Stock Exchange, market captiaiization PKE 3851 bifion, quotalon code (SR FKOGZSTETOTZ

Philippines .
Nestlé Business Services AQA, Inc.

N_estlé Philippines, Inc.
Penpro, Inc. i )
Wyeth Philippines, inc.
CPW Philippines, Inc.

Qatar )
Al Manhal Water Factory Co. Ltd WLL
Nestlé Qatar Trading LLC

Republit.: of Korea .
Nestlé Korea Yuhan Chaegim Hoesa ‘

Pulmuone Waters Co., Lid
LOTTE-Nestlé (Korea) Co, Ld

Saudi Arabia -
Al Anhar Water Factory Co. L
A} Manhal Water Factory Co. Lid
Nestlé Sauc_ii Arabia LLC

Nestlé Waler Factory Co. Ltd

Pure Watér* Factory Co. ttd

SHAS Company for Water Services Ltd
Springs Water Factory Co. Lid

He Vaung powers amount to AL g%

168

Bathlehemn

Bulacan o
Cabuyao
Maxati City
Makati City

Y Makati City

<

Doha )
Doha

Cuon aooon0

C06%  100%  PHP 70080000

55% 100% PHP 2300 927 400

85.5% PHP 630 000 DO

100% 100% PHP 743134900

50% 50% PHP 7 500 000

' ) ) CB1% QAR 5 500 000
49% 49% QAR 1 620 0G0

Seoul
Gyeonggr-Do
' Cheongju

100%  KRW 15 534 500 000
51%  KRW 6778760000
50%  KRW 52783120000

E;nri‘riah
- Riyadh
Jeddah
Riyadh
Madinah
Rivadh
Darﬁmam

64%  SAR 7 500 D0C
84%  SAR 7 000 000
5% SAR 27 040 000
64%  SAR 15 000 609
64%  SAR 5 000 000
54%  SAR 13 500 000
B4%  SAR 5 000 000
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Companies of the Nestié Group, Joint arrangements and associatas

Companies

Singapore

% capital

Nestlé R&D Center (Pte) Ltd
Nesté Singapore (Pte} Ltd
Nestlé TC Asia Pacific Pte Ltd

Wyeth Nutritionals (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Sri Lanka
Nestlé Lanka PLC

shareholdings
R L Gty
o Singapore
Singapore 100%
¢ Singapore 100%
Singapore 100%
4 Celombo

% ultimate

_._by Nestlé S.A. sharehaldings

capital

Currency

Capital

90e%

fasted on the Colombo stock exehange, market caputaizaten | KR 898 hulfon, qootation code (SN} RO ITENGIOOS

Syrfa
Nesilé Syria 5.A.

99.9%

100%
100%
100%

100%

90.8%

SGD 20 000 000
SGD 1000 000
JPY 10000 000 000
SGD 2
SGD 2059971715
LKR 537 254 630

800 000 000

Damascus 99.9%  SYP

Nestié (ThaLta  Bangkok ~ 100%  THB  BRODOOOOD
Perrier Vittel {Thailand) Ltd  Bangkok 100%  THR 235000000
Quality Coffee Products Lid _ Bangkok - 49% 50%  THB 500000000
Nestlé Dubai Manufacturing LLC Dubai - 49% 49%  AED 300 000
Nestié Middle East F2E Dubai 100% 00%  AED 3000 000
Nestlé Middle East Manufacturing LLC Dubai 49% 4G% AED 300000
Nestié Middle East Marketing FZE ~ Dubai 100%  AED 1060 060
Nesus Treasury Centre-Middle East & Africa Lid ¢ Dubal 100% 00%  USD 2997 343684
Nestlé UAE LLC ' Dubai 29% a9%  AED 2000 000
Nestlé Waters Factory H& O LLC Debai ) A8% ~AED 22 300000
CP Middle East FZCO 0 Dubai 50% 50%  AED 800 000
Uzbekistan _

Nestlé Food MChJ XK © Tashkent 100% 100%  UZS 12922977 969
Uietnam L ;

La Vie Limited Liability Company Leng An ] 65% Usb . 2663400
Nesie Vietnam LLd ' Bien Hoa 100% 100%  KYND 1261151498

Consclidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2009
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Companies of the Nestié Group, joint arrangements and associates

% uttimate
capital

% capital
shareholdings

Companies . S A

Oceania
Australia

Nestle Austrafia tid  Sydrey T 0% 100% AUD
Cereal Partners Australia Pty Ltd " Sydney 50% AUD
L) L

Nestlé (Fiji) Ltd

French Polynesia

Nestlé Polynésie S.A.S. Papeete T 100%  XPF
Nestlé Nouvelle-Calédome S.AS, ~ Noumés 100% XpE
NewZealand R e e
Nestle New Zealsnd Limited ) Auckianq T00% ) NZD
CPW New Zealand U, Auckland 50% NZL
PapuaNew Guinea e § _

Nestié IPNG) Lid ) 100% )

170

___ by Nestlé S.A shareholdings Currency

Capital

274000000
107 800 000

3000000

5000000

" 64000000

Cpok

© 300000

11850000
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Companies of the Nestié Group, joint arrangements and associates

Technical assistance, research and development units

All scientific research and technological development is undertaken in a number of dedicated
centres, specialized as follows:

Technical Assistance TA
Development centres D
Research centres R
Research & Development centres R&D
Product Technology centres PTC

The Technical Assistance centre is Société des Produits Nestlé S.A. (SPN), a technical, scientific,
commercial and business assistance company. The units of SPN, specialized in all areas of the
business, supply permanent know-how and assistance to operating companies in the Group within
the framework of licence and equivalent contracts. SPN is also responsible for all scientific research
and technological development, which it undertakes itself or through affiliated companies. The
centres involved are listed below:

City of operations

Nesté Institute of Health Sciences  Ecublens - o R
Nestié Product 1‘échnology Centre Béverége N Orbe ) ) S - PiC
Nestlé Product Technology Cemré Dairy Konolfingen ) ) ) ) PIC
MNestle Product Technology Centre Nestlé Nutrition ~ Konolfingen ) ) 7 ) ) PTC
Nestlé Praduct Technology Centre Nestlé Professional Orpe . - - PIC
Nestlé Research S Lausanne ) ) ) ) R
Nestle Systém Technoiogy éiemre a Orbe R and
; . PIC
Société des Produits Nestlé S.A. - -Veveyl ‘ - o o TA
ChwW R&DCertre T 0 Wahgunyah ) ‘ ) R&D
Chile . B
Nestié Development Centre o ) o Santiago de Chile ]
Céte d'lvoire B
Nestlé R&D Centre ~ Abidan , , R&D
France
Nestlé Devetopment Centre Dairy V Listeux ) - 7 L
Nestlé Product Téchnology Centre Water ) ‘ vittel ) - PiC
Nestié R&D Centre o  Aubigny . - R&D
Nesté R&D Centre ) '7 . ) - fours S . 7 R&D3
Froneri Development Center Glaces 5.A.S. B " Beauvais ) o ) o PTC

Consolidated Financial Statements of the Nestlé Group 2019

17



Companies of the Nestlé Group, joint arrangements and associates

Germany ’
Nestié Product Technalogy Centre Food Singen PTC

Greater China Region = .

Nestle R&D Centre Beiiing R&D

India o

Nest(é Deye!opmem_{ientre o . ~ Gurgaon 7 7 7 D !
Republic of frefand _ e e s SO e ;

Nestlé Development Centre Askeamn ) ) ) 8]

Singaspme B ) D

Unlted Kingdom

Nestlé Product Technalogy Cehtrei(I(v;\fet,tTcﬁneVry 777” 7777777 Y;k W ) ) ) PTC- )

CPW RRD Centre ) ) ) T Staverton ) ) R&D

United States e - -
Nestié Development Centce  Fremant {Michigan} - )
Nestlé beve?op;ném Centré" h 7- - N - Marfys-ville ﬁOhiQ) R - b

Nes-tié Develnpﬁxenl_ Centre ) ) Sq!o-r\.(Dhio} ) B _ 7 W]

Nestlé Product Technology Centre Health Science ) Bodgawater {New Jersey) ) B PTC

Nestle Product Technology Centre lee Cream B Bakersfield (California) ) PTC

Nestle Product_ Technology Centre PetCare St Louis {(Missouri) o o ) PTC

Nestié R&D Centre - - . | StJoseph (Missou} R&D

CPW R&D Centre. ) ) ) " Minneapolis {Minnesotaj ) N R&D
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EIncome statement for the year ended
December 31, 2019

Balance sheet as at December 31, 2019

MNotes to the annual accounts

1.
2.
3.

SIEN

22.
23.
24.

Accounting policies

Income from Group companies
Profit on disposal and revaluation
of assets

Financial income

Expenses recharged from

Group companies

Write-downs and amortization
Financial expenses

Taxes

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current receivables

Financial assets

Sharehcldings

Intangible assets

Imterest-bearing liabilities

Other current liabilities

Provisions

Share capital

Changes in equity

Treasury shares

Contingencies

Performance Share Units, Restricted
Stock Units, Phantom Shares and
shares for members of the Board
and employees granted during the year
Full-time equivalents

Events after the balance sheet date
Shares and stock options

Proposed appropriation of profit

Statutory Auditor’'s Report —
Report on the Audit of the
Financial Statements
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Income statement

for the year ended December 31, 2019

in milfions of CHE

o o Notes 2y 2018
Income from Group companies > 12109 15 ?8:3
Profit on disposal and revatuation of assets 2 8 368 2144
Other income 118 110
Financial incoms L A 302 207
Total income o 20 897 17 741
Fx;;e-nqp«; ;écharged from Group companies - {2 509) {2 543)
Parsonneal expenses (158) (146)
Other expenses (367} {1 96)
Write-downs and amortization v (3087) (1 847)
Financial expenses (68) {68)
Total expenses o {6 662} {5 473}
Profit for the year T 14235 12268
153rd Financial Statements of Nestlé S A, 175



Balance sheet
as at December 31, 2019

before appropriations

in millions of CHF

. 2018 LA0B
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents a 631 262
Other current receivables 1376 9472
Prepayments and o income ) - s B5
Total current assets 20494 1269
Non-current assets
Financial assets : 13353 7857
Shareholdings i 20775 78683
Property, plant and equipment 1 1
Intangible assets B - e e T L2578
Total non-current assets 34129 39 069
Jotal assets 36223 40 338
Liabilities and equity )
Current liabilities )
Interest-beasing liabilities 4 1657 2023
Other current liabilities o g 1180 2107
Accruals and defened income 17 12
Provisions N o ~ L 385 586
Tatal current liabilities 3239 4738
Non—currént Elahll\tles - ) - 7 )
Interest-bearing habilities o ) a4 1503 1635
Provisiens e ) 6 547 495
Total non-current liabilities 2050 2131
Total liabilities 5289 6869
Equity ‘ )
Sharel capital ) 148 298 308
Legal retained earnings
- General legal reserve i 1937 1929
Voluntary retamed carnings
-~ Special reserve B 12519 18 209
- Profit brought tforward 5 11436 5 480
- Profit for the year ] 14235 12 268
Treasury shares (Q 491) {6813}
Total equity 30934 33 469
Total liabilities and equity o ] 35223 56"3'3'8
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Notes to the annual accounts

1. Accounting policies

General

Nestlé S.A. (the Company) is the uitimate holding company
of the Nestlé Group, domiciled in Cham and Vevey which
comprises subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures throughout the world.

The accounts are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles required by Swiss law {32nd title of the Swiss
Code of Obligations). They are prepared under the historical
cost convention and on an accrual basis. Where not
prescribed by law, the significant accounting and valuation
principtes applied are described below.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of
exchange at the date of the transaction or, if hedged
forward, at the rate of exchange under the related forward
contract. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are carried at
historical rates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at year-end rates. Any resuiting
exchange differences are included in the respective income
statement captions depending upon the nature of the
underlying transactions. The aggregate unrealized exchange
difference is calculated by reference to original transaction
date exchange rates and includes hedging transactions.
Where this gives rise to a net loss, itis charged to the
income statement whilst a net gain is deferred.

Hedging

The Company uses forward foreign exchange contracts,
options, financial futures and currency swaps to hedge
foreign currency flows and positions. Unrealized foreign
exchange differences on hedging instruments are matched
and accounted for with those on the underlying asset or
liability. Long-term loans, in foreign currencies, used to
finance investments in shareholdings are generslly not
hedged.

The Company also uses interest rate swaps to manage
interest rate risk. The swaps are accounted for at fair value at
each balance sheet date and changes in the market price are
recorded in the income statement.

The positive fair values of forward exchange contracts and
interest rate swaps are included in prepayments and accrued
income. The negative fair values of forward exchange
contracts and interest rate swaps are inciuded in accruals
and deferred income.

153rd Financial Statements of Nestlé S A,

Income statement

In accordance with Swiss law dividends are treated as an
appropriation of profit in the year in which they are ratified at
the Annual General Meeting rather than as an appropriation
of profit in the year to which they relate,

Taxes
This caption includes taxes on profit, capital and withholding
taxes on transfers from Group companies.

Shareholdings and financial assets
The carrying value of shareholdings and loans comprises the
cost of investment, excluding the incidental costs of
acquisition, less any write-downs.

Shareholdings and loans are written down on
a conservative basis, taking into account the profitability of
the company concerned.

Property, plant and equipment

The Company owns land and buildings which have been
depreciated in the past. Office furniture and equipment are
fully depreciated on acguisition.

Intangible assets

Trademarks and other industrial property rights are written
off on acquisition or exceptionally over a longer period, not
exceeding their useful lives.

Provisions

Provisions include present obligations as well as
contingencies. A provision for uninsured risks is constituted
to cover general risks not insured with third parties, such as
consequential loss. Provisions for Swiss taxes are made on
the basis of the Company's taxable capital, reserves and
profit for the year. A general provision is maintained to cover
possible foreign tax liabilities.
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2. Income from Group companies

This represents dividends and other income from Group companies.

3. Profit on disposal and revaluation of assets

This represents mainly the net gains realized on the sale of financial assets, trademarks
and other industrial property rights previously written down, In 2019, the net gain of

CHF 1603 millign on the sale of participations to Société des Produits Nestlé 5 A, and
CHF 4135 millign on the sate of Nestlé Skin Health S AL is included. In addition, a reversal
of prior period valuation adjustments resulted in a net gain on participations amounting to
CHF 2435 million. In 2018, the net gain of CHF 1431 million on the sale of the US
confectionery business was included.

4. Financial income

In millions of CHF

~ fZQJi 2018
Income on loans to Group companies ... ....oo8e 202
302 202
5. Expenses recharged from Group companies
Expenses of central service companies recharged to Nestlé S A,
6. Write-downs and amortization
in mullions of CHF
; 2078 2018
Shareholdings and loans o ‘ o 2758 1481
Trademarks and other industrial property rights 324 366
3082 1847

178 153rd Financial Statements of Nestlé S A.



7. Financial expenses

In millions of CHF

. e .. .2018 2018
Expenses related to loans from Group companies 25 51
Other financial expenses - - 43 ”j?
68 68
8. Taxes
In millions of CHF
S e e A .08
Direct taxes - 262 241
Prior years adjustments o (3m —
Withholding taxes on incomme from foreign sources - . 32
478 673
9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits with maturities of less than three months.
10. Other current receivables
In mitlions of CHE
- ...2018 2018
Amounts owed by Group comparnieﬂsr(rcurrent accpunts) 1325 ,903
Other receivables N 21 39
1376 942
T1. Financial assets
In millions of CHF
2019 2018

Loans to Group companias 13328 7842
Other investments - o 24 15

13 353 7 857
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12. Shareholdings

in millions of CHF

L R LL2000 208
At January 1 o - 28693 06
Net increase/{decreasea) (5978} {2621}
Write-downs e {1940} (692
At December 31 20775 28 693
A list of direct and significant indirect Group companies held by Nestlé S.A. with the
percentage of the capital controlled is included in the Consclidated Financial Statements
of the Nestlé Group. On December 31, 2019 Nestlé S.A. has sold or contributed
shareholdings with a net book value of CHFE 6445 million to its subsidiary Société des
Produits Nestié 5.A. (also see note 3).
13. intangible assets
This amount represents the unamortized balance of the trademarks and other industrial
property rights capitalized in relation with the acquisition of Atrium and of the acquired
perpetual rights to market, sell and distribute certain Starbucks’ consumer and foodservice
products globally, except the United States of America. On December 31, 2019, the
trademarks and other industrial praperty rights have been sold to Société des Produits
Nestlé S.A. for CHF 2226 million,
14. Interest-bearing liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities are amounts owed to Group companies.
in rihons of CHEF

g %]

2 c

T2 g iy 5.8

o = =9 oz . @3

¢ £ 3 £iz 528
lssuer rigl= O mE® Foc 2019 2018
Nestlé S A, Switzerland ) CHf 600 0.75% 0.69%  2018-2028 603 603

o CHF 900 0.25% 0.26%  2018-2024 SO0 899

Total carrying amount 1503 1502

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities concern twe bonds issued by Nestie S A.
on June 28, 2018. in addition, in 2018 it also included one amount owed t0 2 Group
cempany.
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15. Other current liabilities

In milliong of CHF

Amounts owed to Group companies 993 1897
Cther liabilities o o 187 _ 210
1180 2107

16. Provisions
in rillions of CHF

L o ~ - B o 2018 2018

Swiss and
Uninsured  Exchange foreign
3 o risks risks taxes Other Total Total
T LSOO £ SO 28 the @8z te21
Provisions made in the period ) B ‘ R —_ - 262 B8 350 3mn
Atnounts used B ) — - (181) {55) (2386) - {178)
Unused amounts reversed e B8 @ 2Te) (24)
At December 31 475 _ 279 178 932 1092
of which cxpected to be setted withn 72 moning 385 596
17. Share capital
~ 2019 2018

Number of registered shares of nominal value CHF 0.10 each 2976 000 000 3063 000 0600
In millions of CHF 298 306
According to article 5 of the Company's Articles of Association, no person or entity shall
be registered with voting rights for mors than 5% of the share capital as recorded in the
commercial register. This limitation on registration also applies tc persons who hold some or
all of their shares through nominees pursuant to this article. In addition, article 11 provides
that no person may exercise, directly or indirectly, voting rights, with respect to own
shares or shares represented by proxy, In excess of 5% of the share capital as recorded
in the commercial register. The Company was not aware of any shareholder holding,
directly or indirectly, 5% or more of the share capital.
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18. Changes in equity

In millions of CHF

General
Share legal Special Retained Treasury
capital _ reserve  reserve  earnings  shares  Total
AtJanuary1,201¢ 306 1929 19299 18748 (6813] 33469
Cancellation of 87 000 000 shares {ex-share buybéck programj {8} 8 (6 862) — 6 862 e
Profit for the yvear — — o 14 235 — 14 235
Dividend for 2018 e - — {7 230} — (7 230)
Movement of treasury shares ) e e — — (9 540) (9 540)
Dividend on treasury shares held on the payment date of 2018
At December 31, 2019 298 1937 12519 25671
19. Treasury shares
Iy millions of CHFE
2009 2018
R Number _ Amount Number Amount
éharg buyback program ) 88 858 859 9009 8 /41654 6173
Long-term incentive plans_ /0918y A87 8disesa B0
95 950 558 9 491 88520 513 6813

The share capital has been reduced by 87 000 000 shares from CHF 306 million to
CHF 298 million through the cancellation of shares purchased as part of the share
buyback program. The purchase value of those cancelied shares amounts to

CHF 6862 miilion.

During the year 87 117 000 shares were purchased as part of the share buyback

proegram for CHF 3698 million.

The Caompany held 7 091 899 shares to cover long-term incentive plans. During the
year 3 296 955 shares were delivered as part of the Nestlé Group remuneration plans for
a total value of CHF 227 million. All treasury shares are valued at acquisition cost.

The total of own shares of 95 950 558 held by Nestlé S.A. at December 31, 2019,
represents 3.2% of the Nestlé S A. share capital {88 520 513 own shares held at
December 31, 2018, by Nestlé S.A. representing 2.9% of the Nestlé S.A. share capital).
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20. Contingencies

At December 31, 2019, the total of the guarantees mainly for credit facilities granted to Group
companies and commercial paper programs, together with the buyback agreements relating
to notes issued, amounted to a maximum of CHF 80 272 million {2018: CHF 51 969 million}.

21. Performance Share Units, Restricted Stock Units, Phantom
Shares and shares for members of the Board and employees
granted during the year

In milligns of CHF

e e e : . 219 2018
e e e e e Nummier e Amount . Number  Amount
Performance Share Units, Restricted Stock Units and Phantom
Shares granted to Nestlé S A employees #% . 205850 7o 225780 14
Share plan for short-term bonus Executive Board i B - B3 855 7 54641 4
347 257 5 361 461 24
(a) Performance Share and Restricled Stock Units are disclosed al Tair valug at grant wineh coriesponds to CHF 81.14 {grant in
March 2018} and CHF 98.03 tgrant i October 2019} (2018 CHE 59 96 for PSUs and CHF 66 .62 for RSUs) Includes
157960 Performance Share Units granted o kxecutive Board (2018: 180 3585) The Phantom Shares are valued at
CHE 102,27 per Unit in 2019
(b} Neutlé S A, Shares teceived as part of the shart-tarm banus are valued al the sverage Closing price of the last ten Lrading
days of January 2020 The 2018 amounts bave been restated from Lhe discounted vatue (discouni of 16.038%) to markel
value,
€} Nestlé 8 A, shares received as part of the Board membership and Commitlee fees are valued at the closing price ol the
share on the SIX Swiss Exchange on the ex-gividend dale. The 2018 amounts have been restated from the discounted
vafue {dhscount of 16.038%) 10 markel value
22. Fuli-time equivalents
For Nestlé S.A., the annuatl average number of full-time eguivalents for the reporting year, as
well as the previous year, did not exceed 250.
23. Events after the balance sheet date
There are no subsequent events which either warrant a modification of the value of the assets
and liabilities or any additional disclosure.
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24, Shares and stock options

Shares and stock options ownership of the non-executive members
of the Board of Directors and closely related parties

S P S B U A
Number of Number of
shares shares
. : held & held
Paul Bulcke, Chairman S o L ‘ 1421947 1391207
Henri de Castries, Vice Chalrman, Lead Independent Director o - ) 27 6498 73829
BeatW. Hess - ~ 4g9se 45 649
Renato Fassbind - S 30480 27141
Ann M. VYeneman o ‘ ) o 21160 19305
Eva Cheng o - o 18168 15783
Patrick Aebischer o 7 g5 4650
Ursula M. Burns - 6214 2198
Kasper B, R’__o_{stz;d ) o o o 3360 ) 1878
Pablolsta o o N 3731 1878
Kimberly A. Ross o B ) 4559 2545
Dick Boer o o ) 2984 ) —
Dinesh Paliwal o B 7 o o 1484 e
Members who retired fram the Board during 2019 .= . 7149
Total as at December 31 1597281 1559560
{a} Including shares sulect 10 & Lhree-year blocking period.
There are no stock options held by any non-executive member of the Board of Directors
and closely related parties.
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24. Shares and stock options

Shares and stock options ownership of the members of the Executive Board and

closely related parties

e i} Jme 2018
Number of Number of Number of Number of
shares options shares aptions
___held 1 held ® held hald &
UIf Mark Schneider, Chief Executive Officer 300 957 —_ 23234 nen
Laurent Freixe 50333 e 35 191 e
Chris Johnson 110 806 — /8362 —
Patrice Bula B 214842 e 187 894 —_
Marco Settembri 59700 e 40 620 —
Frangois-Xavier Roger 62 080 —— ?‘593 —
Magdi Batato 23791 — 13288 —
Stefan Palzer 6188 e 2616 —
Béatrice Guillaurne-Grabisch 11402 e —_ —
Leanne Geale e e S —
Maurizi{_) Patarr_le_llo S 239 - 16 533 e
Grégory Behar 7 ) B N 11924 — 3611 e
Members who retired from the Executive Board during 2019~ = T slTie | BOBOC
Total as at December 31 876 482 — 593 521 80 8GO0
{a} Including shares subject 10 a thiee-year blocking pened.
{1} P he ratio is one option for one Nestlé S A share.
For the detailed disclosures regarding the remunerations of the Beard of Directors and the
Execulive Board that are required by Swiss law, refer to the Compensation report of
Nestlé S.A. with the audited sections highlighted with a blue bar.
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Proposed appropriation of profit

in CHF

Retained earnings
Profit brought forward
Pﬂﬁ’r _fc;r the year

11436 254726
14234830934
25671 144 660

2019

L AE

6 479 867 098
12 267 820 563

18 747 687 661

We propose the following ap;ropriation: ‘
Dividend for 2019, CHF 2.70 per share
on 2 887 141 3417 shares 14

{2018: CHF 2.45 on 2 584 258 341 share

7311432935

7311432935

Profit to be carried forward

{a} Depending on the number of shares Tssued as of the 1ast trading day with entitiement Lo receive the dwidend
(Apnl 24, 20200, No dividend 1s paid on own shares heid by the Nestle Group.

{b} The amounl of CHF 81 816 792, representing the dividend on 33 394 809 own shares acquired between
January st and the date of the dividend payment, has heen transferred to the special resesve.

Provided that the proposal of the Board of Directors is approved by the Annual General
Meeting, the gross dividend will amount to CHF 2.70 per share, representing a net amount
of CHF 1.76 per share after payment of the Swiss withhalding tax of 35%. The last trading
day with entitlement to receive the dividend is April 24, 2020. The shares will be traded
ex-dividend as of April 27, 2020. The net dividend will be payable as frem April 29, 2020,

The Board of Directors

Cham and Vevey, February 12, 2020
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kPME
Statutory Aucitors Report

To the General Meeting of Nestié S.A., Cham & Vevey
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Nestlé S.A., which comprise the balance sheet as at

December 31, 2018, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the financial statements (pages 175 to 185) for the year ended December 31, 2019, comply with
Swiss law and the Company's Articles of Assaciation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss

law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethicat responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtaned is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority

Kay audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to
communicate in our report.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of Swiss law and the Company’s Articies of Association, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting uniess the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
cperations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstaterment, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influehce the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— [Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opirion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve ceflusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intermal centrol.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design’audit procedures that are
apprepriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting pelicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence gbtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, te modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up fo the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

We communicate with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee regarding, armong other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal contrel that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors or its relevant committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to cemmunicate with them all relaticnships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, refated safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors or its relevant committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report, unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse conseguences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communicatien.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 itern 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an
internal control system exists, which has heen designed for the preparation of financial statements according
to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the propased appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the
Company's Articles of Association. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG SA
Scott Cormack Lukas Marty
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge

Geneva, February 12, 2020
KPMG SA, Esplanade de Pent-Rouge 6, P.O. Box 1571, CH-1211 Geneva 26

KPMG SAis a subsidiery of KPMG Holding AG, which is a member of the KPMG network of independent firms affiliated with KPMSG International Cooperative {'KPMG Intemational™), a
Swiss legal entity. Al ights resetved.
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